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It has been said that the love of power is the most TEMPI‘E
fundamental of all human motives. Driven by an

insatiable desire to control his followers, Jim Jones pE“plE’s 'loHB

tormented, twisted, and taunted his “family” until
they submitted their wills, their bodies, their minds
and spirits to his brutal tyranny.

No novelist could conceive a more demented plot
or devise a story so gruesome and strange. Thisis the
grim and shocking account of Jonestown—and why
it happened. Here is Jim Jones from a new
perspective, with insights into how and why this
former choirboy and ordained minister has found his
place in history’s gallery of madmen. More
importantly, it is the story of a follower who
questioned—and found the truth.

Under the People’s Temple pavilion in Guyana
there is a fitting epitaph for the victims of Jim Jones’s
brand of religion. It says simply, “Those who do not
remember the past are condemned to repeat it.”
This book was written with that thought in mind—so
that the world would remember Jonestown and,
through greater understanding, never permit a
repetition of its atrocities.
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“There’s Going To
Be a Mass Suicide!”

On Saturday evening, November 18, 1978, my
wife and I were watching the NBC special “Heroes
of the Bible.” Suddenly the program was
interrupted. “We have an NBC news bulletin.
There is an unconfirmed report of a shooting
incident in Guyana, South America. The report
states that unknown persons fired on California
Congressman Leo Ryan and members of his party as
they attempted to board their aircraft at the Port
Kaituma Airstrip. It is believed that NBC reporter
Don Harris was killed. Congressman Ryan was
visiting Guyana to investigate a California religious
cult which had established a commune there. NBC
will keep you advised of any further developments in
the story.”
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I jumped from my chair and grabbed my head, “O
dear Jesus. O God, you've got to do something.
Now!”

My wife, Vicki, stayed glued to the television as if
another news report would come back on. “Calm
down,” she said. “Calm down.”

“My sister and my mother are down there,” 1
shouted back. “The suicide pact! Remember? The
suicide pact. I've got to get down there. Get my
clothes together.”

“Stop it! Stop it!” she screamed. The suicide pact.
It was all so preposterous. I had told her before but
to what extent she believed me I never knew. I
rushed into the bedroom throwing clothes madly
into a suitcase. “Where are you going?” she asked,
following me back to the door.

“To the Portland airport,” I snapped. “T've got to
get to South America before they kill themselves.”

“Wait! Phil, honey, please. Wait! Call someone
first.” Vicki pleaded with me and then to stall for
time she said, “Make a reservation. Maybe you
won't get on.”

We have an office in our home. I went in, sat
down, massaged my head and tried to think. Calm
down. Vicki’s first words seemed to just reach my
conscious level. All right, calm, calm, easy does it.
You have a pretty wild story. At best nobody will
believe you but if you sound too excited you'll
definitely get nowhere. Anyway, you can’t get to
South America in time to do anything.
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Vicki stared at me anxiously, “What are you going
to do?” ;

I looked back and smiled, “Relax, I'm okay now.
I'm going to call San Francisco.”

The Human Freedom Center in Berkeley,
California knew all about Jim Jones. It was made up
of Jones’s ex-cult members who lived with fear but
also a determination to expose the sordid affairs of the
People’s Temple. During my long, frightening, and
lonely investigation of Jones they had provided
priceless information. They had also been very
frustrating. Some suspected me of being a Jones
counter-agent. All of us ex-members carried a little
remnant of the paranoia Jones instilled in us. We
could not get rid of it. I finished my conversation
with Berkeley and then hung up.

“It’s true,” I told her. “They confirmed it. There
are several dead and wounded. Listen, Vicki, you
may not believe me but that suicide pact is real. I
was a part of that cult. It's real. Whatever he says
goes. There are going to be thousands of deaths.

I talked to information and then dialed the White
House. “Hello [stay calm, I told myself], there’s
been a shooting in Guyana.”

A young man spoke on the other end of the line,
“Yes, so what?”

“Well, this will be very hard to believe,” I said,
“but there is a cult involved in this and they have a
suicide pact. If anything on the outside threatens
this cult, they'll all kill themselves. There are going
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to be hundreds of dead bodies tomorrow morning.”

The young man at the White House broke into
laughter and then, click!

I hung up. Vicki stared at me, “What happened?”

“He laughed and hung up on me.”

Vicki looked at my untouched iced tea, then back
to me, "Well, it was pretty stupid, phoning the
White House.”

“Yeah,” I said. Then I dialed the White House
again. “Waitl Don’t hang up! Don’t hang up! Listen
tome,” I pleaded. “T'm the man you just talked to.
Listen, I've had correspondence with one of the
president’s aides on this cult. I've been pleading
with him to direct the justice department to
investigate them. They are involved interstate and
international. It's not out of their field. And one of
the presidential aides talked to me personally during
a trip out here in Oregon and he promised to show
the president the information. Look, I know this
sounds stupid, but this is for real. A lot of people will
be dead. Hello? Are you there?”

There was a long pause before the voice at the
White House spoke. “Look, I've got things to do, all
right?” Click!

I must have looked pitiful. I could see Vicki’s face
reflecting my own. I dialed the White House again.
“You don’t understand. There’s a madman over
there. I've been investigating him for years. Listen,
I'm a businessman in Portland, Oregon. I'm not an
idiot. I know you don’t just call up the president, but
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put yourself in my shoes. This is going to be a big
incident. There will be many ramifications—even
political ramifications. The president’s wife called
Jones up on the platform and shook his hand at a
mass rally in San Francisco. The president should be
informed, at least informed.”

“Okay,” the voice at the White House said. "Call
the state department.”

“But surely vou have an aide at the White House,
someone who could take the information and make a
decision about its importance. That's why I called.
There’s not much time. I can’t just start with a night
watchman at the state department and work my way
up. Please!”

“Call the state department:™

“What's the number? How do I reach them?”

“I don’t know.” Click!

For the third time the White House had hung up
on me. I dialed information and reached a night
clerk at state. “This is life and death,” I pleaded. “T
have inside information that might help.”

“There’s no one here to talk to you,” the man said.
“I can’t get anyone at this hour. Call the FBL.”

I hung up and then took a big drink of the iced tea.
For the first time since the news bulletin I let out a
big sigh and slumped back in my desk chair. I felt
exhausted. Vicki began to rub my shoulders and

neck. From the other room came cheers from the TV
set. David had just killed Goliath. Vicki began to cry
now. “I hate to see you this way,” she said.
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“Vicki,” T said, “my mother and my sister are
down there. I know what is going to happen. I have
to stop it.” I slumped on the desk and began
weeping. And then slowly I began to get more
strength. I felt anger.

Maybe Guyana is too far away, but someone else’s
mother and sister are in the People’s Temple in San
Francisco. God, I'll make a deal. I'll get the police
into San Francisco to some of those people if you'll
get someone else into Guyana and save my mother
and sister. Please God. I'll doanythingin my power.
An hour later I called the FBI.

“There’s a madman down there,” I explained. The
FBI listened patiently to my story.

“Are you sure there’s been a shooting in Guyana?”
the voice asked.

“Am I sure?” I shouted back incredulously. “You
mean you don’t even know that?”

“Let me check,” he said.

An Agent Rasher returned to the phone this time.

“And there’s going to be a mass suicide,” I
explained. “It will happen in Guyana and it will
happen in San Francisco.”

“What do you expect me to do?” Rasher asked.

“Get in there!” I shouted. “Break into the
People’s Temple in San Francisco. I can get you
affidavits for probable cause, I can show the
interstate connection. Get the FBI in and secure the
place, confiscate weapons and poisons. I know
where they stash the stuff.”

PEOPLE'S TEMPLE—FPEOPLE'S TOMB

“You know we're in a different time zone, " Rasher

aid.
Sﬂu“Yes!_IEhlt this is an emergency. You've got to get
someone into the temple.”

Rasher paused and then gave me a telephone
number. “This is Mr. Bushnell, Deputy Assistant
Secretary to Latin American Affairs. Give him a
call.”

I reached Bushnell immediately. “You know
about the Jim Jones cult and you know about the
shooting?”

“Yes,” Bushnell replied. “We've set up a
command center for Guyana.” There was some noise
in the background. “Just a minute Mr. Kerns, stand
by.” He returned to the phone moments !atelz;
“We've just got a confirmation. Leo Ryan is dead.

“Listen,” I said. “It’s not going to end there.
Congressman Ryan and the reporters who are dead
are only the beginning. Jones will kill them all. He
will convince them to die with him. There’s going to
be a mass suicide!”

My wife looked at me and cringed. I was not
arﬁc;ﬂating very well. I sounded crazy.

“Well, who is this Jim Jones?” Bushnell asked.

I paused—calm yourself, I thought, easy does i't.
“Jones is a preacher,” I said, “and a Socialist. Onlyin
the last few years he’s been more Socialist than
preacher. He's done a lot of good with drug addj,cts,
with the poor, with people in prison, but he’s a
demagogue. He has a messianic complex and he
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rules his followers like God.

“Listen, Mr. Bushnell, I was in the cult. Jenes has
gone crazy. They do anything he tells them. In a
public meeting he ordered a man to pull his pants
down and grab his ankles to show his rear to the
whole congregation. Then Jones said, ‘T had sex with
this man and he gave me a rash.” Mr. Bushnell, I'm
sorry this is so crude.”

My wife shot me a disapproving glance.

“Once his marriage committee decided to break
up a couple in love,” I explained. “He ordered the
girl to have sex with another man before an audience
of a thousand. The man’s crazy. I'm sorry to have to
be so crude but now I'm sure you can believe me that
if he says kill yourself, they will do it!”

“Calm down,” Vicki whispered. Once again she
began to rub my back and neck. “Calm down.” Mr.
Bushnell waited silently on the line.

“He had public beatings in the church,” 1
continued. “T was in the cult for years. I began to
question things and there were some mysterious
deaths. Finally a young man was killed. I know he
was murdered. He was a teenager and he was
carrying thousands of dollars. They tampered with
his medical charts. The mother wanted an
investigation but they blocked it.”

Mr. Bushnell was silent. I felt sick. I was not
convincing. I sounded scatterbrained. I was too
excited.

“You've got to believe me. I've been investigating
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this guy for years. Jones personally th1?eatened to l,dll
me. I've interviewed hundreds of people. I1ve
walked a thousand miles back and ft?rth across San
Francisco.” Then I remembered, “There was an
article in Newsweek. You could have researchers get
it for you and newspaper accounts in the San
ancis;co Examiner. He was referred to as a murder
suspect, and accused of jury tampering.

“Listen, Mr. Bushnell, these people have
practiced mass suicide. They rehearse it like a fire
drill over and over. If we act now we can save some
lives. Pleasel”

Mr. Bushnell spoke at last. He spoke very softly,
“This is really hard to believe.” :

I sighed from exhaustion. Laughter came from the
Johnny Carson show in the other room. I’t must be
really late in Washington, D.C. “Yes, it’s hal"‘d to
believe.” I looked at Vicki. She turned away. “Mr.
Bushnell, if I were in your shoes I wouldn’t believe
me either, but what are you going to do? I can get
you evidence. There are people like myself who will
sign affidavits. We can get probable cause th‘flf a
crime will be committed and they can break into
People’s Temple and save some lives.” :

Mr. Bushnell replied, “I didn’t know about th:Es
mass suicide thing. We know very little abou t“tl,us
whole affair.” Then suddenly he snapped, “T'm
sorry, L have an urgent call comingin.” He hun:g up.

I looked at Vicki. She had dozed briefly in the
other room. Now she stood propped up against the
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office doorway with another glass of iced tea for me.
"Did they know about the mass suicide?”

“No,” I admitted. “But Vicki, it’s true, honey.”

I called the state department back. Mr. Bushnell
came on the line. “I've notified the FBI and I gave
them your story.”

“Okay,” I answered. “Here’s what we've got to
do. We've got to get a warrant and break into Jones's
temple in San Francisco and save those people from
their leaders. Contact the California State Justice
Department. And we've got to get into Jonestown in
Guyana.”

Bushnell sounded only casually curious, “Why
not the San Francisco D.A.?”

“There are Jones peoplein the D.A.’s office. Jones
was under suspicion for tampering with the polls.
Look, he’s a power broker. He delivered twenty
thousand votes to Mayor Moscone and got
appointed head of the San Francisco Housing
Authority in return. He’s got people.”

I began to break down. Hold on, don’t break, I
coached myself. “When I was in San Francisco
trying to find my mother, I lived alone, hidden. I
went to the D.A.’s office with a big file of tapes and
correspondence and gave only them my telephone
number. When I got back Jones’s people were
calling, threatening me and warning that my mother
would be chopped to pieces. They had to have
gotten my number from the D.A.’s office.” That was
stupid I thought, I am sounding incoherent again.

10
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“Believe me. Call California State ]ustjce. The
people at the Human Freedom Cent,:er in Berkeley
can tell you about the D.A’s office. R

“Okay,” Bushnell said. “We'll contact California

ustice.”
St&llt]‘il]ng up, gulped down myiced tea and called the
California State Justice. There was no answer. Is my
mother dead? There had been no news bulletins. No

- news is good news. I can’t get into Guyana, God.

Please take care of my mother and sister. I will get
help into San Francisco. I dialed the San Francisco
police department. Officer Fourntey answered.

“Did you get a message from the state
department?”

“Yes, we did.”

“And what did you do with it?”

There was a pause. The officer may have been put
off by my directness. “We've given a copy to the
D.A. investigation office.” ik

I telephoned the D.A. investigation office. : .[,),ld
you get the message from Washington, D.C.?” I
asked.

“Yes.”

“Can you get it to the D.A.?”

“I'm sorry. He's at a birthday party.”

“Can’t you get his signature? That’s all we need.
We have probable cause.”

ENo:

“Do you know what you're doing?” 1 pleaded.
“There is going to be a mass suicide. Don’t you

11
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believe all this?”

“I'm sorry,” he answered.

“Please, we've got to get into People’s Temple,” I
said. There was no response. “All right, all right,” I
said. “You've been told. If there are dead bodies on
the ground your head’s gonna roll.”

I dialed the state department. “Where’s Mr.
Bushnell? I've got to talk to him.”

"My name’s Griffith,” a voice said. “Mr. Bushnell
is very busy.”

“Did he tell you about the suicide pact?”

“Yes, he did,” Griffith answered.

“Well, what are you doing?” I asked.

“We're trying to get the pilot and members of Mr.
Ryan’s team back,” Griffith said. “We're going in to
find the survivors of the shooting.” ;

“Tell Mr. Bushnell he did not get ahold of the
California State Justice like I told him,” I shouted
hoarsely. “Of all things he went to the San Francisco
D.A. I warned him about that. Jones has friends
there. It just slows it down. We're running out of
time! Please help!”

“T'm sorry,” Griffith said. “We are very busy.
Hang up and we'll call you back.” . .

I dialed the Human Freedom Center. “What's
going on? I'm trying to help. I've been in touch with
the state department.”

Jeannie answered the phone, “Phil, I don’t want
you to getinvolved. Stay out. You're in the way. Stay
in Oregon where you belong.” f

12
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“Jeannie, are there any news people involved?”
asked.

“Channel 7,” she said.

I dialed Channel 7 in San Francisco. They turned
me over to a Steve Davis. “Where’s the district
attorney?” I asked. “We've got to get the district
attorney to sign a document. We can get affidavits to
show probable cause that a crime will be committed.
We've got to break into the People’s Temple. There
are going to be some suicides and probably murder.
Where's the D.A.?”

“He’s at a birthday party,” Steve Davis said.

I paused, delighted by what I heard. It sounded to
me like Davis understood the situation. It was justa
hunch I had. There was a little bit of contempt or
eynicism toward the slow-moving bureaucracy in
the reporter’s voice.

“Can’t you use some kind of influence to get that
man to sign the document?” I asked. “We've got to
get into the temple.”

“You're talking about the suicide pact of course?”
Davis asked.

“Yes!” I shouted almost joyfully to find someone
who believed and understood. “Yes, the suicide
pact!” I turned to see my wife standing in the
doorway. She was staring at me in bewilderment and
confusion.

“It’s true,” she muttered.

“Vicki!” I shouted. “This man is a San Francisco
television reporter. He knows all about the suicide

13
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pact. You see, it’s true. I'm not crazy!”

“Hello? Sir?” Davis called to me over the phone.
“Sir, are you all right?”

“T'm all right,” I said. “You don’t know how all
right Tam. Listen, we've got to get police protection
for the Human Freedom Center.”

“Okay,” Davis said. “Let’s do this. Let’s go to the
chief of police. Just skip the D.A. Well get some
police in there.”

I hung up. “It’s true,” Vicki muttered again. I
smiled at her. My eyes were bloodshot, my face
showed my exhaustion.

“T'm not crazy,” I said. “Theyre going to kill
themselves.”

Vicki grabbed me and broke into sobs. Her tears
washed all over my face and hair. I sobbed and
embraced her. “You're not crazy,” she said, running
her fingers through my hair. “Ilove you. Yot aren’t
crazy. Will you forgive me for not believing you?”

My body shook as I wept. I nodded yes with my
head. I could hardly believe it myself. How could I
blame her for doubting me? A loud, fuzzy noise
roared from the TV in the other room, indicating
that the station was off the air. It was Sunday
morning in Washington, D.C.

I had talked to White House operators, state
department officials and local San Francisco
policemen. I had probably spent hundreds of dollars
on the telephone. I hadn’t slept in hours. And what
had I achieved? I had convinced my wife I was

14

PEOPLE'S TEMPLE—PEOPLE'S TOMB

telling the truth. I clung to her tightly. It was a
victory, but small solace in light of_ the grim
probability that thousands might soon die.

One thing was certain—within the next hours I
had to do better, much better. I had to be more
convincing. I had to reach the right people. Atany
time a message could come to San Franciscoand Los.
Angeles. Some prearranged signal perhaps, and
mothers would begin killing their children. Tough
cultist soldiers would slit the throats of those who
attempted escape. The strong would vo]ur.itar‘l‘ly
drink cyanide. Thousands of people could die. .O
God,” I prayed, “if my mother and sister are still
alive out there, somewhere in the jungle, py],ease
keep them safe for me. God, keep them safe!




“Tell the D.A.
the Party’s Over!”

It was very early Sunday morning but I had found
new strength. I wiped the tears from my eyes and
ordered my wife to bed. “I'm going to beat this
thing,” I said. “Don’t worry.”

I called the San Francisco FBI. “Are you aware of
what is going on in South America? Do you know
about the suicide pact and what could happenin San
Francisco?” '

“Yes,” they answered.

“Can you do anything?” I asked. “There are going
to be some murders too.”

“No,” came the answer. “There’s nothing we can
do. This is out of our jurisdiction. Only local
authorities can handle it.”

“And they won’tl” I said. “We can’t get the district

17
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attorney to sign a probable cause document. Can't
you fellows use some of your information to convince
the D.A.’s office that this is serious?”

“You've been watching too many movies,” he
answered. “The FBI doesn’t pressure local
authorities.”

I dialed the San Francisco police and found out
that Steve Davis of Channel 7 had also called. They
rattled off a bunch of things about murders and
suicides. “Yes,” I said, “I told you that hours ago.”

“Nobody told us anything,” he said.

“Oh, yes,” I answered angrily. “T told you I've
been trying to inform people all night long. No one
would listen to me. I guess a TV news celebrity has
more credibility than an average citizen. Well, what
are you doing?”

“Just relax, mister,” he spoke condescendingly.
“We've got a command post outside the People’s
Temple. You want us to go in. Then we'll have to
have a warrant. We're observing the thing from the
outside.”

“Outside?” I exclaimed. “Oh, great, that’s just
terrific. The only problem is they’re going to kill
themselves inside not outside! Get a warrant! Get in
there!” I hung up on him. It was stupid, I guess, but
it was a little revenge for all the people who had been
hanging up on me the last few hours.

I called the San Francisco D.A.’s office. They got
the affidavits from the Human Freedom Center but
the district attorney still wouldn’t issue probable

18
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“What's going on?” 1 screamed. “Are you just
£ it ha 5 Can’t you at least protect the
s e 1thf‘PPen‘ le the tion to leave?
children or give people { e .(:p“ e

hing to break down the structure, the ooniipl
AIE‘);tNhat can we do?” an aide asked me. These are
his exact words. “Where would we put ’f:jn all?
I slammed the receiver down. " Damnt :
Maybe the state department can heip: I ti'loug t.
Once more 1 was on the line to V\jas};},ngton.
“Iisten,” I said. “Can’t you do somethm‘g. 4
“We only handle international affairs,” they
exli};;‘:f dI countered, “but you have informfiﬁun
that could prevent crimes in San‘ Fra)?c.'w(t:;:‘
Couldn’t you just share the information with he
people out here? You could let them kn?w‘ t e
seriousness of the situation. You could exert some
influence. 1 mean, if they get a call from tl"l,e state
department theyre going to be impress_ed‘ .
“Just a minute,” I was :ﬁd and then I was given an
 number to call. :
en}‘:‘;%;’?fﬁ en\i’hite House again. I started to expla.m
and this time I was transferred to the state secuntg
office. “Hold on,” I was ordered. Then 1 “-.'as
transferred to a secret service agent in the White
House. I sensed I was getting close.
“We must get an executive order flj(}]fﬂ tl:}fe
president,” I said. “Please wake him up. This is a life

and death matter.” ol ‘
“Who gave you this number? he asked angrily.
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“Who is this?”
“Just tell him Phil Kerns, Portland, Oregon!™ I
shouted back with equal indignation.

“Who?”

“Phil Kerns! Phil Kerns!” I shouted. “Look, can’t
you wake the president?”

“Yes, I can,” he said. “But I won't. I'm a secret
service agent. I can’t make that decision.”

“Okay,” I calmed down. “Look, thisis a real crisis.
It is serious. Who can I talk to?”

“The staté department,” he answered. “The
justice department, the FBL.”

I hung up and called back the state department.
“This is Miss Cella,” a voice said. “I'm in charge
here, Mr. Kerns. You don’t run the state
department. Now, I'm busy and I don’t have much
time to talk.”

“Just a minute lady, pleasel” I was angry too.
What did I have to gain? This was no ego trip. All I
wanted to do was save some lives. “Can you or Mr.
Bushnell get ahold of the president and tell him he
should consider using an executive order. Some law
enforcement agency needs to secure the People’s
Templein San Francisco. There may be murder and
suicide on a mass scale.”

Miss Cella was firm. There was no sympathy in
her voice. “Nol”

“There’s no way to direct or encourage or plead
with the authorities in San Francisco to do
anything?” I asked.

PEOPLE'S TE MPLE—PEOPLE’S TOMB

«“That’s a local matter,” she replied. s

“But it relates, it relates to internati(mz}l. affairs,” I
insisted. “Guyana is involved, it is interstate,
international. The executive branch 1‘135 reason t.o
become involved. Don't you see, tbe San Francisco
police can't get inside the People’s Tt:—:’mple? They
are only outside. That means nothing. I f,e.ltla. new
wave of exhaustion hit me. I was afraid I'd faint. I
slumped on the desk holding the ph;one a\\f,k\x’ardl}s,
“Youre sure?” I asked Miss Cella. “There's no way
to get the president?” . , o

“No.” she answered sternly. “Tt can’t be done!

I hu;\g up and for a few minutes I was asl‘eep at‘m_y
desk. T awakened with a start. Staring me in the face
was the special secret service numhef' ‘the state
department had given me. I dialed the White Hous;
again. I argued. I pleaded, and I soon found myse
talking to the same voice I had reached before.

“Please, sir,” I said. “I know you are not supposed
to wake the president. I know you have rules. I know
it is very important to keep schedules an.q
procedures. But, sir, this is not Nazi Germany. T.h]s
is America where we are free individuals who think
and act intelligently. Sometimes we act on our own
initiative. Not always, just sometimes and that’s our
genius as a people. ¥ ‘

“Don’t hang up! Listen to me.” I explmnedl the
situation in Guyana and the danger in San ancm,co.
“Now. vou're never going to forget this call. You
have a choice. You may lose your job by getting the
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president of the United States to this telephone tg
make his decision or you may keep your job and
tomorrow morning there will be thousands of
murdered children and suicide victims you could
have saved!”

There was silence. “Please, sir.” I sensed I was
getting to him. “You can’t hide behind a rule, now.
You are not just a part of a machine. You are an
individual and you will have to answer for your
decision for the rest of your life.” Silence. “Sir? Sir?
Do you have children of your own? Do you have a
sister?”

There was silence. I had been effective. I knew it.
It was not what I said as much as the balance
between authority and sincerity my voice had
struck. This, perhaps the most important phone call
I could make, and perhaps the most difficult of all to
convince, had been my best performance.

“Sir?” the secret service agent’s voice was
uncertain. “I want to help. I really, really want to
help.” He hesitated. “But1I can’t just break the rules
like that.”

So close, I thought, so close. Why couldn’t I be
that convincing with the San Francisco police or the
district attorney? Someone who can act
immediately. Why should I be so effective when 1
am pursuing such a long shot. One cannot just
telephone the presidentl

“Boy, I feel sorry for you!” I said. “For once in
your life you have an excuse to forget some of that
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sav sople’s lives.”
Cré‘lp ?ndls"‘i:le :(‘;’;T:p“}’)l:ie voice was kind, but
har(?;u:ng. “ want to help b}lt this will gzt me i”nto a
lot of trouble. You just (10r3't und(ferstan1 ,_stlr. -
1 put the receiver down. Soc]ose——ar.l( y;:hso “m.l :
began to weep. Vicki was ax@ake agalrl:d ¢ e ;aid.
into the office and sat down. "1 a]mosE di , i . d I
with tears rolling down my cheeks. "1 was gooc .tn
almost got through. I'm on a hot ::;treak. I m Em[ni,m
the San Francisco [;olice a%fl;;fwl thin :
i ~m. Pray for me, Vicki!
COE:S C§0$;Tman ﬁ‘)om San Francis‘co tri‘eill 'to bt;
reassuring. “We are doing everything within ou
po‘\‘&l(i:f-ant to tell you something,” I said. .‘ ‘You tell th z
D.A.’s office that people are calh.ng up han.
complaining. If there are dea(.l b0d1'es in ! elllei
tomorrow there will be some mve.stlgatm?ls. :
organize petitions to every agenc'y and njewsptip elr. in
this country. If you guys blow this, you'll never live
; P
: dg’:‘i:lc) are you?” he shouted back angrily.
“My name is Phil Kerns.” e
% re just a citizen, huh:
?1};3:12?;211125119 I said. “We citizens are your
e " |
em[iifgl;rlqet me tell you something, Kerns,” he 531(1].
“If instead of throwing around threats you peolpE
would cooperate and assist us we could accomplis

twice as much!
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I laughed for sixty seconds. “Sir, I have been
trying all night to get someone into the People’s
Temple to save those people, whether they want to
be saved or not. I've been calling your office all
night.”

“Well, you never talked to me,” he said.

“Listen,” I said. “If you can get insideit’s all over.
I've been in this cult. They can’t operate with

outsiders around. Their little dream would break
down. Just get a person in there and everything will
be all right.”

“We can't get a warrant,” he said.

“And where is the district attorney?” I asked.

“I don’t know,” he answered. “There’s something
about a birthday party.”

“Birthday party,” T shouted. “Its six A.M. The
party’s over! For God’s sake, the party’s over!” I
began to sweat now. I wiped my forehead. “Officer,
I've got an idea. You said you want citizens who
cooperate. All right, let me tell you a very good way
to getin. Have someone contact Archie Ijames. He’s
the leader while Jones is gone. He’s kind of a nice
personality. Just talk calmly with him and tell him
some crazy people are on your back and that if he
wants you to you'll have a few officers walk through
the compound so we can tell these people we
checked it out. If he invites you in you won’t need a
warrant!”

“Just a minute,” the officer said. There were some
clicks on the telephone line. “All right. Give me this
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guy's name. Spell it very slowly and repeat what you

just said.

I finished the conversation and hung up. It .wa:
perplexing. Why did he have me repeat eve‘:ythmg.
Were they beginning to take me seriously?

There were some more phone calls for me to
make. The Human Freedom Center had no news.
Steve Davis of Channel 7 nelws was busy. Once more

San Francisco police.
; g‘f{i’glgotain!" he said. 1;Ie was exc{iteé.l now. T'h(.?
chief of police went to a Mr. Arcl.'ue ‘IJ;amcs anq a
couple of other leaders. Ijames said, (Jom?: on_?n}.1
We have nothing to hide.” They went in w1ft .
reporters and photographers. They were on alert 01?
poisons and “weapons. Everything is okay. KernsT
1

Thz‘t';lli‘inis you!” 1 fairly shouted it. “Thank you!
Thank God!”

“Just relax,” he said. “The place has been
secured.”

“They got in?” Vicki asked. =

I hung up. “They got in!” I said, smiling.

“Oh.” Vicki started to cry and then laugh at the
same time. “I'm so proud of you,” she sai‘(;lﬂ

I jumped up. “They got in!” I shouted. rlh{.:}i %};)‘r
inl” I hugged Vicki and did a little dance arounc ei
office. She and I were both laughing and crying anc
dancing. :

“\Ve%’re going to have a party,” she said. :

I looked at the clock. “T'll have eggs and toast, " I
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ordered.

“Yes, sir,” she smiled. “T may just fry every egg in
the refrigerator!”

Igrabbed her and gave her a bigkiss. “Ilove you!”

“And I love you,” she said, staring at me with
obvious pride.

Vicki returned within minutes. I sat down at my
desk and began to feast on breakfast. In between
bites I reached a Ms. Betty Kirincch who is
counselor of affairs at the state department.

“Bushnell can’t talk,” she said. “Theyre in a
meeting and theyre really going at it. It will be quite
awhile.”

“Well, please relate to Mr. Bushnell that the San
Francisco situation is better. Tell him I am very
relieved.”

Next, I reached Agent Rasher at the FBI. “Mr.
Rasher, San Francisco looks good. The police are
in. I know the psychology of these Jones people. San
Francisco will be okay. Can you tell me about
GuyanaP There are going to be some deaths in
Guyana.”

“Things are pretty heavy now,” Rasher said. “We
are doing everything we can. Guyanese soldiers are
going in. We have some United States agents going
in.

“You don’t need an army,” I said. “Just a few can
secure the place. Has anybody actually gotten into
Jonestown?”

“I can’t disclose that. Listen, Kerns, we
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appreciate your calls and your information. You ve
lped us.” He hung up. ‘ :
he“EI)JIoncv ” Vicki called. “Go to bed. You've been
up all night.” / _
p“Ome more call,” T answered back. I reached
Steve Davis of Channel 7. . : <
“We have areported suicide,” he explained. P?)ne
woman and three children are confirmed dead. They
were members of the cult working in Georgetown.
The woman slashed her children’s throats and then
her own.” ; L
“Dear Lord Jesus,” I cried. “I know there are
more.” ;
Vicki heard me and rushed to turn on the
television. I turned on a radio nearby. One hour
later a newsbreak came on. An unconfirm ed report
stated that the Guyanese Army had swept mtf()ithg
remote Jonestown jungle outpost. Hundreds of dea
bodies had been found. ; T
There was a horrible knot in my stomach. ’?1
like I had been stabbed. “O God, have mercy,
prayed. “Please, God. e
I reached Mr. Bushnell at the state delzartr?le.nt.
“It’s true, isn’t it? The news wouldn’t confirm it but
it’s true.” < .
“No.” Bushnell said. “It is not true, Mr. I\e'rns.
“Look,” I said angrily. “It’s my mother and sister.
I have a right to know. Don't lie to me. e
“We do know the Guyanese Army has gone in,
he said. “But we have no details. Now, were very
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busy here.” He again hung up.

Two hours later it was confirmed. Somewhere
between three and four hundred men, women, and
children had lined up for a cup of poison. An
eyewitness said parents had squirted it into the
mouths of their children and then drank it
themselves. There had been some gun play too.
Some had been shot, I reached the state
department. Mr. Griffith answered.

“Weare very, very sorry this happened,” he said.
“We are very grateful for your calls. Mr. Bushnell is
very grateful.”

“You know,” I paused. “You've been very slow.”

“Mr. Kerns,” he said. “This place has been a mass
of confusion. We've been flooded with calls.
Unfortunately, we have a lot of procedural rules.”

News items continued to pour in from Guyana.
The death toll was now over four hundred. Another
three hundred were believed to have escaped into
the jungles. Their survival was in doubt. It was a
very wild and remote jungle location. I reached my
father in Key West, Florida. He was grief-stricken.
We had no choice, we concluded. We had to get to
Guyana as quickly as possible. They might still be
alive.

Once more [ got the state department. “My father
and I have discussed it. We are going over. There
are snakes and piranhas in that jungle. The escaped
cult members might be frightened. We might be

able to get them out.”
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Miss Cella came on the line. Shhe‘ wfai
understandably angry. T was a pest, bu-t ctl .(.n ;n
1d save my mother or sister I didn’t min ‘L(.}mthg
i;fua little obnoxiously to complete strangers in the
state department. “Z\ilr; Bushnell is busy and you've
i rk!
lntgiiiﬁ? c(')al::lew:n the line, “It won't be possible

for you to go to Guyana. i
: “{can’t sithere,” Isaid. “My mother and sister are

5 - !l,,
down there. They are alive!! . o

“We have no names of the dead,” Bushnell said.
“Stand by.” . .

They connected me to a Commander Santa Mmlai
Was it a code name? A Guyanese official perhaps?
never knew. . .

“I'm in charge of military {ranspori, he bdl(']..

“Well, I want a military hop over,” I tolii l}l[l’).

“Can’t doit,” the commander explained. “We are

i serienced people on this.”
only using experienced peop :

“Hey, look,” I said. “T have my DDZ214. l'dm
highly trained. I will drag the ri\-'ers—anythlr‘l:g,
anything. I will submit to authority. I can help.

“I don’t think it’s possible,” he answered.

“Please! Please!” I urged.

The commander paused, “Tll check the PL‘lff‘t()
Rican shuttle.” He was back within secon_ds. lh‘c
next plane leaves in one hour. You can’t getin here in

ﬁme‘” S I
Bushnell took over. “Okay, Mr. Kerns. There sla
plane full of reporters going over. You can probably
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make that flight. You can go if you want.”

I thanked him, hung up and called Steve Davis,
Channel 7. “T'm going over to Guyana. Is there
anything I should know? Anything new?”

“Georgetown is cordoned off,” he said. “The
reporters are being confined to their hotels. Listen,
it looks bad. There may be more dead. You'll find out
more on your telephone than in a hotel room in
Georgetown.”

It was Sunday evening. Vicki fed me supper. “I'm
not going,” I announced. She hugged me.

“Please, get some rest,” she said.

“One more phone call,” I promised. Once more I
reached the state department’s command center.
“"Have they identified any bodies in Guyana?” I
asked. “Do you have any names yet?”

“Yes, I do.” It was Miss Cella, the tough one.

“Can you confirm the deaths of my mother and
sister?” I asked.

“Yes, I do have a confirmation on them,” Miss
Cella said. “Your mother’s name is Penney duPont;
your sister Karen has been identified-too.”

My heart began to beat like a bass drum. I glanced
to the wall of my office where a family picture hung.
It was mysteriously gone. “How do you know this?” I
asked.

“Survivors from the aftermath pointed out
bodies,” Miss Cella answered. “There was a locked

box with passports. We matched the pictures with
the bodies.”
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“My sister’s name is Carol.” I groped for a shred of
ho?;l.le was using the name Karen,” Miss Cella said.
Then she read a description of the b(,)’dy.

“Yes,” I muttered softly. “It’s her.

“Pm very sorry to report this,” Miss Cella said,.
“I'm sorry I've been so difficult and hard. I don't
expect you to understand.”

“Miss Cella,” I said, “my country was ver}f‘slow to
respond. You'll end up spending millions of do]liars
to clean this mess up and a few thousand dollars with
some immediate action could have prevented it. But
you're wrong. I understand. I do understand: What
could I expect from you all? Itis a pretty far-ietc}‘le'd
story. This is something you can't believe until it
happens. I just had to try. I had to make the effort.‘

I hung up, walked into the living room and laid
down on the couch. Vicki had been listening from
the other room. She came in, sat down next to me
and grabbed my hand. We wept together. :

The evening news came on. Larry Leyton’s face
appeared on the screen. I jumped from the cour,;h.
“It’s Larry! Vicki, remember him? Listen. They re
holding him for the murder of Congressman Ryan.

I sat back down, exhausted, angry, and
grief-stricken. “You've done all you can do,” Vicki
said. “It’s over. It's all over. Leave it.”

“That could be me,” I said watching the news
story on Leyton. I knew what I had to do. I had spent
years investigating Jones. The threat of terror and
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been more concerned about me, about it becoming
an obsession, about me becoming bitter. Now the
physical danger loomed before her. What she had
thought was my paranoia seemed very real to her.

“Honey, I'm going to have to tell my story. I will
not live in fear any longer. You're right. It’s over and
the story must be told.”

“They have millions stashed away,  she said.
“You've told me about it and now I believe you.
Even now they have hired killers to ‘get’ anyone who
talks.” She looked at me pleadingly.

“You know what Vicki?” I sat up. “If I had written
that book a long time ago this may not have
happened. Well, I'm not going to miss this time.”
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reprisal had seemed far-fetched to Vicki. She had] —

three

“Father Jim Loves You”

I first began to hear about the People’s Temple in
1967 when I was fifteen. My mother had written me
some pretty curious letters. It all sounded crazy. If 1
moved back to her and California she would
probably drag me off to her church. S-till,ﬂ I was
lonely for her. Growing up with divorceesisn’t easy.
I'had found myself shuttled back and forth between
two sets of parents.

The very first night I arrived my mother sta,rted
in, “Phil, I just want you to meet this man. He’s so
beautiful. He loves little children. He doesn't care if
they’re black or white or brown.” She laughed, “He
€ven loves the animals.”

This is positively weird, I thought. ,

“He even loves you!” she said. “He’s so kind. I've
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told him all about you.”

For a boy my age, this was pretty corny. I was
obviously uncomfortable. Even so, I was prepared,
From the letters, I had gotten the impression that
something like this would happen. I could handle it,
It was still good to be home.

"1 told everybody I was bringing my son to church?

this afternoon,” she said. She stood above me, hands
on hips, and a beaming smile.

“Church on Saturday afternoon?” I asked. She
nodded.

“Mom,” I shook my head. “T'm so tired. I just got
in.” I gave a little laugh, “Anyway, I'm just not the
church-going type. You know that?”

“Just come see for yourself,” she insisted.

My sister Carol was sitting next to me on the
couch. “Phil, she’s telling you the truth. Jim Jones is
so beautiful. We've never met a man like him
before.”

I smiled. Carol was so cute. She was a little
ten-year-old girl who sounded like an adult. She was
probably just parroting something she had heard my
mother say. It struck me funny—my mother
standing over me, little Carol pleading with me.

“Okay, okay,” I threw up my hands in surrender.
They cheered.

We drove to the People’s Temple in Redwood
Valley. The car pulled into a graveled driveway. It
looked like any other church except there was no
steeple.
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The church grounds were filled with people. I was
immediately struck by the fact that this congregation
was multiracial. Blacks, whites, and Chicanos mixed
freely, and everyone was talking. i

“Come on, Phil,” Carol jumped from the car. "I
have so many friends I want you to meet.”

It was an unnerving experience, certainly
different from the Catholic Mass I was used to.

Carol beamed proudly. Her older brother was
finally there. She was rushing around, dragging me
from one person to the next. I searched the faces,
everybody seemed so happy.

“And inside we have a swimming pool!” she said.

“A swimming pool?”

“Yes! Yes!” She ran on ahead. She’s a doll; I
thought. Beautiful blonde hair, blue eyes, slender
little ten-year-old frame. She was so happy.

There was a swimming pool all right. Children
splashed and played. Older women supervised and
comforted the kids. There seemed to be much love
and concern for each other. It was impossible to
separate one family from another. Nearby a band
was practicing to a large audience of empty chairs.
“Let’s take it from the top,” the director shouted and
off they went again.

Is this the church? I wondered. There was no
Separation or divider between the auditorium and
the swimming pool. In one other room was a long
table full of refreshments. Neat little cups of
Kool-Aid were lined up. An enormous black woman
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had taken charge. She was so big that the sigh
stunned me for a moment and I just watched as hey
enormous frame floated around. Then suddenly
behind her I saw a familiar face.

Ruth was another of my little sisters. She had
become a teenager only months before, but she
looked like an eighteen-year-old girl. She ran to me
and embraced me. “Phil, they brought you! They
brought you!l” she shouted.

I hadn’t seen her in a long time. I remembered
her as a little girl and the shock of seeing her as a
young woman left me rattled. Carol grabbed one of
my hands and Ruth the other. We walked around
the church grounds talking constantly.

“That’s father!” Carol shouted.

These words startled me since I had just left my
father in Key West, Florida. I looked across the
compound and saw a large pen with a zoo of barnyard
animals. Everything from a horse to chickens
wandered around the cage.

“See the man with the black hair?” Carol shouted.
“That’s father.”

I looked back at the man wandering among the
animalsin the pen. “And why do you call him that?”

"Oh, he loves us, Phil,” Ruth said. “He loves us
more than our own father.”

“Come on!” I was a little angry. “Your father
loves you two very much.”

Ruth laughed at my anger.
understand, Phil.”

“You don’t
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“Who is he?” I asked. .

“Jim Jones,” she said. “He’s our pastor.”

We walked over to the cage. Jones looked up and
smiled. He had jet-black hair, the blackest I 11.ad
ever seen. His face had an olive complexion, with
deep dark eyes. It was one of the most handsome
faces I had ever seen. :

Jones gently stroked the back of the horse and
then hugged the animal’s neck. He walked over to
the chickens and reached out and touched them.
They stood quietly, not even moving as he
approached. I said nothing, but it was clc-a:r that the
animals were very much relaxed around him—even
attracted by him. It was magical and strange.

He openéd the gate and the animals followed him
out. People crowded around, especially the
children. They touched him or stumbled along
pulling at his arms. He walked easily and smoothly
through this crowd.

“Where’s he going?” I asked.

“That’s where he lives,” Carol said, pointing to a
two-story house behind the church.

The horse and chickens plodded along with the
people, following the man with the jet-black hair. It
looked stupid and yet it was so remarkable, so
uncanny, something that only hap_pened on
Saturday morning cartoons. “See,” Carol said,
“even the animals love him.”

“Carol,” I said, I just don’t understand.”

“Oh, youwill,” Ruth promised. We picked up our
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' f
little cups of Kool-Aid and sat down outside. We |

talked for another fifteen minutes.

“Okay!” a man suddenly shouted. “Let’s 20
inside. Come on everybody!”

People were still laughing, shouting and talking,
When we got inside everyone headed for the rows of
chairs, but children were still in the swimming pool.
I laughed to myself and shook my head. It was
strange, very strange.

“Tve got to get out of here!” I said.

“No, Phil, please,” Carol said, grébbing me.

“T'm just going to the men’s room,” I lied. “I'll be
back. I'll be back.” :

She hesitated, then decided it would be better
psychology just to trust me. “Okay,” she smiled.

A tall black man stood with folded arms blocking
the exit. I angrily brushed past him. There was a
vineyard nearby and a farmhouse across the street. I

walked and walked, circling back into the parking
lot. I took one look at the old, old automobiles and
gave a laugh. They were junkers, falling apart.

Five people stared at me from the church
building. I stared back a little indignant at the
suspicion in their eyes. One of my mother’s friends,
a black woman, approached. “Aren’t you coming
in?” she asked sweetly. “Don’t you want to hear
Pastor JimP” :

“You mean father?” I asked with a small trace of
sarcasm. :

“Oh, Phil,” she said catching my tone of voice.

38

PEOPLE’S TEMPLE—PEOPLE’'S TOMB

s“you’ll understand. Once you get to know ]?im li}<e
we do, you'll understand.” She led me, back into t 1{3
auditorium. It was crowded now. Carol and hRL‘lt]
moved down a seat and I sat next to my mot E‘-l.‘

There was a roar of conversation. After ftive or six
minutes the back doors opened. A frail, white youdn%
man stepped in and stood by the doors. He ha la
strange look on his face. I would get to know _him
better in the months to come. He was Larry Leyton.
Eleven years later, allegedly at Jones’s command, he
would assassinate Congressman Leo Ryan. '

Jim Jones appeared at the door. He was weari ng
dark sunglasses. The band struck up. Il.e swept IE
wearing a long, black robe with a red Sl"lll"t benealt(
it. People stood to their feet. The audience bro 613
into singing, “We shall overcome, we shal
overcome, we shall overcome someday.

Every eye followed Jones to the stage. There was
an electricity, a magnetism. I remembered Jones
with the animals. It was all alarming, frightening and
yet wonderful!

The band broke into another number. It was
triumphant. Jones stood, the audienf:e cheered ar;l.d
applauded. Chills went down my spine. The mu:;lcT
stopped and we sat down. I wondered what‘I \i\»as
seeing. I've never been with people so excited. I
knew they were present for a purpose. o |

Jim Jones grabbed the microphone. His vmc; ,wss
deep and moving, “Isn’t this just wonderful?” he
said, “Just think, nowhere else in the world are there
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people like us. Here we are unashamed. Just ag
Martin Luther King dreamed. It's come true. Black,
white, yellow—unashamed!” _

He had power, there was no doubt about it. With
the first few words I already knew why these people
were here. I wanted more. My attention was fixed. I
couldn’t even take my eyes off of him.

“Bring the children!” he suddenly shouted. I

turned around nervous and confused. “Right now!”
he demanded urgently. “I want the children. They
need me,” he said. “They need my love. ‘Suffer the
little children to come unto me.’ Right now! I need
their love.” '
- A tall, black man stepped to the microphone,
Archie Tjames, the assistant pastor. “Mothers,” he
directed, “bring your children. Please bring them
right to the front.”

Mothers began to pull their children out of the
nearby swimming pool. They toweled them down
and then sent them scampering off to the front. We
had been at the church all afternoon. Some children
were sleeping. Mothers carried them to the front in
their arms.

Jim Jones held them. The children kissed him and
cuddled as near to him as they could. “This is why
we're here,” he shouted. “It’s for these children. It’s
all for them. We have to work, and work, and work,
and we have to stay together for these babies! So
they can have a world full of love. A world where
there is no hate! A world where there is social
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equality! A world \;Vith racial equality! A world with
ic equality!” ;
ecoTIll::en;lcdffnce cileered, “Yes, father! Yes, father!

A three-year-old black girl raced across thci s‘Fage
and jumped into his arms. Jones S.'r‘fllled. thtl,e
Tina's been trying so hard to learn th},s song. She’s
only three,” Jones said. “Only three. e |

He held the microphone to her. I didnt expect
much but it was beautiful. She could not have been
better if she had rehearsed for weeks and now,
looking back on it, I realize that she probably had.
There at the time it seemed so spontaneous and
beautiful. A three-year-old girl singing, “We shall
overcome.” And Jim Jones shouting with kind
emotion, “Our dream! Our dream! Our dream!

It moved me. Something’s happening here, I
thought. I looked around, trying toisolate a common
denominator. But there were children, there were
teenagers, middle-aged adults and peo?le SO ?ld ,I
thought they would die on the spot. Something’s
happening all right.

E{)egiven you f]l the children,” Jim Jones said
magn_ificently, as if he had created th(-:}"n or
Something. “Here they are. The childre'n! He
organized them into a group then put-hui arms
around them. “These are the social egalitarians of
tomorrow!” ,

“Egalitarians.” It was a word I didn’t understand,
but a word I would hear many times thereafter.

I have tried often to remember the sermon, or
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speech, or message, or whatever you would call it,
that Jones delivered that night. He spoke of the
American president and world affairs. Being fifteen
years old and naive about politics I did not keep up
with his talk, but I do remember the clichés. I would
hear them repeated a hundred, a thousand times
over.

He spoke about race and economics and nuclear
war. “'The world will destroy itself. It will happen,”
he warned. “Greed!” he shouted. And he began to
repeat the word until I thought he would never stop.
“Greed! Greed! Greed! Greed! Greed!” It sounded
ugly and terrible. I felt ashamed. “This imperialist
hunger for success is destroying us!” he preached.

“It’s a terrible thing,” Jones said, “when a black
man walks down a street with all those white eyes
staring him down. It's an unjust world! It’s an
unmerciful world!”

“Yes! Yes!” people would shout back. “Yes,
father!”

“I tell you there is mercy here in this room!” Jones
shouted joyously and with power. “There is justice
here in this room! There is love here in this room!”
And I knew he was telling the truth. I could just feel
the sincerity. There was love here.

“We will fight to the finish,” he promised. “Now,
we have a letter-writing campaign. This is the
month. This is the month. What's the matter with
some of you? Your flesh is weak. Our efforts can’t
die. Turn off those car radios, turn off those
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television sets. Get these letters to those

ressmen. ‘ , =
cogiren’t you tired of the pain? Arent you tired of

being stepped on? Then get off your Tziss. Then turn
off that television and do something! ‘

When Jones used slang or even profanity my
mother turned to see how I would react. Once s:he
smiled as if to say, “See, you though_t I was draggmg
you off to some fuddy-duddy olci;{ashifned thing.

i nes is relevant. He's not phony. ‘
Jm]l‘{)]n(:as looked to the left. The band Prok.e s.nto
music. Once more, “We shall overcome. This time
Jones held the microphone and sang it loudrl?*. Thgy"
repeated it over and over. People stood up. l'hc lady
in front of me started to cry. She was a big blfwk
woman. “Oh, Father Jim,” she cried. “Father Jim.
How we love you, Father Jim.”

The crowd was in a joyous frenzy now. Some were
clapping, some were jumping, some }vere.dancing.‘
My sisters and my mother mixed right in. I was
ashamed of them all and quite turned off. :

Jones himself was happy, jumping, and dancing. [
couldn’t believe it. That man is excited. Eventually
the band stopped. A bit breathless, everyone began
to wi W

W\;]}(llailod glorious day here in t’he Redwood
Valley,” Jones said. “You people don't km).w \‘vhat a
future you have in store for you. This is the
COrnersfone," he shouted. “This is the mmerst(m‘el
You and I here tonight. They’ll speak about us for
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years to come. These are historic days. This is the
beginning of real socialism, real equality! Aren’t yoy
glad? Isn’t it exciting to be a part of this?”

There were peaks and valleys throughout a Jim

Jones performance. The crowd would be worked _

into a frenzy and then slowly relax only to be brought

to their feet again with thundering applause and |

shouts. It left one exhausted.

“We have some new guests,” Jones announced.
He sat down in a chair and received a glass of water
from one of the workers. Archie Ijames took over.

“Betty is here,” Ijames announced in a calm.
broken English. “This woman was a drug addict.
Father Jim just touched her. Just one touch. She had
no withdrawal. Here she is today, never again
needing heroin. Never again needing the lie of the
needle.”

The woman wailed, “Oh, oh. He came to me. He
touched me. Oh, I can’t believe it. Oh, thank you,
Father Jim! Thank you, Jim.” Betty was crying. In
my youthful, fifteen-year-old mind it looked real.
She had no reason to put us on. Betty told her whole
story, how she was taken to the drug rehabilitation
center, how Jones appeared.

I was stunned. This is a miracle! He just touched
her. No withdrawal.

Archie encouraged her, “Won derful, wonderful.”
There were cheers, applause and shouts.

The band started playing again. “We shall
overcome.” That in itself was so corny, so obviously
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an attempt to work on our emotions thlat I felt
sulted but at the same time a tear was rolling down
: cheek. It was pretty hard not to believe Betty.
Sr,?e.believed it herself. She was so happy; the fear
and the shame was behind her. People jumped up
and embraced her, others reached out to touch.
Jim Jones sat in his chair smiling out to us. He
looked radiant. He reached his hand out toward
Be:lz:‘hie restored order. “Now, we have another
guesthere,” he said in broken English. T had to strain
to understand him. “We want you to meet Penney
duPonts son, Philip Kerns. Philip has been through’:a
lot of pain. He needs us. I give you Philip Kerns.

Mother started to the front. “Come on,” she said.

“No,” I protested. “No, mother. I don’t have
anything to say.”

T just want them to see you,” she urged.

Now there was applause in rhythm demanding my
appearance. Deciding it would be less embarrassing
to respond than rebel, I followed my mother to the
front.

“Oh, I'm so happy!” she grabbed the micropflone.
“T'm s0 happy. L have my son. He’s so ‘E:,ilented. She
Smiled proudly. “He plays the guitar.” I could h.ave
erawled under the stage but Jim Jones picked right
Up on it.

“Give him a guitar,” he ordered. “Play us a song,
Phil ~ 4

They applauded. “Yes, yes, play something.
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I thought I was in the twilight zone. “Ireally donif
have anything appropriate to play,” I mumbled, §

“Just play anything, Phil.” Jim Jones spoke gf
kindly. “Play us something you like,”

It's a strange thing. I had alwdys wanted
entertain with the guitar. For a fifteen-year-old kid$
I was pretty good, but there were never any
opportunities. I had only met these people that day
and there I was.

I played and they applauded. From my seat I ha
been looking at the back of their heads. now from the
front I saw their faces. They were all smiling the
same strange eerie smile.

Jim Jones stood, and laughed, and nodded. On
the way back to my seat an old man grabbed my hand
and squeezed it. He had sensed my fear, my
uncertainty.

Jones stood at the podium. The mood of the
audience suddenly shifted. Perhaps they had taken
their cue from Jones, some facial expression of

movement that I had missed while walking back to' h

my seat. He removed his sunglasses, laid them on
the podium, and dug his fingers into his eyes. There
was silence, absolute silence.

“Yes, yes,” Jones started to repeat. It was as if he
werein a trance. “I see something. Yes, yes, there it
is. It's becoming more clear now. I see a picture on4
wall. It's a painting. There is a bowl with fruit in it
There is a crucifix on the other wall.”

The whole thing sent chills down my spine.
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Moments later he began naming names. ‘Of course, I

% remember the exact names but it would go

mething like this.
ml‘n"I(?htg;e’gs a black woman crying,” Jones would say.
His face became contorted as if he were in pain too.
“She is hurting inside. I see an old toaster in the
kitchen. It is the old-fashioned kind that opens on
the sides. The woman is crying. There is a telegram.
It says, it says Alice Johnson has dieti! Is there
anyone here who knows Alice Johnson?

A black woman from the audience screamed out,
“Oh! Oh, God!”

“Oh, I'm sorry,” Jim says gently. “Apparently
Alice is going to depart from us.” Jones jumped off
the platform and raced to the black woman. People
gathered around her.

“Yes, Alice is going to depart from us,” he said.
“She was a good woman. A kind woman.” The old
black woman just sat there nodding her head at
everything Jones said. Tears were streaming down
er face. '

“All right everybody. Let’s gather around,” Jones
Ordered. “Let’s cry out to this woman, let’s reach out
©her.” They crowded around her. Some stretched
their hands toward her like they do at revival
Meetings,

Jones silenced the commotion. “I want you to
know som ething,” he said. “Everything’s going to be
allright!” He looked at the black woman. “T want you
10 know that I love you. I've always loved you.”
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“Yes, Jim,” she nodded, still crying.

He returned to his trance. “Buckley, I keep|
getting the name Buckley. Your name’s Buckley?”]

“Yes, yes Jim,” she was nodding her head
violently as Jones narrowed in on the situation.

“And who is Alice?” he asked. “A friend?”

“Yes,” she exploded into sobs. She sounded like s
little child.

“Did you know that Alice was going to die?” he
asks.

“No, Jim. Oh, no, Jim.”

"I won't let it happen!” Jones shouted, his voice
vibrating in the rafters. Nearby a little child with a
blanket awakened and sat up on the floor. “She won't
die. I give Alice back her life! I won’t let it happen!”

The Buckley woman was hysterical. She began
kicking the floor violently and screamed out, “Oh,
Jim, Father Jim! Thank you, Father Jim!” The
audience shouted. Buckley was on her feet hu gging
and kissing all over Jim. He stood calmly in the
storm of voices and people.

I was scared stiff. I was shocked. My eyes riveted
to him. This man could really see things. It was real.
Something was happening here. My body broke out
in a sweat. I was afraid. I wanted to run, yet I was
curious. I wanted to stay.

“Mrs. Buckley, dear,” Jones said. “I want you to
know, 1 love you.”

“Yes, Jim. Yes, Jim.”

“T want you to know that I know about the pain in
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your back. I know how hard it has been on you. And
Mrs. Buckley, I'm going to heal you now. Right
now!”

Buckley screamed and wailed and threw her
hands in apparent joy.

“All it takes is faith,” Jones coached. He walked
~ome

She followed him down the aisle with a little
entourage of her friends in tow. I was in awe, total
awe. My mouth was opened. I was staring,

“Just believe!” Jones shouted. The woman was
sobbing, walking slowly to him. Suddenly, Jones
leaped back to her. His eyes were so sad and tearful.
He was moved. He grabbed her hand and pulled her
to his bosom. “Don’t cry!” he begged. “It’s okay. It’s
okay. Alice has been saved. She will live. You need
to be healed, Mrs. Buckley.”

“Yes, Jim, yes, Father Jim!” She fell on her knees
before him. “O father, O father.”

“Stand back up! You don’t need to kneel before
mel” Jones said humbly. “Now turn around,” He
Poked her up and down her back and then sides. She
SCreamed.

Jones shouted. “Feel that?”

“Yes, Jim!”

“Bend over,” Jones commanded. She reached out
10 touch her toes. Jones moved all around her, his
Tobe flapping like a giant eagle’s wings. “This time,
80 pain,” he shouted. “I will touch you. The power
of the spirit, the spirit will heal you.”
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“Yes, Jim! Yes, Jim!” she wailed.

“You have to have faith!” t

fexy 3 5 3 i |
Yes, Jim! Yes, Jim!

“When I touch you no more pain! No more paipf}
he screamed. Then he slapped her on the side.

“Thank you! Thank you, Father Jim!”
shouted.

“No pain,” Jones said.

“No pain,” she responded.

“Bend over,” he ordered. “Wave your hands!”

Buckley bent over and stood up and waved hel
hands and started jumping up and down. Jim joined
her. They held hands and jumped. She had tears al
over her face. “No pain! No pain! No pain!” she
shouted.

The audience went berserk. Everyone started
shouting and jumping. Jim moved calmly back to the
stage. The crowd moved in to crush him, pawing al
over him. The band broke into music. Jones retires
to his seat on the stage. A worker slipped him
another glass of water. The crowd receded. Thert
was a five-minute pause as we all caught our breath

A tall, muscular, black man walked center stage
He must have been participating too because he wa
breathless. “We have so much to be thankful for,” he
said. “I'm glad we have people like Jim Jones who
can speak the truth. I'm so glad we've got a man whd
is not afraid. A man who can speak to anyone. A mas
who can make the president listen! A man who ca?
make the kings bow!” There were cheers.

i
shl
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“F'm proud to be here!” 'ne shouted. “I"vm glad to
pe a part of this movement. I'm going to sing a song
I've written for you.” __

It was a song from the heart. I can’t l'emgm})er the
lyrics but they expressed the pain of prejudice 'd.l'ld
injustice and the dream of equa]ﬁy. It was a moving
melody. People were crying. 1 wondered, what
would compel this man to write such a 1b-e,z-lutuful
song? This man is sincere, I thought. When he
finished, there was a standing ovation. The chairs
squeaked on the floor as everyone stood. People
were insane with joy. I found myself clapping and
shouting. I didn’t even understand all of the lyrics,
but I felt moved by something deep within me.

The black singer broke into sobs and went over to
Jim. They embraced. Jim cried too. It struck me, the
black man looked big enough to have broken Jim
Jones in two but he seemed like a little boy, like
putty in Jones’s arms.

Then something happened which in that context
seéemed absurd. I've often thought of that first
Meeting. After a’ thousand hours of Jim Jones the
Moments melt together and are hard to isolate and
identify. But that first meeting has remained clear.
While the audience was still choking on their tears
from the black man’s song, Archie Ijames stepped
awkwardly to the microphone. “Jack Beam is going
to read the list of those who have had birthdays this
month, ” he said. And with Jim Jones still holding the

ig black singer, another man grabbed the
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microphone.

Jack Beam was a portly, slightly bald white may§
and one of the most powerful leaders of the People’;E
Temple. “Are you glad to be here?” Beam shouted}
like he was leading a pep rally. 1

“Yes!!” the audience velled back, some stillf
wiping the tears that came during the song.

“Well, I am too,” Beam said. “T want you to know
I'm proud. Are you proud to be a part of this grea
socialist movement?”

“Yes!” they responded, enthusiastically.

“Are we united?”

“Yes!”

“Now, I'm going to read a list of those people who
have birthdays this month,” Beam said. “Hold your
applause until I've read them all. We don't believe
in someone off alone celebrating his birthday."
Beam read the names, people walked forward, the
band played Happy Birthday and I sat back once
again trying to figure out what kind of church this
was. Meanwhile Archie Ijames returned to the
stage.

“Okay, we want you to know we've got a lot d
work to do,” Ijames said. “We've got these kids it
Santa Rosa College. We need doctors and nurses fot
our medical missionary operation, and we need help
in our drug rehabilitation program. We need money
for the stamps,” he said.

Ah, the offering, I thought.

“We've got a lot of mail,” he said. “We're sending
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out letters to congressmen. We have friends, we
have mayors and legislators out there, but they need
Bur letters. They believe in the socialistic dream,
They believe in us. They are on the front lines.”

Now the people started cheering Ijames. He had
none of the charisma of Jones and none of the
macho-enthusiasm of Beam. It seemed as if anybody
could have excited the crowd. “We're going to doit!”
they shouted back.

Archie Tjames nodded in the direction of Jones.
You don’t know our father. You don't know how
hard he works. He tries so hard.” Ijames choked up
tearfully. “He gets three hours of sleep some nights.
He's on the phone all the time. He’s contacting
people in all areas of government. He's trying to
help. He's trying to help.” ljames broke down for a
few seconds. _

"'He helps the poor,” Ijames said. “He helps the
Sick. He raises the dead!”

Raises the dead? I thought. Yet, I remembered
the old Buckley woman. There seemed to be no
doubt, Jones could see through walls.

“You aren’t just giving,” Archie said. “You are a
Part of this dynamic movement of truth. As the
Plates are passed back and forth we will sing that
SOng once more.”

It was “We Shall Overcome™ and as they sang Jim
Jones sat quietly with his head bowed in humility.
Now I understood! Now, my mother’s letters made
$énse. Now, I understood my little sisters.
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By the time the service ended it was elevepl

o'clock at night. We had been at.the Peoples

Temple all afternoon and evening. We piled into ay}

old, beat-up 1962 Falcon and drove out of the!;
Redwood Valley.
“What do you think, Phil?” mother asked.

“Well, I've never seen anything like it,” i
admitted. _

“Tell me how you feel,” she insisted. I just
shrugged, keeping all my feelings to myself,

“Honey, we're very busy here,” she explained.
“"We've got another service tomorrow. Jim Jones i
going to speak again.” '

Oh, no, I thought. The service had been six hours!
Think of it. Six hours! At the same time I was
curious,

We arrived at my mother’s little home and she
herded all of us into the kitchen. We raided the
refrigerator. Mom sat writing her own mother 2
letter. Suddenly she broke into tears, throwing her
letter into the trash.

“What's wrong, mom?” I asked.

“T'vebeen hurt all of my life,” she said. “Men have
stomped on me and abused me. I've worked so hard
just to support you kids.” She sobbed, “I feel like
I've really let you down, Philip.”

My mother was a beautiful woman. Her face was
gentle and her personality was vibrant, I pulled her
letter out of the trash and though it was written to my
grandmother, not me, my mother did not protest as
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[ read it. . i

She had written about Jim Jones, p leading t(‘n' her
mother to understand. “Hetills an empty spotin my
jife,” she had written. “T really feel like he’s going to
help my son. Please, mother, try t}} tmdm'sta;zd.‘ Jim
Jones is such a wonderful man. I'm so thankful my

23

son’s here. _ i
I looked up at my mother. “Hey, 1 understqnd
“Oh. you do?” she said and she hugged me tightly.

We cried on each other’s shoulders. She told me she

Joved me. I felt so good. I had been away from her

too long. e
My sisters gathered around to calm her. "D:oﬂt

ey, mama. It's going to be okay. Jim Jones won t'let

anything happen to us.” We all comforted her.

She stopped her sniffling. “I don’t want to feed
you all beans,” she said. “T just want to take care of
you.”

I was tired, very tired. Yet, when we finally got to
bed I lay restless. I was troubled. Maybe these fears
are unrealistic, I finally concluded. Jones was a man
who loved people. He was a man who cared about
justice. He was a man who talked about faith and
hope. It was all exhausting and quite bizarre buta lot
of good could come out of it. Certainly there could
be no harm.




four

Jim Jones, False “Profit”

It was decided that I needed a male example, so 1
was farmed out to the Archie Ijames household.
They were a black family who took me in like an
adopted son. We went everywhere together.
Sometimes it meant hauling lumber, sometimes it
was concrete work. Archie seemed to be a sincere
and kind man.

I was not especially committed to the Jones
family. I thought of it as a femporary affair. It would
pass. My mother would get another kind of job
and our lives would turn to a different routine.
However, events proved otherwise.

Attending the local high school was a traumatic
experience. People started to talk about me arriving
at the school each morning with Papa Ijames’s black
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daughters. Soon I was being shoved up against my §

locker with angry shouts of “nigger loverl” |

If anything drove me into the Jones family it wag H
that kind of harassment. I found myself defending |
blacks. I was articulate. Memorized paragraphs from
Jones’s sermons gushed forth from me. astonishing
teachers and confusing my classmate tormentors, |
“You're ignorant,” I would shout back. “You don’t
even know what you're talking about.” In most cases
they didn’t even know the names of the
congressmen, let alone the issues, -

One night Archie Ijames stayed up until early §
morning telling me stories of persecution and
prejudice. He was willing to forgive the white man. I
went to my bed and cried.

Lil, a young teenage, black girl, became my |
closest friend. It was puppy love, I suppose, but |
Mama Tjames, Archie’s big, fearsome wife, thought
it was cute and she encouraged me.

At church, I found myself clapping and shouting
with the others. The miracles began to increase.
Instead of two or three a night, there were hours and |
hours of them. Blind people could suddenly see,
cancers were pulled out of people’s throats, cripples
walked out of their wheelchairs.

Jones’s prescient abilities increased. He saw
automobile accidents before they happened. Once a
home burned to the ground. Jones had prophesied it
days before. It was only much later that I realized
that all these miracles were not genuine,
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“] want you to know you are hearing the truth,”
Jones would shout. “The whole truth. Nowhere else
can you hear the whole truth. No one else will tell

”

you. = A A -+

I believed it. Others were saying he was God. As
garly as 1963, Archie Ijames had told Bonnie
Thielman, one of the Jones household, “The only
god I believe in is Jim Jones.’ : |

The transfers of property and the financial
exploitation of members had already begun, As a
teenager 1 was not much interested in “power of

-attorney” or “transfer of title” documents. All 1

remember was the shifting people.

When old people joined the family several
couples would be assigned to live with them and
“help take care of the work.” The extra homes were
evidently sold. We had at least five elderly people
living with us in the Archie Ijames household. Did
they have homes which the People’s Temple took
Over or were they just abandoned old people?

Even when I began to hear tales of the
exploitation of people, I did not become
disillusioned. What better cause existed? In the
afternoons Jones would telephone Archie Ijames.
They often talked about money. When there was
eXeiiement or joy, I was pleased too. On one such
Occasion Ijames hung up, turned around and saw me
listening. He gave me a stern look, I washurt. Iwasa
Member of the cause. They could trust me. My
Mother lived in a shack giving 25 percent of her
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income. We all believed. They had nothing to fear,
Jones was dad; we were just his kids.

If at that time there were no fears within the |
family, there were certainly fears without. Jones'’s §
preoccupation with the nuclear threat became §
hysterical. We studied maps, locating spots that §
would be safe when the holocaust came. Jones §
ranted and raved from the stage but his logic was
good. It was not only good; it was convincing.

Then there was our own United States
government, Everyone was talking about the §
courage of Jones. How could he expose such §
corruption and get away with it? Everyone feared a |
Jones assassination plot. Rumors circulated that
several attempts on his life had been made but that
his prescient gift had protected him. He was our |
superman, our messiah, battling the generals and |
armies of the whole nation.

- Churches in the area were hostile toward us.
Jones’s reaction was ruthless. Once he marched into
the sanctuary of another church. Interrupting the
service, Jones pointed to the pastor on the platform.
“You molested one of our girls and you claim to be a
man of God!” The probably innocent pastor looked
stunned and guilty.

My mother was told to witness against a Rev. Ross
Case. Case was a Disciples of Christ minister and an
old Indianapolis friend of Jones. He had preceded
him to California. Mother was supposed to implicate
Case in some kind of homosexual affair, It was all
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false. I didn’t hear about it until later but it came as
no surprise. The cause was the most i{r}portant
thing. Over and over Jones told us, “The end
justifies the means.” ; :

Did not Sir Winston Churchill say that in
wartime, “Truth is so precious that she should
always be attended by a bodyguard of lies”? Well,
we were at “war.”

I'll never forget one particularly dramatic
evening. Jones stopped in the middle of his sermon
and fell into a trance. “The FBI is coming,” he
announced. “I see them coming. They don’t believe
in us. They will do anything to destroy us.. He
moaned and acted crazy.

A few of the more skeptical members said Jones

" was not well rested. The fanatics were not shaken,

however. “Jones sees through walls,” they said
confidently. “If Jones saw something, it has to be
reall” ;

The next night Jones began his moanings again.
This time a shotgun exploded outside. “Hit the
floor!” a security guard shouted. The big audience
was under the chairs immediately. There were
moans and cries of anguish. :

“Hush!” Jones commented calmly. “Quiet. I can
see them outside. Our own security men are chasing
them through the parking lot.” The audience calmed
down, listening to Jones's running commentary.
“They're escaping in a car. It looks like a blue
Mercury. It’s an old car. Everything is okay! Stay
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calm!”

Moments later, Larry Leyton came running in
with a shotgun in his hand. “We ran them offl”

“We don’t know who it was,” another security
man shouted. “They were driving an old, blue
Mercury.”

There were gasps from the audience.

"Hush!” Jonés ordered and we were kept on the

loor a short time more.

Was it a plot to assassinate Jim Jones? Most of us
felt it was. We reasoned that the U.S. government
feared he would become a world leader.

Only days later we were struck again. This time
they were closer.”Their guns blew out a window of
the church!

One night I overheard a Jones telephone call.
Archie had a habit of repeating everything Jones
said. It was as if he were checking his orders to make
sure. It had the effect of allowing an eavesdropper to
hear both ends of the conversation.

Jones was talking about the government and how
it could freeze bank accounts and about the growing
threat from the courts. It was necessary to have
money available in cash. Large, large sums of
money—international currencies and gold. I
crouched near the doorway, listening carefully.
They needed some hideouts—several different
hideouts. They were to be stockpiled with cash.

Weeks later we began to hear startling news from
the pulpit. We were told we had a cave—a refuge for
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when the nuclear holocaust would come. Our cave
twas stockpiled with food and money. We planned to
inherit this country. The rest of the world would
perish. We would be the survivors! “Thank you,
Jim. Thank you, Father Jim!” we shouted. 1
remembered the telephone call and 1 wondered.
My disillusionment—or awakening—began with
the construction of a pulpit. Jim Jones used only a

“podium. It was decided that he should have a pulpit.

Archie Tjames ordered me to work. 1 was happy,
even thrilled at the opportunity. Just imagine—I
was going to high school, and volunteering many
hours a day for the People’s Temple. There was not
much time for this project. &

“I'm taking wood shop at school,” I said. “I can do
it!”

Archie bought the finest hardwood and plywood.
There was a table saw behind his house. We worked
painfully and skillfully.

Jones wanted it in a hurry. It took us only a week.

The last days of our work were frantic. Jones
needed the pulpit for a special service in San
Francisco. ) :

“Oh?” I asked. “Will this be the San Francisco
pulpit?” ;

“Jim wants this one in Ukiah and San Francisco
both,” Tjames said. 3 :

“But I don’t understand,” I said. “Why can’t he
use a different pulpit in each temple?

“No,” Ijames was adamant. “We have to have the
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same pulpit both places.”

We had finished and it was beautiful. I stood
admiring our creation when Archie suddenly
returned with a small wooden frame. It wasa b order
which wrapped around the top, approximately five
inches high. T had never seen anything like it. It
destroyed the looks of the pulpit and was entirely
unnecessary.

“Jim isn’t going to want that,” T said. It looks
awful!” :

“Yes, Phil,” Ijames replied. “Jim wants it this
way.” :

“But that's so high.” I motioned with my hands,
“Won't he want it down here? It is so awkward.”

“This is the way he wants it! This is the way he
wants it! All right?” Ijames seemed a little perturbed
at me, g

I didn’t care. I was so proud of my work. We
hauled it into the church and everyone patted us on
the back. “Good job! It's about time Jim had a
pulpit.”

The disillusionment came slowly, like some
creeping thought that slipped back even after I had
chased it away. Jones was alwa Vs getting notes, little
messages passed to him during the services. There
were plausible reasons. Business had to be carried
on and when the meetings lasted six hours, business
sometimes had to be conducted right on stage.
Maybe someone left their automobile lights on?
Maybe the PA system was too loud? But did the
notes have anything to do with Jones’s prescient gift?
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Were they slipping him information? D.id t}h‘el
Bve-inch border keep our prying eyes away from his
501;;}1; was a terrifying i.hf)i_zg}a:{——what if 1 was{
wrong? It was a thought that (:f}u}‘ai E‘m dangerous. ]I}
]Ones- could actually read your nnnﬁ,it"h'en ?he CO}? (i
see your doubts. I had not yet crossed him :‘;utI :;:!(
érin;:ed at the holy wrath he could unload ozz ().;the].g_i
As of yet there were no beatin_g:gs at .ihe '}:‘%ww—{;
Valley People’s Temple. I‘i’\ San F ’I‘au;‘czsa;:‘) ‘-’.i‘if}}f e
just beginning, but long beff)r{s he beatings, ];fm,tf
had possessed an iritim_ida't'a‘_n‘g power ;ﬂ%atfcf 1}5
victims shaking. We had seen hi}n point his finger 11t
strangers who would promptly fall over, apparently
dead. S

My doubts caused me great anxiety and guilt.
What difference would it make if there 1‘:&-‘33
professionalism in Jim J(m{:ﬁ’a stage per.‘sor.}amt}-.‘
What difference would it make if some of hlf acts
were phony? “The end justifies the means.” The
cause was everything. ’

To say we all worked hard would be an
understatement. When Jones Sgoke. in San
Francisco we all rode the buses in from Uk{iah. I
spent hours walking the streets, passing out l]:\-"f:’rf‘.'-.
“Go see Jim Jones. He is a wonderful man, 2
wonderful healer. He doesn’t just talk about
equality, he is doing somcthing."’ i -} iz

The long hours and tight dlSC]plll'l(-_?. lf::{\ 7.(
exhausted. I was angry too. I suddenly realized I had
no friends or contacts outside the family. There was
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no money, no allowance, no privacy. Such idealisy
in a teenager was too demanding. I was rebellious
and since the family was my authority, that's where |
directed my anger.

I often passed through the rooms of the elderly
people who lived with us. One day I spotted some
money on a dresser and scooped it up. I heard the
floor squeak under the weight of big Mama Tjames, I
turned in fear but she walked by casually. If she had
seen me she would have said something. The old
woman sleeping in the bed was senile. She wouldn’t
even remember her money when she awakened., It
was only a few dollars but it promised me some
freedom. The next school day I will not return home
immediately, I thought. I will pause for a while in
some of the Ukiah stores. I will not stay long enough
to arouse suspicion—ijust a few moments.

That Saturday afternoon, we arrived at the
temple. I was walking cheerfully across the gravel
parking lot when Jim Jones appeared. He startled
me. I felt a little guilty because of the money in my
pocket, but even beyond that, I was in awe of Jones.
I avoided him.

“Phil, there’s something I want to tell you.” He
spoke kindly. “I saw you take that money off the
dresser. I saw you. Put it back! I want to forgive
you.” He walked off.

I couldn’t believe it had happened. 1 broke into
tears. Archie Ijames walked up behind me. “He told
me, Phil.” Archie spoke softly. “It'll be all right. Jim
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loves you. Just put it back.” That night I lay in bed

Shaking. This had been no note hidden on a pulpit.

Jim Jones could see through wal.ls. I tl.mughtj :

For several days I hid in the big audience, tr}-n.ig
fo remain as inconspicuous as p()ssil‘)le. E‘ven a ]00}1:
from Jones set me on edge. My little sister Rut
noticed my apprehension. One day we had a 1(?_“}%’
eonversation. We talked about the Jones family,
about the beautiful children.

“He can see through walls,” I told her.

“I'm beginning to doubt,” Ruth said. S}.le sat‘up
excitedly. I could tell she was giving me information
which she had longed to share with someone she
could trust. “T saw the nurses vﬁtl} a phony cancer.
They were carrying it around before \‘hc service.”

“What?” T was stunned. “I don’t believe it. P@th,
don’t be a traitor. He could be listening to us right
no}yb./lavbe you're right,” she said. She looked
frightf;ned'——m)t by Jim Jones's suppns'cd
omniscience as much as the possibility of me turning
her in. She sat nervously wringing hEr hands.
“Maybe I didn’t see what I thought I saw. She gave
me a worried glance and then added, "One (':[" the
girls in the office overheard Mama Ijames talking to
Jim on the phone. She told Jim you had taken some
money off a dresser.” She eyed me hard. §he
Suspeétcd Jim had scared me with the ir}{.ormat10n.

Was Ruth telling the truth? Mama Ijames had
been nearby when I stole the money. Coincidental?
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Maybe my pulpit t :
P N .‘1} ‘iJu.plt theory was rlght. Maybe they d
?;_ :_-u!_]’ml information. Maybe we all had been dur 10
Vi i aybe we all h: 2en duped,
*t? be we \-\E.z e all the fools of Jim Jones and !'h;- ten
or twenty in his inner cir “What’ : e
nty s inner circle. “What's this about 1
S at s this about the
‘R? 1 e B i 1 : g
Ruth shrugged, still a litte fearful, wondering i1
were only baiting her. ' S

“Tve got to know!” I said anevile “W
o got to know! I said angrily. “What about
1ese healings? Are they fake?P” 3
e Il she paused. “I just said T saw a piece of
. cat \-n.dppcd up in a towel. One of the nurses had
it, carrying it around befor i ) 8
h elore service itink
e ervice. She putitin her
“And you think this is all £
And ink this is all fake?” I asked. “F
o I fake?” I asked. “Please,
. es. ?]11(_ was suddenly fearless. “Yes, they are
ake—and the gunsh it
g ot through the wi '
e 1gh the window. It was
"Don’ ont!” I
i _11 t,ldon t 1 put my hands to my ears. I
vanted to hear whe o ‘ : 5
vanted to hear what she had to say, but if Jim Jones
m(; watching I didn’t want him to think I believed it
Ao I e R elievedit.
e fd lays later Jim Jones’s wife called. She was
v 11 T i 'S i ¥ - o
‘(_\in.xng oy to pick me up. Why? I could not imagine
Ao ored S T L : -
e were in the middle of one of our letter-writing
e e 5 - =) T -
rclunpcugns. Marceline was a quiet, humble womar ’
S 16 W % i 2 4 2 Y W X.
; 1 w EH beautiful, with a charming smile. Ruth and I
;}a.(_l Eo ten talked about her compassion for the
ch 11 ¢ voti . : ..
ildren and her devotion to her husband. Did she
really know what was going ond ‘.
l 1”_ A B BE gy & -
an to the car. “Get in, Phil. Go with me
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Howntown. We have to go to Tim Stoen’s house.”

I jumped in the car. “What's going on?”

“J¢’s Jeanette, your sister,” Marcie smiled, happy
to be able to scoop me on the news.” She has come in
fom Florida.” I was anxious to see Jeanette and to
tell her all about Jim Jones.

Tim Stoen was the assistant district attorney of
Mendocino County. His big, two-story house was
now filled with members of the family. Jeanette and I
embraced. She looked puzzled. I had indoctrinated
Rer just as my mother had me. “Now we are all
together. Mom, Carol, Ruth, you, me and Jim
Jones.” "

Marcie didn’t allow us much time. “Let’s go. Your
sister’s tired,” she said. “You'll have plenty of time.
We need you back at the letter-writing campaign.”

Marceline drove us back to the little town of
Ukiah, while I pumped her with questions. “What's
it like being married to Jim Jones?”

“Oh, Phil,” she said. “He’s sucha kind man, such
a loving man.”

I just stared at Marcie. She was so devoted to her
husband. Rumors of Jones's promiscuity in the
family were only beginning at that time. I hoped
they weren't true. “And why did you adopt all the
children?” I asked. -

She looked at me with surprise. “Our children are
everything to us. We are giving our whole lives for
our children.” Her Korean daughter was in the back
seat. Marcie looked through her rear-view mirror.
“And not just the children we have adopted but all
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the children in the family.”

Marcie was kind. She seemed approachable. The
harsh terror tactics of our little society seemeg
unreal in her presence. “Marcie, are all of the
healings real?” I asked.

“Phill” she was obviously caught off guard. “Yes,
of course they are real, Jim has a gift!” She seemed
absolutely sincere. Either she believed it, or she had
convinced herself, or soft and beautiful as she
she was just as ruthless in he
husband.

“Are you sure, Marcie?” I was surprised at my
persistence. All of us loved her, We had heard the
stories of their life in Indianapolis. When M arcie had
walked down the street with her adopted black

child, people had spit on her. The Joneses were light
vears ahead of their day. But now there was
exploitation of people taking place. The cause
seemed shaken. How was Marcie involved? Does
she understand? Does she approve? We were all
confused about her.

She looked hurt and perturbed by my
“Some people in our community like to smear Jim,”
she answered. “People will talk to you, Phil; they’ll
try to shake your loyalty. But if th ey only knew how
hard Jim works. How very hard. There’s nothing
selfish about Jim Jones.”

Marcie looked over at me for a moment. “Phil,
you're just a part of us, We're so blessed to have such
a large family, with children all over the world, We

Se

wds,
r ambitions as her

question.
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1 o Vo P AT e ‘l'f_‘
uch beautiful children. Phil, someday you

»

o play a very important role in-our family.

ol i say a word
g..ng Korean daughter did not say a wor
e

| Shroughout the conversation.

By the end of the week we were. back tlt]:jj::
FrartlciS{:{). 1 spent the afternoon pass:.[tigj 01}1 ’"’1 )].e
A promoting Jim Jones. The Pe{.)? g e _. ‘l,lf
aﬂrvipi‘es were different now. 1 found my [-s(_.-‘
;faz;lyzing their techui(_}iues\, imagm.m;i }m::m{o?,:;
operated. Sometimes it deh.cd any _e:;;p 1}13{1 . o
then again, he had hec}‘.n dOl{l]g tlifdtisjfii)l;terrlpt
r trying to catch on. 1 looked W 3
z;ﬂt}{’i:):let;;eniers who slipped little notes on the
i built. . '
pugt)';ltl,lt}ﬁiigh; I was out on the .str'eet al'}?’u.l‘l:lf_i, :;'i;
blacks and whites who were passing by, }f] aising
Jones. “Our god you can see anc% touc { g
One weekend after an exhausting nig ]t’.]d- f{ .ﬂlv
and I were bedded down with a poor E’)]ac} c fan -
that was ruled by a large black woman. The HIgL
' have a few hours to sleep but
late and we would only have a few ke
she wanted to keep us up talking i‘lbt}ut. F at. §r {1[ l.lr
glanced around her little apartment. Pictur ebxol‘ :) ;
god” were plastered everywhere. ()nf. .:;V%T,d
black-and-white glossy in a cardbt_:m'd frmvne, serve
as a shrine. A candle burned in front (Jf.lt“ i
Lhad been in the familyonly a couple .()% years bt
i1l of Tones. I gratefully grabbed
already had had my fill of Jones. .I;_.,la s
a blanket and curled up on her filthy floor while she
and my friend talked on,
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She was a weir
e vas a weird, crazy woman. She evide
belicved: evervibine Tail 7 he evidently
ything Father Jim said :
sy g ! r Jim said, For a fow
terrible moments she brandished a butcher |
Bt R o e
s d's face, demanding that he admit he was
ally a trai X : ] g
y }( raitor. Why I escaped her interrogation I(’ll
never 7. May Vi §hboun )
5% i}fow Maybe I was too relaxed to be an FBJ
g[ ay br she had seen me around before ]
aQ T : o
was only seventeen years old. I did not
hhteciate. o e : -
:‘#}prcc‘at(. or understand the word “paranoia.”
e e : . . T (2 paranold,
. ; i‘dlj.‘i(_.f)velcd it years later I would nod to it
politely like an old friend: W : v
: y like ld friend: We were now beginni
e g e were now beginning
o live in a world of fear. Not only wi : .
ar, Not onlv with - but
within, Ths 1 old t only without but now
: u; ; good old days were gone, We feared
ones. We te; is spi : ‘ s
e :j teared his spies who were all around us
i) alsh ol (| i . # A
4 eare luur government. We feared ourselves. I
1ad a wonderful the T
ond thought that night, as I w I
up in my dirty blanket. I don’t } S i
my dirty ; n thave to stay. I can ge
out of this thing! : i
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" Escape from People’s Temple

Harpe's suicide.

I was suspicious about Maxine
and her

a kind, nice woman ever though she
lover, Jim Randolph, often fought. Randolph was
one of Jones's most trusted henchmen, assisting
throughout the services. Once 1 caught on to the
operation, I could spot Randolph as one of the men
who helped stage the healings.

The days before her death Maxine looked
harassed. Her eyes darted from one person to the
next. Once she stopped by during our

She was

big mailing

stared at me like I was the devil. 1

campaign. She
agine what I had

knew she liked me so I cou ldn’tim
done.

“What's wrong, Maxine?” I asked.

She broke out of her trance and smiled at me.
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There was a look of despair and fear in her eves. |
recognized it because I had the same feeling inside.

Days later, Maxine’s body was found. They sajq
she had hung herself right in front of her little
children.

"It was murder,” my sister Ruth told me.

“Oh, no,” I protested. “Listen, Maxine looked
troubled and worried all week. I'm not surprised by
her suicide.”

“She was worried because she knew something,”
Ruth answered.

“What?” I asked. “What could she have on them?”

“Idon’t know.” Ruth looked away. “I'm getting all
this information from my girl friends. I don’t know
what to believe.”

“But why?” I asked. “Why would Jim Jones have
anything to hide?”

“Money!” she answered quickly. She was
surprised I wouldn’t see it so obviously. “There are
millions of dollars in this operation. That I know.
Can't you see it, Phil? All these people are signing
over their homes. They're giving up all their land.
He’s taking watches and jewelry in the offerings
now. This isn’t socialism.”

“Yes, but they make him sound so humble,” I
answered. “They say he uses orange crates for a bed
stand.”

Ruth only shrugged. “I'm not staying around
here.”

“T'm not either,” I admitted. “Eventually I'm
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* e DJ,
> But what about moth er? What about Carol

gﬂlﬂg

Ruth didn’t answer me. I suspected she had t?lkec}
{o them and been rebuffed. But Buthlil}a_d z: (:t 1?6
Serve. If 1 were going to go I would ..c_we ﬂ:)\ imi'
mother and Carol with me. But to con\;m{:e }e]r :
fand and exploitation, 1 would ‘need. more than a
teenager’s rumors. 1 needed solid ev1de:lac]e. .

A high school teacher gave me a gooc ea;( i Ae
explained about incorporation and titles to 10;11135
and how available the documents were'to the pu lic.
Unfortunately, I was seen talking to hl%n‘
Fraternizing with an outsider was no small si 1
While at school some contact was necessary, but \1&1- (;
spied on eac.. other to “insure our loyalty to the
cal';'slfe.:y came down on mé hard. Archie Ijame shacti;c‘l
hurt. Why should I have to talk toa tezicbtfr?a._ (){u a
problem even if it did relate to my tﬂ:tu(hes. M(un,a
ljames dropped a little bit of fear into me. Jom.s
stared me down that very night in the service. I
thought his eyes were on me for a full ten minutes.
Ruth flashed a smile in the temple lobby. “Hey,
guess what?” she said. “We're not supposed to talk
to for forty-eight hours.”

Isifoc‘;idz’t bother %r}le T was so angry and frightened
that I preferred to be left alone. There was too m{tlmg
Sarcasm inside. Too many questions nee £
answers. If I became involved in a conversation th.c
Wrong thing might come out. It was good for me} to
have time to think things through and develop a plan
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of action.

When my punishment ended, Archie ordered me &
to the Jim Jones house. I can’t tell you the fear|
experienced. That week another “disciplinary §
beating” took place at the San Francisco temple. Ty

my fertile teenage mind the stories of blisters and
blood were very real.

As it turtied out Jones only wanted me to take one

of his daughter’s friends to a dance. It should have §
been a treat—a chance to rub shoulders with ]
outsiders. But I feared 1 was being tested. The

evening was nothing special.

When we got back to the Jones house a strange |
thing occurred. My date and I were alone. No one
was at home waiting for us. The church service was |
still going strong. My date unlocked the door to the |
house and told me to wait. I slipped inside, waiting |

in a darkened house for ten minutes. Nothing
happened. There was only darkness and silence.
My eyes began to adjust to the room. I could have
snooped around, I thought. No one would have even
known. I might have seen some of the notes they
always passed to Jim Jones. Maybe I could have
found some incriminating document? We'd all been
to the Jones house on one errand or another but
someone was always around at those times. Now the
place was wide open for a search. Of course, they
wouldn't just leave things lying in the open, I
thought. The most important things would be in his
office. Or maybe in his bedroom. The temptation to
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i > s oreat. I had never seen
upstairs to check was gr

d out where my date is, 1 thought.

: ffiﬂs?ui:lld telephone the church and tell them

lv'layback? I could just explain I'm at the Jones house.I

i?;i'l;lking into the kitchen gave me cfmﬁ(f.encie.(}k

tbﬁched the telephone and then de_emde ;10 o ;
Sround just for a few seconds before calling.

snooped in a few cabinets and drawers. I opened the

refrigerator and the room \;’aﬁ n;o:tr;e:ll;arlly filled
ith li he freezer was full of steaks.
Wl;}:} 1:%:\':\ ;flinutes I had walked easily througlf tl:ai
various downstairs rooms in the h.ouse. S{)O}l:il 1\:\76
back by the front door, still waiting. 1 cl;nr; 1; 1
made it up to the bedroom zfmd baq; y‘t;:\\& -
thought, glancing one more time at the s Pone
Then 1 made my decision. I could hear (iom ,ﬂ]é
approaching the house and stil_l get_bacl; (éw:lome
Stairs in time. 1 practiced an innocent 100K, th‘:;
mask I could pull over my face if 1 were cau‘glilé 011; ; t{;
Stairway. Slowly I started up, Cl]‘a\\-’ll’ﬂg on all four:
distribute my weight and avoid noise. L
The stairs squeaked anyway. 1 reac cd .h}? .keg
landing, worked my way down the hall an cf (,c(], =
out the rooms. A little glow came from the v?-"m 0 .t
from security lights outside. I stood for a mon;)er‘)t
outside Jim Jones's room. My heart began t.\oth:{a[
like a bass drum. It suddenly oc’curre(} to m(,t h(ed
was being tested. I thought, Ix,n be]p(jlgd\?d c]larn.1
There’s a tape recorder—there’s a hidden a
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which I've already triggered.

The lights from an automobile flashed across the
hallway, causi ng shadows to dance and jump. I raced
down the hall and stumbled down the stairway. My
own noise added to my fear. One thi ng was for sure,
if anyone else was hiding in the house, they now

knew about me. I waited for some time. Nothing §

happened. It had only been a passing car.
Once more I worked my way up to the Jones
bedroom. The door squeaked as I opened it

Suddenly a light came on downstairs. I could see the _-

glow coming up the hall. Jim Jones? I didn’t know.
My head began to pound. I stepped into the
bedroom. There were two orange crates on either
side of the bed exactly as we had been told. I stood
behind the door listening to footsteps on the
stairway then down the hall. Another i ght came on
in an upstairs bedroom. How long could I remain
where I was without being discovered?

The figure retreated back downstairs. I moved
into the hallway and waited. listening carefully.
Whoever it was, they were busy in the kitchen. I
could delay no longer. More people would be
arriving. I moved quickly down the stairs. A woman
stepped out of the kitchen.

“T'm Phil Kerns,” I smiled. “I was one of the
escorts to the dance.”

She gave me an icy stare. I walked out of the
house, feeling her penetrating suspicion like
daggers in my back.

PEOPLE’S TEMPLE—PEOPLE'S TOMB

My high school instructur’f advice 1;1‘01\.-'5‘(1”1'1;1?(,‘1:
more productive than my Rockforc hI* 1.;(;,8 ; ;ﬁ,t
detective work. When the heat on me.. E:.g_,ag C n{\_.
up, 1 planned a journey to Mendocino County

Courthouse. ’ e
Everything went off without a hitch that day. 1

falked to the tax recorders and eventually {(j‘unfl a
person who was anxious to show me z%tzound.\ Itis 5
school assignment,” I explained. .[hey’t,eer‘neih
delighted to find a young person showing sucl
mteTrﬁit\rc all public records,” my friend explained.
& an see them.” i
A;}l;;zfgcztrlher things, I learned that tl'.le oﬂ’m}e;tl
incorporators of People’s Temple: were ]111‘1 ]{)\H}L(
his wife Marceline, and Archie 1_]:11_11(?3‘ : )al
troubled me most was that Jim Jones, .AI'C]T]I{%‘ Ijames,
and Jack Beam all owned their own houses. o
That clinched it for me. My mother was tfvpu-.a }?
the little people who gave every t}‘u ng they had t[; }t :;
temple. Watches, wedding rings—my .mlo e
would not have thought of owning her own 'l()t;l(?:,
Every title was to be transferre(.i to the Penﬁpﬁe :{
Temiﬂe. Then why did the very mcorporators an
leaders hold title to their own homes? G
I listened more carefully to AT(:.hle Ijames's
telephone conversations, trying to pick l:p ieveri
Piece of information I could. One d::;l.‘}«’ at t. e :i lnI:_(_.-
table I casually dropped a question. “Archie, do you
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own your own honse?” .

Archie almost dropped his fork. I had cornered
him and he knew it. Mama Ijames scowled I
returned her look with an innocent expression, g
was only asking a question. Sorry.” Thereafter,
Archie kept his eye on me. He once caught me
listening to him on the phone. I protested innocence

but thereafter he and his telephone retreated to the |

bedroom for important calls,

The climax finally came. We were in the middle of |
our letter-writing campaign. Fifteen of us were |

crowded into the upstairs rooms of a two-story house
in Ukiah. T was tired. There was no time for
homework. We spent hours stuffing envelopes. I
began to grow weary of the conversation of my
co-workers. “Oh, did you see that tonight? Jim Jones
has a gift. He’s so wonderful.” We worked ] 3:00
A M.

After another day of school, we were back to work.

1 began to become aware of what was going on, He’s
using us, I thought. I looked around the room and
saw all the other people. These people are crazy.
We're all mad, and I'm the most stupid of all. I've
talked my sister Jeanette into this thing. I felt guilty
and angry. I looked into the eyes of my co-workers.
“Oh, no,” I muttered. “We're all crazyl”

I left the workroom and ran downstairs. One of the
guards stopped me. “Where are_you going? You
can't leave here.”

“I'm sick,” I protested. “I'm sickl”

8¢
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“No sirl Youre not sick. Not yet.

. work to do. Now get back up

You"fe got more
. ' going to do. I was
L w in a moment what I was going to ¢ i
i ave. Now—at this ver},-"}nstant-—\-ﬂtm
aane i youse. Jeanetie was
. another day in this nut house. jeanett :
e arby. I wanted to talk
Jiving at Tim Stoen’s house nearby. 1 W i
tvher warn her, but there was no time, 114t Wi
D s 7 ¢ ol E
e trouble for her. |
ey tf‘g".- s I could go —I1 ran across the
] ran. As fast as coula § b i
hrough the arms of a guard at (he &

tj e G . [ v wte 1 1
€ eV £ or i -
ar.ld Ollt l[]t() W eril ]' } 1 EP v 111 tes }jo}l\l n

bv and watched them.
the park nearpy and, watche . Sl
i .m to organize a posse. N & cot
moment for them to orgamze ap i hdw
just leave. We were always chcc_m_.t.,d; A
1 who we talke ;
here we were and who we
e There were too many
out of the parking lot

going to le

gause was too precious. 3
enemies. Two cars screeche
to find me.

They don’t have
Let them race around, I thought. The;

dogs so they won't find me easily on -ﬂ?{\,)t \ f‘i‘ﬁ :J: i‘;;
belly in the park when it suddenly i f\ 7 .wouid ”
what 1 had done. If they fou_nx:} }ni‘.L = pu}){;c
through hell, worse than the !r)ea,‘t:n.?\?,I ‘ia", iy
ridicule, their kangaroo court on .stlagc.. \
semi-darkness, my heart pou.ndl]ng. G
When the commotion subsided, T}{I\mj“ .e(;t o e
to the edge of the park ;m;l it.l;?b:ot[ e\:';( Ld e =
ion ad to get out of view i
f)t;l:fl;;n;a:;e A Emn eyed me suspiciously.
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“Do you know anything about Jim ]0?1{-}5?"1
asked. T was so frightened that I could hear my

oWy
heartbeat.

“He’s crazy,” the fireman said. He looked me up
and down and chuckled.

“What makes you think so?”

“That guy is possessed.” he answered.

“If ar 1YOne
has ever been ossessed by a demon. th
p P 2

at man has,”

I was amazed. I had never heard anyone speak so §

openly against Jones.
“Aren’t you afraid of him?p”

He cursed and spat. “I'm not afraid.” Then he ﬁ
“You're the one they're looki ng for,

smiled at me.
ain't ya?”

I didn’t answer.

“It’s all right,” he said, “As far as I'm concerned
you ain’t ever been here.”

“Oh, thanks.” I didn’t know it I could trust him. It
might be courage. It might be bravado,

“He’s socking money right and left,” the fireman
continued. “He’s taking title to people’s homes. I
have a friend who became a member. The guy’s
insane,”

Ifound myself reacting to his comments. I wanted
to defend Jones. I gave this man a hard look and then
took off.

Moving unseen through Ukiah was no easy task. [
jumped from one doorway to the next, really
expecting to be seen and caught. I wasn’t. T reached
the highway, darted across and sat hidden in a little
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B itch. Should I try to hitch a ri‘dc? ’%hou:i I
&8'!“ decided if I waited toolong the iettel—\&'lli‘lll‘.g
ol I'gi {vo;‘k might end. The highway would be
campal _ ]
‘s people. 3
i (?fg‘? neej 115 fw heart racing. I stuck out .mi
: Jlllj IIpt was dusk and very hard for a persor{i 1;; :
thm?o .see. The first one that passed stopped )le.
o d over. 1 was sure it was one of Jones's peor . .
oy b G we. Nobody got out. That
The car didn't move. No 3}& A
teemed like the Jomes style, cocky. i .“You_
Kerns!” I imagined someone in the car saying.
en’t going anywhere.” - o
i May%)e Igshould run, I thought. Would thh.ey L.I};j :
me? Still there was the chance that 1t< is was
l . | ' ake the risk.
complete stranger. I had t(') take | St
“Pretty late to be hit(:hhl]x’ll(l;g, }e i.n w; e
driving home. I could not be ieve my |
Sld g he road aways,” he said. “Not very
I can get you up the r 3
far;‘Th s fine.” I said. Then, as an afte.rthoug}_]t,
£ f ; . off on the other side of the
“You couldn’t drop me

*» e t ‘d
| city so I could get a little head start?” He grunte

without answering my question but wheicn éhe time

eame he deposited me right where I as ‘e Vi
Now I would be safe. But the palr?Ii? LE\;GW

lingered. You cannot imagine the tcrro}r ( .(:u.‘m\,. o

e made’tm\ie:f I:?e(iow:t the ;‘{)ad,

' a car as it we
gic:l(i)tﬁl:;l;;s on in the world wh(.} doef; noil;f‘io;g] jﬁ
the Jones family. Hurray! Jones lives in a very
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world. Hurray for freedom. Hurray for Am
Hurray for the FBI! Come and get mel”

Soon there were only headlights with
prospects of a ride. I was hungry. T had no mon
Still my only fear was Jones.

Eventually a car slowed down. It was an old
Volkswagen. It rattled by and came to a stop, I
approached it carefully. It was not a car I recogni
This could be my trip to San Fran
this could be them.

As | approached, a voice from the Volkswagen
spoke very softly. “Get in, Phil.” I felt a chill run
down my spine. It was all over. They had me again.

They returned me to People’s Temple. There was
complete silence during the trip. I telt like a kid with
an “F” on his report card. But what could they do?
Why was there such fear? How could they keep me?

At the temple I telephoned Archie Ijames. I had
never heard him become so angry. “Phil, where
have you been?” I didn’t know what to say.

Archie drove immediately to the temple. “Get
in,” he ordered, but his voice sounded kind. “Phil,

it's okay,” he said. “What's wrong?”

T'm sorry,” I answered him, “I've been so tired.
We've been stuffing envelopes all week.”

“Well, Philip,” he smiled.
things we don’t want to do.”

“Why? Why?” I was suddenly angry. The whole
thing was so absurd. People can’t order you around
like robots. They could beat me. So what? They

Cricg|

np

tey,

cisco I thought—or

“We all have to do
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kill me. So what! L G
B don't ask why, Phil,” Archie 0
. hmﬁe Mama’s got something to eat.
come on i b

Ity was the key word in the Jones family. But
Loyalty was > Ke

e il. That's why some
hould have been blackmail. That's why
it s

zed, |

: m,
P eere not allowed to leave Jonestown,

mbers of the inner circle e\-’entu.all‘}f al]\m?- err%
. . to be taken of them committing 56};11(1\
photog.raphs’ 0 'l;hat’s why they signed Statefncnt,b\
i “'ch ]O}HE; molested their own children. I‘hat :;
Cl'alml'ng i (;‘i‘ieﬂ they signed over powers 0.
o . Some‘ .\.‘uall\’; that's why communards
attorney. And eventuall) o

i o left behind as a
husband, wife or child were left behir

unless a . e
hostage. Loyalty, once given, could never b
back .

h of this corruption will be (}«wufssﬁ :
the seeds existed in 1970. \\,d.‘.
did was watched. Mama
d a complete

Though muc
in later chapters, .
Suspect now. Everything I ‘ >
ljames became fearsome. She \-x-djll .in e
report on everything that hapl‘)e'.-,u.c ! 1 : P.P()plc,s

To get out of the house 1 visited some ere
Te.mpl-e.mem't)ers down the street. Th(:i.}- 1;15?3(“_““”
4 pot of spaghetti on and I played the guit
entertaining their little gi l. -

One day the father pounced on me.
making advances. ’

“What?” T didn’t understand hma, L

“You've been molesting my daughter:

“You've been

he

Sereamed.




PEOPLE'S TEMPLE—PEOPLE’S TOMB

“No!” I shouted back. “Ask her; she’ll tel you
“Yes!” the mother shouted. “Get out, Phill We
don’t want to call the police.”

Ifled. They are sick, I thought. She is only a litl
girl. They are sick. They must know it isn’t true, ]
was contused. I was hurt. For

a long time I wepj

A couple of days later, I was approached at th
church. “Listen, Phil.” one of Jones’s men said}
“This thing about the little girl. Those parents ar}
probably wrong. T know you, Phil; you're a good kid |

As long as you stay put, Father Jim will take care df
you. He can keep them in line, but if
will look like you're guilty.” 5.
I saw it in a moment. Blackmail? They had to be
kidding. Then and there I decided I would get away. |
IfT had to steal and lie and plan for months. If I had to}
turn my back on my mother, I would still get away, i
They would not keep me. T was angry. :
The Christopher Lewis affair also took place about
that time. Lewis was a big black man, a drug addict,
apimp. I don’t know why he took a liking to me. We
visited a lot. I sort of became his little brother.
Lewis had sent his wife to bed with a man and then
robbed him, people in the cult had said. Jones hired
a big attorney and got Lewis off the hook. “Look at
this man,” Jones would say. “He used to be a drug
addict; now he babysits with kids,” -
They always put Lewis with children. It looked
like a great contrast to see this big, violent ex-con
taking care of little children. “See how Jim Jones can

you run off if§
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7 would say.
e your life,” they woul R
me hmee I ewis took me into San Francisco w1’rd
mSO I;is wife would get out, walk the btltetbk :
117 o b = : : . ()I
hl,'-m' back money. Lewis was soon right bac
bring e

( ) e rany TiL ght we Sr.‘.t 11 t e |

e his wife hustled. 2 -
W]Hll;uh;ou think Jones would blackmail someone? I
asked. -

He looked at me h .

i irl. Lewis laughed. e
htt‘]‘ii%iin ” he said. “T was a lot better off pimping
and on drugs than being with“_]?nes:h L

“But he got youout,” L said. “Everybody :

ard. T told him the story of the

t of jail.” -
g{’tHYO“ {?\Lzled J“]Om“; can get you out and Jones can
e scowled. . 3
get you in.” i .
“What do you mean? I askedz e
“You just got to be a good soldier,” he said.

gotta do what you're told. That's what I mean. Jones

-an get what he
has got San Francisco locked up. He can getv
Waﬂts.”

“Do you think

5 . ‘P” :
could they do to mer i ; L
Lewis just stared out at the rain. 1 don’t know,

LR T fon 22 L e

he said “They couldn’t do nothin to you. Then he

aused. “But I can't leave. , i

; I didn’t ask him why. I knew he wouldn t answ e;h

A fow vears later Jones would become furiou 1 wi !

W yedls Ldib d . : : i

a young man named Rory Hight. Cﬁu;n stophell" cl,{\l .
Would murder him with dozens of witnesses loo

I could just leave?” I asked. “What
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on. Jones’s lawyers would go to work. Within
time Lewis would be free, walking the streets

‘On December 10, 1977, Lewis was chased
San Francisco street by two gunmen. To no avail, he
banged on doors and windows for help. He was ghgy
to death. Lewis was wrong. There was one wa y outof
the family. Eventually, more than 900 people would
take that same way out.

agaip,
downg

started to build a little savings for my escape. §
Occasionally, on little excursions to town, I stopped
by an army surplus store. I eyed a $15.00 backpack. |
When I get $30.00 I'll take off, I decided. That was
enough for the backpack and a ticket for Santa Rosa
with some change left over.

One night I bought the pack. T hid it in the bushes
a short distance from Archie’s house.
of days, I shifted my valuables and necessities to my
little cache. Then the time came for the break.

Archie’s son was home. It was a special oceasion.
He was an airplane pilot and a hero at People’s
Temple. A hometown boy who made good. His
presence changed the mood of the house. Mama
Ijames was happy and proud. No one seemed to
notice me come or go. It was a perfect time.

“Jim Jones will be one of the most renowned and
well-known menin the world,” Archie’s son told me.

“You're sure?” I asked. The whole table scowled
at me.

By working at the high school lunchroom I had |

a shoy
i he said.
him,

| the final time.

Over a period §

) : 'S MB
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orld will be talking about
- av the “.-hole \J\.-Ulld Wil

“gomeday t

i : re of the best 1

e rger. One of &

_ 1. son was a great sing . e,

Amhle;' heard. We all bragged < ]m-l_ﬂ ziljalﬁrat

- evfjame% looked at me and smiled for the firs
Mama ! o

ime 1 nths. o o
me?l:ll;:] 1:?:ht I slipped out of the house and packed

i [ o 1 my

The following day was gmdua}aon. I gr abl;:i(m: ]

diploma and fled. T didn’t wait for the c.eire: ) i;uq

E ; or ad a bu:
difln’t parade across the platform. I had a

schedule to keep. e
When I arrived home, Mama Ijames S[I?I ol
showed her my diploma. She was happy, slapping

£ T OV .I ']'. 0T a ].].'( ti(:“]b
T ] I -OWIng ot I CC !g]‘ t] 1 }'
aC]K At t o ; 23 I sal (l

led big. 1

me on the b ot Lo
SWell 1 can’t take the day off to iddn ate,
“Got ‘;0 get busy for Father jm}' .
) . she said. il
“Yeah, you get busy, s SR
Iran (J'Ll't g:r:bbed my ];}ackp:].a:}\ and L()lol\ 1‘:{;} L
$0 hard my side ached. I climbed up to ilu_, _O % B ,1
in broad dayli ght and stuck ml:t my 11};5111(11). h(,]l;\ m\ﬁ
" Tien Tones but the real Goa—help mMe.
thought—not Jim Jones bu R L o
IStO(%d there shaking like a leat, praying, holding
my thumb.
As each car wo s
Please. mister. This is an emergency,
Finally, an old jalopy stoppe i
like a hippie at the wheel. 1 ran .

g ing away from home?”
J “\IF)Vh'it are you doing? Running away fromh
1k =

uld pass I would mumble, 1\-'11.~,t.‘(,_>.1,
help me.

d. I froze. It looked
car and
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he asked.

I laughed. Was it written on my face? Wi

would he identify himself and tell me he
me back?

“No, I'm just bumming around,” T said.

He dropped me off at the Ukiah bus station,

leq
was taking

Ukiah is a small town filled with members of the
family. I saw Larry Leyton crossing the street §
headed my way. I assumed he had spotted me. Hel
walked right by, not seeing me in a group of people. |
Carl, one of the ta]l ushers, walked by. I raced to thel
ticket counter.

“Your bus is leaving.”

“Hurry, please!” I said. “Tve got to make that

bus,”

There was paperwork she insisted on "doing. I
raced out to the bus to plead with the driver. His |

door was closed. I banged. He opened.
“Please. I've got to make this bus or I'm in big, big
trouble,” I begged. “She’s writing my ticket now.”

“T've got to go kid,” he said sternly. His chest was :
filled with pins and awards. He looked like the type |

who would keep his schedule.
I raced back in, grabbed my ticket, and ran back
out. He opened the door.
“Sorry,” I said.
“Take a seat, son,” he said angrily,
I sat back and sighed deeply.
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The glass windows
were tinted. We rode through the city looking out on
the world, but the world could not see us. There
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y members all over the Ukiah stree‘ts.ﬂl
oen walking down the c.‘ourr‘rh()usc S.tc.‘g:s‘I
m, I told myself. Y.ou madre.‘}l. :
s pulled out on the highway. Then

: xplain the
and relaxed. I cannot exp
o was the best

were famil
You beat the
smiled as the bu
t my head bac L
11liefI felt. In minutes I was asleep. It
b ‘ ienced in years.
had experienced in ye o - -
516‘?1111:1 I qwa‘ge ned. 1 saw a man sitting next to me
e d nea, | e o5 il .
Helooked like he had been waiting for me togetup
e > ; " g
“Where are you headed? hle askei:nﬂibcr o
¢ ;a.” T said. Was he a me!
Santa Rosa, 1 saic
family? A spy! i
“You have family up there?” he a
E i ” he persisted.
“Well. why are you going there? .hl(, Iphc,r;i\ ;1 G;er
My su.spicivon really heightened Stﬂ-é - Ltlo Tau( =
seen his face around the temple. I d.eu (:rhe i
him about Jones to gauge 215 1‘eac:]1:;1; t W I..nan i
I ~onvinced 1 was S
talked, the more convince . G
an outsider. I could trust him. He wasnt gomng
turn me in. : e
“This Jones is an incredible man, hc.s‘aﬁd .
I felt a compulsion to tell him about a {;1‘ ]11
i 3 o . Ly ¥ lc
S0-called miracles, prophecies and hedhng? W -
though; were fake and some that were my St?; lr;(.l
Here I was running for my life and even then I fou
. ing t Jones.
myself bragging abou nes 5
“Mavbe he is the Christ,” the marfl bdld; o
I couldn’t believe it. “It’s too much ‘orltm_c.., 1
*But some of the people in Ukiah think so.

sked.
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“You know,” he continued. “All my life, I've beat
looking for the Christ. Not some invisihjd
character—but a person.”

Is everybody in the world crazy, 1 thought. Is th
man serious? “Well, I'm not sure,” I said. “This may
could be, but I'm afraid it’s too much for me f
handle.” .

During the rest of the trip, he pumped me wit]
questions. I told him all about the family. Even somel

of the things that had bothered me. He was the firs}
outsider I had really talked to in months. ;.

“You know what?” he said. “This guy could be the)
Christ. Do you believe in reincarnation?” I

I paused. “I don’t know.” Then I asked him.!
“What are you going to do?” .

He laughed at himself. “Well, I was on my way {0}
Texas,” he explained. “But I'm going to go back to}
Ukiah and have alook. I have to be certain. T have to
know. I'll never forgive myself if I don’t check it
out.”

I was so dumbfounded that I suspected he was
putting me on. I followed him into the Santa Rosa|
bus station and stayed with him, talking things over.
He exchanged his ticket and filled out a refund
voucher for the balance.

“Thanks, Phil.” He stuck out his hand. We
clasped out hands together. “And now where are ;
you going?” :

“1don’tknow,” I said. I only had two dollars in my
pocket.

'S TOMB
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..‘I y 7 W 1’re doing, he
eally hope you know what you
L& r ) b,

/ them?”
; / t to run away from
od. re sure you wart .
. at{loulook on his face I knew he would got?ga;,tion
L 1d begin an investg
.ars later, I wou 2 . :
- badly.ll\?:ju\d begin to collect mfnrmatlc(}ln m:; t::i;
oflﬂﬂe‘s f murder and sexual abuse. Iwouldgol :
mmorz:; get my mother and sister out. One night,
t:r)htlliz sitting in the balcony of the new
Temple in Southern C
by an usher—

People’s

alifornia, 1 would be

hed the same man [ had met
approache

on the bus.
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B C
o ome Hear

_ JIM JONES
In San Francisco

Pastor Jim Jones: Mo:::;{“:u;;":‘m,

3 Saves Lhn fives of twtal strangers with his predichions, Scares will
» EH_OEE_T " be pressnt to gve medical decumentstion of their amaziig hasling

* PUBLIC SCHOOL TEACHER AND

GOVERNMENTAL OFFICIAL —

Carrentty an agthe taacher in California sysem,

* HEALER OF CANCEROUS DISEASES,
DOCTORS CALLED “INCURABLE”

* PASTOR OF THE NATIONS LARGEST
YOUTH INTERRACIAL RELIGIOUS
MOVEMENT, WITH A 185 VOICE CHOIR,
WILL BE HERE!|

THIS MESSENGER OF GO0 PROCLAIMS APOSTOLIC SOCTAL JUSTICE o EQUALITY AND
FROVES HIS MESSAGE BY BIVINE SIGNS AND WONDENS,
DOUBTS WILL BE CAST OUT. CURISSITY WALL ENLIGHTEN ¥OL. FAITH ano

” g IIE E BELIEF WILL SAVE YOU.,
COME AND HEAR JIM JONES® DIVINE MESSAGE

SATURDAY, JUNE 13 - Ti30 P.M. and SUNDAY, JUNE 14 — 11:00 AM.

PLACE: Benjamin Franklin Jr. High Auvditorium
(Corner Geory & Scoi Sts.)

FREE BANQUET attsr sundsy survisess

A flyer announcing one of Jim Jones’s meetings,
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Thante you ot gour
pLE’S TEMPLE CHRISTIAN CHUIRCH
’ P.0. Box 214
Redwood Valley, Calif. 95470
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Vicki. Carol Ann is wearing a

and his wife,

e Was : » i
as among those who died at Jonestown,

anette,

1 a picture of Jim Jones. Sl

wecklace wit

e

i
i

|

SIX

My Investigation Begins

The hold of Jim Jones on my life ngered for years.
Imarried. I joined the army. Iled a normal life with
the bizarre nightmare of People’s Temple far behind
me. Still. there were moments when it all came
back, Mostly I was troubled about my mother and
sister who were still there. What was going on? If I
Went back to get them would they listen to me?

An event occurred in my life which must be
included in this story. Without understanding this,
appreciate why I continu ed

you would not be able to
overing of

{0 pursue my mother and sisters. The unc
evidence of murder, the threats on my life which
followed—not even these could deter me. Not
because of bravery. Not because I wasa fool, though
there may be a point to that argument. It was a
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positive motivation. I had no ax to grind. I had

news for my mother and my sisters and A I:g%d
l_i'am?es and for Jim Jones too. 5

When I received my honorable discharge

learped that Ruth and Jednette had left the js( [
fal'Illl}.«‘, Ruth was living with thirty people in UIHJS
mansion in northern California. OH no IJtil;!: f;g
a.ﬂother cult. My wife knew how my 1’110the.r L Ei
sister concerned me. She knew T wouldn’t rest u.:;']
¥ got them out, so she suggested we talk thinh"; n\-]' ;
\’:’l.th .Buth. Maybe we could come up with 8; *;iqir
.\-'10](1 and I, and our new baby, follovw;d1 l‘lml'
instructions and wound our wa): up to the big

lig

Carlotta Mansic |
s Ilotta. f\»Idnsmn. The place was well lighted. There
$ a giant wooden cross in front. It looked |

ridiculous and fanatical,

he’]ﬁ]{l“e peciple‘ inside were happy; Ruth hugged me,
I_,] d‘(,t_, g.omng.f,. We sat and talked for hours. She

was especially kind to Vicki and soon my wife was at

ease. F
From the other room came the sounds of 4 folk

guitar. There was singing. It was a joyous song.

Eventually we joined them. This was the Jesus

movement, then sweeping the country. I was
&fTI&ZEd. There was no stage, no demagogue .no fe':l'»
There was an incredible group consciousness; th:\-re
was unity, but it was unity through joy ol i '\.'d
it was voluntary. i o
Sor?qeone stood and talked about Jesus. T cannot
descn_he my feelings except to say that there was an
opposite sensation to that of the Jones r'neetirhag;.‘;-
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This was spontaneous and it shook me. All of the
mysteries of the sacraments, all of the teachings of

aneient Christianity came back.

11l tell you what troubled me. I had shaken off
religion, and emotionalism, and anything that
bordered on the mystical and spiritual. Now,
bowever, my heart was responding but based upon
my previous experiences, alarm bells were going off.

We were planning to spend the night at a motel
but Ruth stopped us. “Oh, please stay right here.”

Others chimed in, giving us a welcome. “No use
wasting your money.~

Our room was clean and there were fresh flowers
on adresser. Over the bed was a poster ~Jesus Christ
i Lord.” Do they mean Jim Jones, I thought. No,
there was a different kind of Jesus here. Vicki and I
slept soundly.

At the breakfast table everyone gave audible
praise to God—not to a man on a stage. 1
experienced great sensations of joy and I could feel
love. This was not some superficial love, or some
love ideal. This was real. The distinction was clear.
In the Jones family we always talked about how
happy we were, as if to reinforce something we
doubted, but wanted to be true. At that breakfast
table we were tasting—really tasting—happiness.

Jim Jones is a‘fraud, I thought. He has to be. I
know it! I imagined I was feeling the power of an
eternal God and I was ready to listen.

There was a Bible study. Ruth talked to me about
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th{_f de&th i R = ]
. }. ' Qf Jesus. Then one of Ruth’s friends
1¢ Bible again and star oy -TLds pl]
John. Here it w d started reading the Gog ed
o . Here it was, the very Word of God ﬁmspel o
Lu; -\Eenljones throw to the floor and s .
urse violently. I strai R S
v. I strained for ev

soothing. i s ; lor every
i ;ng,t}ust like an ointment e

and hurt. No ¢ : away the paj
i I_\ro.one lectured or interpret "ﬁ’cun
=xplained. We just listened to the Bih]p_ >ted of

pit on apd
word. Tt

I've h e
[ve heard some review ;
me reviews of the Britisher who -

quotes t - U
They g-;}fe' (’f}spd of Mark on the Broadway stag
act . I“ h}} It is stunning and moving Onv i n“&
actually hav S Al e woul
aloud t’U 1&\(16 - ](".‘id through one of the Gospels
het o understand what began to happen o
that kitchen table. - spbCHto oy
I felt foolis

obvious QO]I.bb'.HOW could I have missed such an
Why hla,dc ;“31(?m__ and available book like the Bi‘\l;!'?
guil} the 1I1tf\-cr'read it before? Sometimes ff?]l
J-{:‘su; .rlldbome illustration or powerful \x.fnd @
Rl : ' vords 0
Ay ou ?rush in on me and wash the guilt away
AL 28 wWe :chan i H 2 g 1 QWS "'.
Bihli roslos oo v, all of us at the table. The
» reader w ! : e. The
o S(}der “‘;UIC} blink his eyes and struggle on. It
s,” they said. “On your own it is not. N

} : s your own it is nc Te
amount o g it is not. No
have ]evirfl d(]'lbcliplme can make it work. You shm!;l
e e Their ideals
'8 ut motive and means are j ST
as the goal. The - ans are just as important
h '.rht' key is that the Spirit.of God ]3 ]
you strive for this ideal.” 2L Fl help

It was all s bl
s all so wonderful. I war

Bible 3 g ! ful. I wanted to crawl up inthe
> and hide between the words. But ft‘i D
s Jesus was
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essage on earth commands
mother and my sister and
le I loved out of that
Jones that Jesus is Lord.

unced these intentions Ruth
ed to make Jesus your own

“Go.” His last m
71 had to get my
ie Ijames and all the peop

\When 1 anno

Lord,” she said-
“You need Christ,”
I was spooked. Oldfe
ssure returned. I knew a psy
1l the same.
This sensation
hypnosis. Jones or Jesus, you
are just the kind of person who needs a crutch.”
Should I throw away my chance to taste one of the
most enduring and beautiful spiritual experiences in
the world, just because of the ridicule of an
imaginary psy(:ho‘mgist? How do we know his
gvaluation isn't some kind of academic mass
hypnosis?
The warmth of

someone else said.

ars of exploitation and group

chologist would say,
Jesus was someone

you feel is

pre
“Yes, religions are a
just like Jones.

autosuggestion or mass

the Gospel of John lingered. 1

could see Jesus, not strutting around in His glory,
not planning promotional schemes with His
disciples, but just sitting by the Sea of Galilee
Booking some fish on the beach. I was out in the
water fishing like Peter, and Jesus was simply telling
me to throw my net on the other side. It was a story

we had just read.
“You have fear,

asked.

don’t you, Phil?” one at the table
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“T've been living with fears all m
answered. “It's a part of the Jones cul
afraid.”

He started praying
fear away.”

}.’ Iife‘n I
ture tg he

“Jesus, show Phil, take hi

“Jesus, take my fears away,” I said and then |
repeated what they had been saying last night
“Jesus is the Lord, the Son of God!” Just saying it
brought indescribable joy, and such peace. How
could I have avoided God so long? It seemed s
stupid to think that in all of time and space that man
was the greatestintelligence, that there was nothing
bigger. Even in the limited confines of earth thereis
the great diversity between a human and an ant, To
say we are alone, rulers of an empty universe struck
me as limited and stupid.

Now, I began to realize something. This faith in
God, this peace, was what I had looked for in Jim
Jones. It was what the man on the bus was searching
for. I had found it here in this ancient book. What
happened in a Jones meeting could not compare
with the joy and peace that came to me here. It
overflowed. We all laughed and cried and
embraced. They got out the guitar and the flute and
we sang.

They read the Scripture; I will never forget it. 1
grabbed it when they were finished to see if it were
true. It was read from one of the new Bible versions.
“Tknow very well how foolish it sounds to those who
are lost, when they hear that Jesus died to save
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ho are saved recognize this nl?ssagﬁ
of God. For God says, 1 Wi '
an plans of salvation no matt.er hou{
to be, and ignore thc best‘ 13&3&5} (.:
5 1 the most brilliant of them.” For (70' 11; 11;1
pit E . to it that the world would never md
Wiﬁdf’{]n Sl?;h human brilliance, and then‘he stel?pe

Gﬂd.tdrsaved all those who believednh_ls L:nesszfg,
hith the world calls foolish and silly.” (1 Cor. 1:18,

lg;sﬁ?é ]1.5231 for one vear in the Carlotta Mansion.

e Tt
‘The day we left, they crowded around us. We wep

yise they seem

ay, Vicki and 1
and embraced. As we drove away, Vicki

comforted each other. With tears mr%ngggligjirl (;!_;I);
faces, we reminded each other th‘at G({ s i etémal
alocation or a guitar or a flute. God’s {?)\:re Agcz,lpe -
and once we have tasted it we can nev c-,lr1 -(“People‘s
embrace. Now, we had to go back t0~tljh i
Temple and share this truth v‘wth‘ others. . m_aVb.e
myself as a missionary to a foreign cpun Iy, y
&¥en a missionary to another planet.

Jim Jones had been doing a little mis sz] 0{3(1{1\; \wzl;;
himself. Besides the templesin Redwoo' . ; Utyhem
$an Francisco, he had opened a hranch in ;e{;, o
California. When our attempts to get into -'nf:\..-id .
Temple in the north were rebuﬁ‘(?d , ;m, J;mtlhe;‘a;.nﬂv
the Ios Angeles area hoping to infiltrate 3

there. ¢ |
The Southern California temple was a big, ugly
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Elock bui]di.ng in downtown Los Angeles Joneg'
uges were lined up outside. Good, \\-’e.thou.gl.n o
%)e({;ple from.Ukiah are probably down here j-oThe
Iladia way of bu_sing the same audience to di.ﬂ?erzes
auditoriums, giving the illusion of several .
congregations, .-
fUI?’\/OQf \::Ikeg in ;hrough the front doors past a lobhy

erchandise. There were pi s of Jone

. 1 : pictures of Jo

and trinkets and jewelry on sale. By that time :;0:112:

was telling his audience, “You don’t need to have sex |

with each other. Have sex with my picture!”
Th(le.re were security guards eve.rywhei‘(;. They
;vzl:; b: lt)tiz arm piel‘tc?eei; I bsaw them stopping people-,
g our little baby from Vicki’s
he;(li]ed with confidence tc):ward a b;fck;;yzizi“iid
- Idell;e was anot.her set of doors ahead of me. I
1-u .h'ear the voice of Jim Jones echoing. He was
Eositl ;Iflﬁ'equ‘ahty. I felt sick when I heard the
s is voice. (_;0 ahead, I told myself. you goin
ere and you let him holler at you, just keep y
mind on Christ. 'Y
.Thi g’uard stopped me. “Don’t you know me?” |
said. 'Im Penney duPont’s son. Come on.” '1{19"'
apologized and explained that no one was all;)\ red ll’l
unless they were a member or guest. They fri ]: b(i
anfl let us pass through. : fesi e 1
bo(lﬁle e}}ldlt.cmum was hot. It was filled with sweaty
ies fanning themselves. We sat in the balcony

and | > stares of i
Stf ff:lt the stares of the entire audience. It was
ange. The whole audience turned to look but |

120

jone

PEOPLE'S TEMPLE—PEOPLE'S TOME

s went on as if there were no interruption.

as walking up and down the aisles,
long robe, his jet-black hair and dark
. his visible trademarks. “Oh, the spirit
* he said. 1 suddenly realized he always
not God, not the

]ones w
wearing 2
sunglasses

loves you,
had referred to the spirit,

Almighty, not the Holy Spirit, only the spirit. What

spirit, I wondered.
“I need to touch you,” he said. The crowd went

cTazy.
Archie Ijames
coached the audience.

of others too.”
People grabbed him and touched his body all

over. “Oh, Jim; oh, Father Jim!” Chills went down
my spine.

Jones whirled and spotted
audience. “Oh, mama, I know you've had arthritis
all your life! Now put your hands up. Bend over;
reach out. Run up there on the platform.”

The black woman ran; Jim chased her, clapping
and whooping it up. The audience shouted and
clapped. They all believed she was healed. The
audience started shouting in rhythm, “Yes! Yes!
Yes!”

Jones pointed at a man. “1 know you've been deaf
in one ear,” he spoke sternly. “Isn’t that right?”

“Yes, father,” he answered. I chuckled. The old
Mman was twice Jim Jones’s age.
“Now!” Jim shouted. “Ear? Start hearing.”

grabbed the microphone and «
“Now don’t be selfish. Think

a woman in the
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The audience went crazy. They crowded in
aisle with ushers holding them back. “Stop it
it!” Jones shouted. “Hold it down! Stop the
He turned back to a man in the audience. “You
name is Bernard.” He feigned a trance, “Bernard
Bernard. Oh, spirit, what is it?” Then suddenly he
shouted, “Bernard Hudson!”

“Yes,” the man nodded vigorously.

"1 know you've been in pain all your life!”
“Yes.”

to the
! Stt}p

The man was fairly new. I could just tell by the
naive expression on his face. Jones is really going to
work him over, I thought.

“You went to a doctor,” and then Jones called
names, dates, exact information. “The doctor said
you have a tumor. Is that right?”

“Yes,” his eyes were wide openin astonishment.

“Here’s what I want you to do.” He turned to the
crowd. “Everybody, the painis here.” He pointed to

the man. “Stretch your hands this direction. Okay,
here’s the pain.”

Jones touched him in the stomach. “Now!” he
shouted. Then calmly, “Okay, you go with the |
nurses in there and get rid of that tumor!”

The man ran to a room on the side, paused by the

door and turned back. “Thank you! Thank you!
Thank you!”

band

The man’s sudden enthusiasm struck the
audience funny. They all laughed as if to say, “See, |
weve been trying to tell you newcomers about
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' § > everything.”
Q;es Its‘ 7 true;o}H’L‘}:_lf;i\;z all right,” and waved

E Stmlleat?}i?mi}r.adc so what? Jim Jones had
hiffcl??;li‘zopowfer and virtue than that. L
ln"‘Isn’t-it wonderful to be with fa’cher.( . Ofc.this
Ij;mies said. “Isn’t it wonderful to be a pa
SDCiahSt,dI:;?;m_i show had improved in t}‘lt‘- s}.m{"t

. I fgleft. The messengers artived like htts
ie;::ss\:';lniggering in his ear. The number of sl_:)-calleqs
H?iracles had increased dramatically. l;[‘l; ei sC 0?1\1:&; \EOt
faster, with such astonishing scenes ‘rd e; I
figure out how they were staged an ‘a“ : .gift ][
flics have come oD o Chuistian ih

d? In the context of my new .

}v\iﬂiﬁlzed ifhe could possess some s.atarilc pz:;irzn

Though many wished that the mirac eiq \be{:(,]me
true, 1 soon learned that ]01‘1’65 had' ()}?Jmes. i
more professional at staging h1s., showd. s o
now burglarized regularlz‘ in or eg—iﬁg e
information to back up his presc;,-lzil&l_ S.

s mail was tampere :
th?f;lr:?\ifrir:ﬁ;ilhe nurses returned_“ith Wha::1 :::r;:
supposed to be the man’s tumor. ’Fhl’s \:las ;rt.s i
more realistic-looking one than the ammT }FP i
had been used at Redwood _Valleﬁf. ; >
cheered. Jones grabbed the microp onM.arx1 i

“I want you all to know that I was 4 rf.‘ s
Lenin! 1 was Jesus Christ and 1 ;;rfn Ea;king i
tonight!” The crowd went crazy and after
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the cheers for a long time he motioned for quiet,
There was an obedient hush.

Jones’s voice pierced the silence. “I am the secong
coming of Christ!” The audience went into a frenzy,

There, in the middle of the cheering crowd, |
spotted my mother. She turned and saw me. For just
seconds we gazed at each other over the gyrating
throng. Finally, she waved and rushed to the
baleony. I met her at the steps.

“Oh, honey, I'm so glad you are here,” she said,
Then she eyed me suspiciously. “Where’s the wife
you told me about in your letter?”

We walked to my seat in the balcony. She talked
to Vicki and took the baby and cuddled it and
laughed. “Oh, he’s so cute,” she said.

Carol was happy to see me but I sensed that she
approached me with caution. Jones had taught us
always to be suspicious of anybody who defected
from the family. Such traitors couldn’t be trusted. I
looked at Carol, now a beautiful young lady, and
wondered how brainwashed she had become.

We sat for another hour. I was restless, anxious to
talk to them both, foolish enough to think I could
shake their faith in Jones.

There were some dramatic moments in the
service. “Get that S.0.B. out of here. That man back
there is with the FBI! You get out of here—now!” he
screamed. The man, either a helpless visitor or 2
Jones plant, ran out with people cursing him.

“Mom, I haven't seen you in so long,” I said.
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: i d talk?”
4oould we go outside an 7 o
C;he frowned, but then agreed. We left the fbazy
ith Vicki and went outside. As soon as we lelt 1: g
::;ﬂding, I unloaded all the pent-up things 1 ha
d to tell her. S e
wi[‘:;f)m I'm a Christian,” I said. “I believe in Jesus.
i 3
“Don’t give me thats__!” She spat on the groun(.:l.1
“Pve been through that. Those preachers never dic
anything for me. Jim Jones is the only one who EV(—)T
did anything for me. Jim Jones doesn’t talk about
. A T”
sus—he is Jesus! e
]e“But mom. it’s not the preachers,” I 111515‘:6(%.]
“Preac};ers are just men. Jones is just a man. H‘e Wlal
fail you. All men eventually fail. There is a re
; > imitation.
s—a real person—not some 1mi
]eszleon’t give? me that!” she screamed and then
stalked off. S
“Carol,” I pleaded, turning to my little sister, “Tm
’ at least listen to me.”
your brother, at least e
“Jim Jones is the only god I've ever known,” she
said. e
“But. Carol, there is a real one—a real (,0(111, ,I
protested. “A God so big that Jim Jones looks cd e;;p
beside him. And Carol you can talk to God and He
loves you.” e
He: eyes darted back and forth nervously. z’%nd
the Jesus Jim talks about—Carol, therf: reall;lf is a
Jesus,” I said. “Jonesis not Jesus. Tl‘ne‘re. is areal one.
doesn’ is ; stuffl”
He doesn’t need all this phony s
Jack Beam came out and saw us together. Mother
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had probably sent him. He took one look and went

back into the temple lobby. A moment later he

returned, this time with four others, including I

, this >rs, including Lar

Leyton. 3

Phil,” Beam said, “is everything okay? How haye

yvou been?” .

: Oh fine,” I answered calmly. “We're just
visiting, I haven't seen my sister.”
W ell‘} I“really think we ought to go back in”

Btam salci‘ Jim has a lot ofimportant things to say.”

. _Qkay, Ipromised, “we'll be rightin. We arejust
visiting a minute.”
I really think Carol needs to come in,” he insisted

politely. .

! I was angry. This was all so ridiculous. “Look, this
is a free country,” I said. “Let her alone. Let Carol
decide.”

~ He {notioned with his hand. She looked into my
face .\ﬂf}] wonder as if I were a member of another
species, then she walked away.

: I was cr.ushed. I walked to the fence and looked up
into the night. Oh, God, God! Where is your power?
Is there a way to break these terrible chains around
my sister?

‘ Vickiwand I returned to the meetings from time to
ti me. We were careful to avoid attention. I thought if
I laid low I might be able to pick up information that
could expose the whole thing.

‘ One night Jones pointed his finger and a woman
tell over dead. It was a chilling performance. “I see
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i he screamed, pointing to the back of the

auditorium. “Your name is Janice Smith and you've

been selfish all your life. You've taken and taken but
you never give. You have been here three times and
hever once given an offering. I've had a vision,”
Jones paused. “Oh, no. Youre dead, ma'am. I'm
sorry. You're dead!”

A woman stood up, walked out and fell over in the
lobby. In the confusion, I slipped outside quickly.
An usher from the back announced, “She’s dead!”
The audience gasped.

An ambulance arrived within minutes. I watched
furtively from the side of the building while they
lifted her into the ambulance.

I raced to my car and roared down the street just
in time to pick up the siren. They went around afew
blocks and then stopped at the curb. The
supposedly-dead woman was now sitting upright,
talking nonchalantly to the usher. I drove on by and
went home.

At the time, I was working in a machine shop in
Southern California. Whenever possible, I pushed
the events of the People’s Temple away from my
thoughts but never for long. 1 felt a burden, a
responsibility, for Carol and mother.

On one occasion, filled with anger and frustration,
I went to the temple determined to come away with
evidence. From previous visits I had located the hub
of activity. It was a series of rooms directly behind
the stage. 1 had attempted to reach the area from the
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outside. Everything was locked. Once I had segy
Jack Beam roaming around a room in the back. He
was packing a pistol.

Now I had an idea. There may be an access to the
back stage through the basement. Perhaps it would
be less secure.

That night I wandered confidently into the
basement. There were people preparing cups of
Kool-Aid and making cookies. I initiated a
conversation with a woman and soon my confidence
jumped contagiously from one to the next. They
were all reassured.

I moved to the back stairway and slowly worked
my way up. I could hear voices in the room just
above me. There were shadows on the ceiling. From
my position I could not be seen either by the woman
in the basement or the persons just above me. At the
top of the stairs a guard was posted. Should I try to
bluff my way further or should I wait to see if he
leaves?

As it happened, I did not have to make that
decision. The guard was called away. I ascended the
stairs and was immediately confronted with a maze
of little rooms. I darted down a narrow hallway,
avoiding the voices around me.

There it was. The “inner sanctum”—Jim Jones's
room. I recognized his clothing. On a little bed were
hand-written notes. There were dozens of them.
They contained names and information for his
miracle performance. On the other side of the wall
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| -

"1 hear his voice.
M;Iig?od frozen, surprised by my find. I could reach

i+ @ i + handful of notes and show my
o . g:;:k };‘3 is a} fraud. Look at the handwriti.ng
mogifsr;me a,nd here is another. Whose handwriting
fm'this'r‘ They were all different. They came from
jiﬁ‘ere.nt me;sengers, ]ones’s stage assist,ants. Comje
on, mother, admitit, I would tell her, its all .p}.lon}:_.’
M1 mother, who owns no lmme: who g]fes ho
pe):'cent of her income to People's Temple, 'w 13
works all hours of the night to he’lp the cal}se,il \T ou1 -
probably have said, “So whu;? Jim ],(,mes is the only
ver did anything for me. i
Dn'?‘h\ﬁz \iere footsteps down the hallway. 1 ]U@?ei
away from the bed, stood near tl}e dO(.)m*Ialy ans
looked out—right into the face of Arghm. Jafne
“Hey,” 1 said cheerfully. “T've been loglong ior. éou.
“Phill” His face registered alarm. “How di yr()u
get back here? You can't be hcre. What ar.edy;zn;
doing?” He looked around as if he were worried 10
m ; -
e]ust bevond two sliding doors I cagght a Sllﬁlg?et?f
a foldiné table. It was piled high with 11thei
mountains of money. A group s'to.od arounc }EL
table. counting it all and putting it in m-_?at”stzfm s.
“you're not supposed to be here, Phil,” Ijames
Wa;?;ffﬁr011gh the quickest exit whicljl hafppened tol
lead me right into the front of the auditorium. l]ones
i 7 : isles i - middle of his act.
Was down one of the aisles in the middle
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He stopped, spotted me, and stared hard and Meay,
His ushers picked up on this signal and raced down
the aisle toward me. I left the temple, with the
ushers rushing me along.

When I got to the car I slumped over the steerip
wheel. Fraud was not enough. Even if I proved it,
the cause was greater than faked clairvoyance. My
mother and sister seemed lost to this madman.

After her Christian experience, my sister Ruth
had not talked much about Jones. It wasa depressing
chapter of her life, one she wanted to leave closed.
Now she opened up to me, trying to help me find the
flaw that might shake our mother and sister free.

Ruth’s own exit from People’s Temple had been
dramatic. She had boldly announced her departure,
calling Jones a phony and a liar. They all followed her
right up to  the gate—including Jones
himself—screaming and cursing at her. Others had
begged her to stay, but no one stopped her as she
walked right out. Those in the People’s Temple with
lots of self-confidence could get away with a scene
like that. There weren’t too many. People’s Temple
had a way of stealing your self-confidence.

Most importantly, Ruth provided me with the
names of persons in the family whose faith had been
shaken. These were people who had been ready to

leave at the time she bolted. Maybe I could play on
their doubts and get them to open up?
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exactly what happened and the news was

i kind of allegations were floating
E . ??d Jones was going far beyond
I Wli?)m(;s. There was talk of Se)u,;lal abu(:ie
tories about Maxine Harpe s Suict e
“family legend” there were

. That is

purglarizing
' nd murder. S
were coming back. In
now six mysteric .

s, There was great tear. . :
]m;(i:as so agitated and troubled. Could this be true

j WL
{ was concerned for all of them, not ]us.tdnT){‘c‘)tic
mother and sister. How could such i et{.;vu. S(,)
self-disciplined people be involved in something
inister? ; o
smE‘Srne morning 1 awakened ar?d found .Y-n_,yr;id
dismissing all these murder theories. Tll;lel} s{):;m;e
fdiculous in the light of d‘ay. T}:e (\; %?many i
Jones world seemed impossible. 1\0. ou e
my fears were born during my 1mprcssf. i
teenage years. What was real; what was 1antasyt
ere reasonable people. g
Thﬁ(?u?xfeyed to Ukiah to confront Archie Tjam ez.& ;(I:,
loved Archie. He had been like father Tt‘;) m:wcre
had worked together and wept together. These ,
' ht.
teasonable people, 1 thoug v
}?;ma Ijqn[a)es was pleased to see me. T}IF.: %mc;)lﬂitiy
in hif eyes swept away all the horrible stories. .
how have you been?”
“Can I talk to you?” I asked.

yus deaths. Rumors linked them to

' he said. “We've gotalot tc
“Phil I'm really busy,” he said. “We've gotalot to
do.n
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“Well, I've driven a long way. Please,” I sajq
“What is it?” Archie squinted at me.
“Listen,” I began awkwardly. “I've heard vou

used to be a Christian. You were a lay minister ing
church. You must know the difference between Jim |

Jones and God!”

Archie stared at me with a dumbfounded look on
his face. He was transfixed.

“Listen, please,” I begged. “I've found Jesus, the
real Jesus. I want you to know God loves you.
Archie, He still loves you.”

Archie paused calmly; then he erupted like a
volcano. “Don’t give me that s__!” The exact words
my mother had used. “You get the hell out of herel
Don’t bother mel”

I had never seen this gentle man explode like this.
He had often put his arm around me to encourage

me and tell me I was his son. The anger literally f

poured from him.

“Get him away from mel” he shouted.
0l

It was an astonishing scene. I felt like a priest
holding a crucifix in the face of a vampire. He could
not stand to hear about it I left.

The next day I sat in my car several blocks from
the People’s Temple. My contact came rushing up;
opened the door and jumped in. He sat for &
moment, catching his breath. “It’s getting bad,” he
said. “Jones’s sex life is really getting kinky. One Of_
my friends heard him say he can go to bed with any of

e |
S
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when they reach eighteen.

the girls

Ididn’t hear the rest of his information. Isat at the

ing wheel, paralyzed by grief and sicl'c to1 m}i
s:zz:lch 1 panicked, trying to figure out if Caro
s .

Were now seventeen or eighteen. Oh, God, how

fould you allow this? 1 was in agony. The Jones

balloon had to break. If it took leavi;.ﬂg my joblanfi
moving to San Francisco I would do it. If I cou : ne
tonvince my own mother, maybe I could co;;;»’mc_. .
the authorities, the district attorney, the California
ice Department. .
St&itiriziztfi}r a Iljig surprise. The nightmare of Jim
Jones was very real and his people were

everywhere.




Eight Mysterious Deaths

My inquiries into the so-called “Jones family
murders” began soon after our move to San
Francisco. 1 drove to the temple one night for a
tendezvous with an old friend of Ruth’s. As we had
aanged, 1 parked my car down the street and
waited for his arrival.

A young black man suddenly jumped into the car.
It was as if he had materialized from thin air. “You
Ruth’s brother?” he asked.
¢ “I'm Phil Kerns,” I said, a little frightened. “Yes,
I'm her brother.”

The youth opened up to me. There were things be
had been waiting to tell someone for months. He
! told how violent the beatings were becoming. He
! Bold of a young man who was commanded to take
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down his pants and expose himself in front of g

whole congregation. This was a punishment. “Apg

there have been murders,” he said.

“You can prove that?” I asked, sitting up quickly.

“Yes,” he promised. :
“You realize,” I said, “Jones has power. He ca

cover up almost anything. But if we can prove jugt

one murder we can get this whole thing shut down/”

He shook his head vigorously. “It can be done!” §

We only talked for a few minutes but I could see
he was obviously frightened. He warned that we
should set up a meeting for which he could obtaina
better alibi, something reasonable which could let
him get away long enough to tell what he knew.

I met him again the following month. His
information was very sketchy but it was a beginning
He suggested that one of Ruth’s old girl friends
would know more. I planned to meet her the-very
next night but I was in for an unexpected occurrence:

My mother showed up instead. She was intensely
angry!

“Mom, what’s wrong?” I asked innocently. I was
not sure if she had just stumbled onto mé
accidentally or someone had spotted me and alerted
her.

“What are you doing here?” she snapped. “You'ré
a traitor!”

“Mom,” I pleaded.

“Look at this car!” She was shocked. I was driving

a cheap little import but to her it was bourgeoisi€
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and to0 materialistic. “What are you doing running

gt 5 . & p”
qround in this fancy sports car!
“Mom, it's okay,” I said. Then I grabbed her and

L peld her. For only seconds there was a slight

response. Then as if acting on a stage, she puued
My mechanically. She sneered at me, her beautiﬁaé
face contorted in an ugly expression. She turnec‘l an
walked off. 1 would never see my mother again.

My three years in the Bay area were thf: mos(’i
frustrating of my life. The Jones fam?iy dete}'lorat_e
rapidly. The violence and sex stories increased. Still,
there was nothing to prove murder. I drove
hundreds of miles, racking up thousands of dollars
worth of phone calls. I didn’t have much to show 'for
all the time and money except rumors and the kind
of evidence that works perfectly on a TV murder
mystery but holds no water in a courtroom.

YI'hz?; were eight mysterious deaths related to Fhe
People’s Temple. I had organized some inforr_nat] on
about them, and 1 was probing for every piece of
first-hand information I could get.

1. Maxine Harpe. On March 28, 1970, she was
found swinging from a noose. According to the
Goroner’s report, she had stood on a trunk, tied a
heavy cord around the rafters of her garage, wound
the cord around her neck and jumped. A lot of
People in the Jones family were suspicious of the
50-called suicide. Now I learned we had not been the
only ones. Carolyn Pickering, reporter for the
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Indianapolis Star, had been asking questions. The
San Francisco Examiner ran an article. But the
newspapers had come up with nothing substantia]
What I learned from friends was sickening,
Maxine had begun dating Jim Randolph, one of Jim
Jones’s henchmen. Jones was jealous of thei
relationship. My friend overheard him say, “Maxine
needs to have her attention focused on me, not Jim
Randolph!” He wanted Maxine’s total loyalty.
According to another friend, Jim Jones had told
Randolph to “destroy the relationship.” Maxine was
tearful and upset. Jones, furious because she
mourned her lover, had taunted her. “Why don’t you
just kill yourself? Get it over with!” This statement
was also overheard by my second source. Another
friend said Jones had sneered at her and told her that
“at least Judas had the guts to kill himself.”
Finally, in his bitterness and wrath, Jones had
prophesied her suicide before a small gathering.
Maxine herself was present. That was the week in
which I had seen her troubled and frightened. No
wonder! Jones’s prophecies, including automobile
accidents, were always fulfilled. In fact, on one

occasion he announced to the audience, “The |
prophet is responsible to make the prophecy come §

true.”
The night of her death Maxine did a strange thing
for one who was contemplating suicide. But it was &
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ehﬂ;lren home with her. The house was full of

children. Tom Ijames, James Moore, Danny Harpe,
\athy Harpe and another little sister. The oldest was

ten, At 1:30 A. M. Tom Ijames wandered out into the
e and found Maxine hanging from the rafters.

The little children then called the People’s Temple.
Maxine’s children and babies watched as temple
members removed a Jim Jones healing cloth frf)m
her body. The house was ransacked and anything
which could identify the temple was removed.

There is a final bizarre note to this tragedy. Years
later, after the 1978 mass suicides, I contacted a
former member of the People’s Temple council. She
iSnow a Christian and was troubled by the fact that
she had introduced Maxine tothe cult. She had been
present at a meeting shortly after Maxine's supposed
sticide. It was a closed meeting, with approximately
SiXty in attendance. Jim Randolph was brought
before the group whereupon Jones began to rant and
fave at him. “You know you did it!” According to the
eyewitness, Randolph did not break, even after
Jones verbally worked him over.

2. Emily Leonard. She was an elderly white
Woman who lived in South San Francisco. She had
Wrned her property over to the temple and then a
Storm began. Relatives convinced her she had made

| #Mistake. Emily and her relatives secured legal help
perfectly understandable thing for one who was fearing |
murder. Maxine had asked if she could take several |

and planned to go to court. She died that same week’.
Shortly thereafter, a Mr. Wade Medlock and his
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wife were confronted at the temple in Los Angeleg
Jeannie Myrtle told me that they were asked to .sig[;
over their property to the church or die. Jones hag
allegedly said, “One person attempted to get her
property back and I killed her.”

3. Azrie Hood. She was an elderly woman whe
wrote Birdy Maribelle and Ross Case, two Ukiah
friends who were not members of the temple. Azrie
was a member of the People’s Temple in Marshall
Texas, who wanted out. She warned that her
telephone had been tapped. Birdy, Ross and Brenda
Ganatos were planning to give her money to fly from
the Shreveport, Louisiana, airport to San Francisco
where they would pick her up.

The old woman declined their- offer, and in 2
possibly fatal mistake, used her telephone to tell her
friends she would not bother them for money. She
would just wait for her Social Security check whidh
was to come the first of the month. Azrie Hood
disappeared within hours of that phone call. She has
never been found.

4. Leo Blair. He owned a little grocery store in
Redwood Valley. Allegedly, Jim Jones wanted it:
Blair said, “Nol” Suddenly, he found himself in 2
gigantic mess. Two young temple girls claimed he
had molested them. There was a lot of hatred and
venom coming forth from temple members. !
remembered Leo. He had impressed me as being
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lind man. I'm sure he was stunned by the organized
harassment which suddenly descended on him.
Jones never did get his property, but Blair didn’t
have it much longer either. He committed suicide.

5 Curtis Buckley. The story was that Buckley had
overdosed. Three things about this bothered my
friends. One, the fact that Buckley wasn’t known to
have ever taken drugs. Two, he had been observed
garrying a large amount of cash into the temple on
the day he died. Three, the complaints of Janet
Schuller, his stepmother. She declared his medical
records had been tampered with. The Buckley case
bothered me even more than the others, but it was
the one with the least evidence to indicate foul play.

" I was troubled by Buckley’s friends who were very
intense and seemed very convinced that he had
been murdered. On paper that means nothing but
hearing it from those who knew him was quite a
different story.

6. John Head. On September 27, 1975, two
People’s Temple members visited John. He was
escorted to a bank where he withdrew some money.
He then turned it over to the temple. The next day
Head told his mother he was going to live with the
Jones people. On October 19, he reportedly
committed suicide. ‘Allegedly, he jumped from a
building. Many family members felt he had been
pushed.
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The coroner’s report was confusing. Mrs. Heag
the boy’s mother, was suspicious. Various page;
reported different accounts of his death—that John
had jumped from a bridge, from a thrce~story
warehouse, and another page indicated he had
simply died at 212 North Vignes Street. The report
stated that there were no scars on his body, but his
mother wondered how they could miss a giant scar
on his leg. This remained from a motorcycle accident
and had required three hundred stitches.

Mrs. Head wanted an inquiry. The Los Angeles
Coroner’s Department refused.

7. Truth Hart. Truth was an elderly black lady,
living at the Maribelle Rest Home. Truth had diedin
very mysterious circumstances. According to one
eyewitness, it was murder.

Jones’s very idealistic operation began quite
generously in its ministry to the elderly. As Jones’s
own ego soared and his personality deteriorated, he
began his exploitation of the older members. Those
on Social Security or disability were required to turn
checks over to the temple. In return, the cult began
providing them with less and less.

Jean Foley was typical of those who would try to
hold some of their checks back. Sometimes she
would be locked in her room and her blankets would
be taken away.

Not all the rest homes deteriorated to the level of 2
concentration camp. Birdy Maribelle ran a clean
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ship. She had beena member of People’s Temple for

. sme time but when some of the residents of her
»

own home were exploited, she quit. Sh.e object_ed
'énly——a brave thing to doin the little city of U lq‘al‘l

:.?here most offices, including that of the shei'lﬁ,

Sere thought to be controlled by the Jones people.

When a Mendocino County newspaper
investigated the situation, Birdy talked openly t()
them. She reported that a Harvey Lawson was
forcibly removed from her rest home. I‘{L was
hauled out, tied up in a sheet, kicking an(? flailing at
his kidnappers. “Jones wants us to bring him dead or
alive,” People’s Temple members had told her.

The Truth Hart incident began in 1974. Hart
started to speak out in the services of the temple and
this irritated Jim Jones. There were reports that she
had been complaining behind his back. ;

Numerous witnesses remember a public
prophecy that had been given by Jim Jones. He was
in his full acting character, his omnipotent posture,
when impulsively he stated, “That woman will die
soon!” ,

Shortly thereafter, the People’s Temple
Organizc(i a bus trip to the East Cna:.;t, Jones t_Ulfl
Birdy Maribelle to pack her bags. Birdy WOU]L.l.Tlt
leave her responsibilities at the rest home. Jim
arranged for the temple people to take over a.nd then
encouraged others to talk Birdy into the trip.

Birdy finally did leave and Mary Black took over.
According to witnesses, Mary Black was also known
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as Mary Love, a former worker for Father Divine,
the black preacher who claimed to be God.

The rumors began to pick up. According to
“family legend,” Truth Hart was pinched and
tormented by Black. She was put in a bathtub, they
pulled out. According to eyewitnesses, a pill wag
given to Hart. She was told to drink a glass of water,
She then laid on her bed and died.

One of the witnesses was Janie Brown who said,
“Look, she’s already dead!” Another witness was
Ella May Hoskins. :

The coroner arrived and, according to Hoskins,
without any examination, the doctor simply asked,
“How did she die?”

Mary Black allegedly said, “Heart attack.”

Birdy Maribelle began to suspect she had been
lured away from Ukiah so they could get to Hart.
While back East she made some remark of concern
about Hart to Jim Jones. Jones said, “It’s better this
way, Birdy.”

The two eyewitnesses in Ukiah were crusty old
women who were not easily intimidated at first.
They suspected murder. Janie Brown stood in 2
public meeting to declare, “I don’t care what
anybody says about Truth Hart; I know what really

happened!”

Days after this public announcement—on January
29, 1975—Janie Brown also died. Her death was not
reported to the coroner and the line on her death
certificate contains no signature of the coroner’s
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me. &
l"afiewerend Case, a local pastor, was troubled. He

Sbtained testimonies from all involved and
sented it to the police, the sheriff's department,
and the district attorney. He got now’hefe. T};e
assistant district attorney was People’'s Temple
r, Tim Stoen.
mi\n:lbfntensiﬁed harassment of Case now began,
including threats of death. Attempts to see'the
minister lose his job as a public school teach(?r ﬁ.nled.
A temple member went to the principal claiming t_o
have had homosexual acts with Case and my own
mother, Penney duPont, testified that sihe had
personally witnessed it. In the Case situation, the
man’s personal integrity proved even greater tha.n
all the temple resources. He survived i?ut his
inquiry into the death of Truth Hart had failed.
There is one postscript to the Hart story. The -
other witness, Ella May Hoskins, is still living. A:fte‘r
the mass suicides, Doug Wead, the co-author of this
book, made contact with Ella May. The woman was
frightened and unwilling to talk. A second attempt
proved successful, however. Members of the }‘est
home had seen the author on the PTL Club
television program. Ella May opened up,
confirming the whole story. :
“Was tiis just a family legend that grew with
time?” Wead asked. “Or were the residenju’;, of the
home immediately suspicious of the deathi .
Ella May Hoskins answered clearly, “We all
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believed it was murder—immediately!”

8. Bob Houston. The most famous of the temple’s
mysterious deaths had this intellectual and sensitive
man as the victim. On orders from Jones he had
divorced his wife and married one who was chosen
for him. Jones ordered him to move into a slum
apartment to take care of twenty-four children. He
and his wife maintained fifty-hour work weeks,
turning over 10,000 dollars a year to the temple. They
were true humanitarians and socialists.

Bob’s problem was his colorful intellect. He could
not keep it under wraps and the threatened Jones
retaliated. Houston was beaten for every minor
infraction. These so-called disciplinary actions took
place in front of the whole congregation with
Houston's children looking on in terror. A larger
man would beat on him until Jones would call a halt.
His widow told the San Francisco Examiner that
Jones laughed during one of these scenes.

Eventually, Joyce Shaw, his new wife, left the
temple. Bob Houston suddenly became the literal
whipping boy. Everybody jumped on him. The

pressure increased. Ever the intellectual and
philosopher, he thought there was some hidden
reason or special kindness Jones was trying to
communicate through these actions.

Meanwhile, Bob’s parents longed to see their
granddaughters. The visits were “controlled” and
the elder Houstons were told that if they wanted to
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and Judy gifts they had to give similar gifts

3 all the other children in the commune. Bob loved
poall

ghters but displayed no public favoritism and
his socialist duty when he was ordered to

: them.
¢ separated from |
bAsepme brutal storm rose, Houston seemed to

remain unaware of the strangeness of events. He
Mlnew he had special talents and took on two jobs to

help the family. In the nights hff: served as a
switchman in the Southern Pacific rail yalz‘ds. One of
my sources spoke of meeting him there. “Bob was a
meticulous man. He always wore his gloves to kef:p
his hands clean. He never took his gloves off while
working. But when I approached him he took Uﬁ"l
glove and reached out with a clean hand to S%la.k(:t.

On October 2, 1976, Bob Houston, brllha].lt,
Semsitive—yet blind to the anger his socialist purity
Gised—was found dead. His body was mangled on
the tracks. His glove was found neatly on a Qoupl.er
iearby. Everyone was asking the question. .l'i ad BOE;
been approached by someone before his de.l.ath.
Someone he recognized? Someone he naively
gteeted with a gloveless handshake?

Pat and Judy? Their grandparents longed for
em. They were whisked to New York for a
Vacation., Actual destination? Guyana. Jones was
8tablishing a model socialist commune in South
8merica. The older Houstons had more tragedy

&fore them.
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These eight mysterious deaths
kind of inquiry. As sketchy as my information was, if
was still enough to prompt some kingd of
investigation in normal circumstances. But these
were not normal times or normal people.

Jones had friends everywhere. In 1975, he

delivered a block of votes to help elect San Franciseg @

mayor, George Moscone. The thankful Moscons
made Jones chairman of the housing authority,
District Attorney Joe Freitas and the San Franciseo
Chronicle city editor were also friends. In fact
Freitas was described by members of the family asa
“close, close friend,” probably to frighten and
discourage anyone from going to him with charges.

I felt like an ant climbing a growing mountain, |
was getting somewhere, all right, but the mountain
had grown more than I had climbed. Jones’s massive
letter-writing campaign extolled the virtues of his
social work. This brought commendations from
America’s great Democratic Party leaders, including
Hubert Humphrey and Henry Jackson. Gov. Jerry
Brown visited the People’s Temple and, from the
pulpit I had built, praised Jim Jones. While on the
campaign trail, Rosalynn Carter dined with Jones
the Stanford Court Hotel.

Maybe Jones was right. Maybe he was going to b
aworld leader. Maybe he would take over the wholé
state, the whole country! Maybe I'd end up in 3
People’s Temple concentration camp.

The whole thing was destroying me. Poring over |
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of these mysterious: deaths had
yery healthy. My personal career was
Vicki was frightened. After four months of
ching I sighed in desperation and gave up. I
esigned myself to the fact that I had temporarily lost
:nymother'and sister. I could not let that know]edg,zi
destroy me and my little family. We packed up a?
moved to Oregon to start a new life toge’ther, As far
281 was concerned, Jim Jones was behind me.




eight

Absolute Power—
Total Depravity

Freed from the fears surrounding Jones's
immediate presence, I could take time to reflect on
my experience. The more I thought about it, the
more angry and guilty I became. I could not abandon
my mother and sister. Given the same set of
Gircumstances, they would have lovingly and
Stubbornly pursued me until I was free.

In the libraries of Portland, Oregon, I began to
Put together an interesting profile of Jim Jones.
Then, one night while watching a Bell Telephone
®mmercial, I decided to call some old friends in
San Francisco. My telephone investigation proved
fl'llstra‘ring at first but eventually I built up quite a
Network of sources. I found people were willing to
talk from within the confines of an untapped
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telephone booth especially if the voice on the othe

end of the line was in Portland, Oregon. Ruth apg ;

Jeanette provided names of old friends both in apg
out of the temple.

The picture that emerged was one of 4
spellbinding megalomaniac who maintained a public
image of social justice and sacrificial humanism but
who subjugated his followers to absolute obedience
through sexual intimidation, threats of violence,
mob pressure, and constant indoctrination.

His public representation was still so good that
politicians bent over backwards to obtain his favor.
His People’s Temple following in- California was
considered the largest Protestant church in the
state, and it carried sizable political clout.

Jones’s list of direct and indirect political
connections grew rapidly during the mid-1970s.
California Gov. Jerry Brown considered appointing
Jones to the state Board of Corrections, ‘and the
governor was among several prominent politica]
leaders present at a People’s Temple
commemorative ceremony honoring the birth of
Martin Luther King. In 1976, California’s then Lt
Gov. Mervyn Dymally visited the new Jonestow?
commune in South America. The project showed
signs of hope.

The high-ranking temple official, Tim Stoen, was
a deputy district attorney in Mendocino County;
California, and he later became deputy district
attorney in San Francisco. The cult maintained
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temples in both areas under Stoen’s jurisdiction.
ffhere were accusations that Stoen had used his
suthority to illegally obtain property for the cult and
to cover up temple improprieties.

The religious community, perhaps out of

"tolerance, appeared to condone Jones’s “ministry,

or at least that portion of it which was known
publicly.

The Disciples of Christ had ordained Jones in
1964, and evidently did not find enough proof to
defrock the controversial minister even after
aberrations in doctrine began to leak out from
behind the walls of People’s Temple.

Jones allegedly was affiliated with other
denominations along the way, including an
independent Pentecostal church. Jones served on
the staff of the church in Indianapolis for two years,
until the senior pastor sensed the young minister
was spiritually unsound. Jones reportedly tried to
make inroads into the Indiana Assemblies of God,
and brought large groups to their Indianapolis
fellowship meetings. The Assemblies carefully
steered clear of Jones’s activities, however, and
declined to recognize his ministry with ordination.

People who knew Jim Jones in his hometown of
Lynn, Indiana, saw at least two sides to the
youngster’s personality. On the one hand, he was
compassionate toward stray animals, and often could
be seen leading a parade of pets down the street. But
“others recalled that by the first grade Jimmy’s
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vocabulary had been well-stocked with gutte
expletives, and that he had possessed the abilit tr
herd other children about at will, a]ternatie}?
whipping them into line and preaching to them in a}
old barn. One neighbor observed that the Jones l.)on-
would either do a lot of good, or become anothei
Hitler.

Like Hitler and Lenin and George Washington
and Jefferson, Jones’s father died while he was
young. A neighbor who babysat with Jimmy while
his mother worked saw to it that the boy attended
the local Nazarene church regularly. In high school
Jones was described as reserved, and a roommate a!t
I_ndiana University, where Jones attended for a
time, recalled the young man as being unfriendly
and “weird.” ;

After about ten years of intermittent studies at
Butler University, Jones obtained a Bachelor of Arts
degree in education. He met a nurse in the hospital
where he worked part-time. Marceline Baldwin
became Jones’s first and only wife, a relationship
which helped contribute to his public image despite
the fact that in the latter days of his reign, F ather
Jones committed adultery on a near daily basis with
scores of People’s Temple members, both men and
women.

’ Jones pastored a small Methodist church for a
t1mf:, but reportedly left when members scorned his
prointegration programs. After stints at several
other churches, Jones opened the first People’s
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Temple in Indianapolis in 1955, amultiracial, liberal

Work complete with a soup kitchen for the poor and
hungry. The Joneses eventually adopted eight

hildren of different races. And in 1961, Jones made

his first political inroad by accepting an appointment
a5 director of the Indianapolis Human Rights
Commission.

‘In the early 1960s, Jones seemed to become more
aware of his uncanny ability to lead people where he
wanted them to go. He came under the influence of
the obsessed black cultist, Father Divine, and soon
adopted many of Divine’s doctrines, including an
insistence that his followers be fanatically devoted to
him alone.

Finances became the center of focus for Jones. He
traded in his old Ford for a new black Cadillac, and
began making land deals. He began insisting that
followers turn over their money and property to
him. A People’s Temple nursing home, supposedly a
paradise of loving care, was revealed to be a
crowded, unsanitary prison, with inmates who were
forced to attend People’s Temple services. The
members were warned that if anyone died on the
crowded bus rides, they were not to tell about it.

Jones began denouncing the Bible long before I
joined the temple. At first he simply denied beliefin
the Virgin Birth, but later he spoke out against the
whole book. He began his little ceremony of spitting
on the Bible and using great profanity to curse it.
One got the impression that he was jealous of the
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book.

Long before the Redwood Valley Church began,
Jones started to reveal his growing paranoia about a
nuclear holocaust. In 1962 he moved from Indiana to
Belo Horizonte, Brazil, supposedly one of the safest
places in the world. He later visited Guyana, then
returned to the States. By this time he was telling
people he was Jesus Christ. Later on he would claim
to be the reincarnation of Buddha, Lenin, and
Father Divine.

Jones staged his first “healings” in Indianapolis
before leaving for Brazil. “Cured” members would
go to the bathroom and return with a bloody glob
which Jones said was the cancer.

Predicting that the end of the world was coming
July 15, 1967, Jones led about 100 followers to
another nuclear safety zone—Ukiah, California.
Though some of these emigrants dropped out as
Jones pressed them to recognize him as God, the
leader’s unexplainable magnetism gathered in new
followers and by 1970 Jones claimed People’s
Temple had 5,000 members.

The Jim Jones who presented himself to news
media wearing threadbare suits and worn shoes was
quite a different person from the Jones who ruled his
“loving” flock with an iron rod. One girl who had
accompanied Jones from Indianapolis was punished
three times by being belt-whipped. Her infraction:

phoning her parent. Jones told her he was God and
she should not need anyone or anything else.
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A four-year-old boy on a People’s Temple
eamping trip would not eat all his food, so Jones bej‘at
him with a belt and told the boy to eat. The 'ch]ld
threw up, and the m erciless “father” forced him to
eat the vomit. . .

Jones seemed to enjoy supervising heaPngs. He‘
itroduced the infamous four-foot-long board of
education,” a heavy paddle used for punishment,
about the same time that I was planning my escape.
The paddle was used for such cf‘iminil acts as
smoking or inadvertently offending dad.” One girl
was hit seventy-five times with the paddle for
embracing an old friend whom Jones thought was a
Jesbian. After beatings, penitent victims were
required to say, “Thank you, father,”“aiter which
Jones would embrace them, tell th?m father loves
you,” and assure them they were ~stronger people
now.” Such spankings enabled him to trust them.

In 1971, the People’s Temple headquarters was
moved to éun Francisco. It was there, in 1973, that
the first suicide drill was held following the defection
of eight temple ntembers. Jones told the puoplc
present, after giving them cups of wine and Urdeng
them to drink it, that they had just imbibed poison
and would be dead in thirty minutes. For the first
“loyalty test,” Jones cleverly waited till everyone
had already drunk the beverage to announce it was
Poison. In later suicide drills, fanatical followers
voluntarily drank the supposedly-lethal 1i(115|id,
probably figuring “father” would not really consider
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killing them.

Jones’s sexual gluttony became another focal
point. The egotistical leader insisted he only had sex
with his followers to satisfy their needs. In frequent
temple meetings, sometimes lasting till dawn, Jones
repeatedly bemoaned his fate as a sex object. The
constant bedroom demands of female followers
drained him of his powers, he contended. He forced
members to say they were homosexuals and
lesbians, and that he was the only true heterosexual.
Nonetheless, he frequently demanded sexual
liaisons with male followers, often using the
encounters as psychological blackmail. And despite
his professed reluctance as a “sex object,” Jones
required all the women closest to him to have sex
with him regularly.

He presented himself as the “only legitimate
object of sexual desire,” and although he had temple
members beaten for any acts of homosexuality, real
or imagined, he himself bragged about homosexual,
as well as heterosexual, encounters. The cult leader
taught night classes for a time in a local school
districtin Mendocino County, and students recalled
that Jones spent much of the class time discussing his
personal sex life and presenting his pet sexual
theories. Armed guards accompanied him to the
classroom, and Jones would not tolerate extended
disagreements with his statements. The impromptu
sex lectures came during history and civics classes.

Finances for People’s Temple members were
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Mirly simple: everything went to Jim Jones. Families

signed over homes, property, and paychecks to the
temple. To raise additional money for the cult, some
members occasionally begged on street corners.

Members who did not live in the church had to
ithe 2 minimum of 25 percent of their earnings.
Those living on church property gave everything to
Jones, who returned to them a two dollar weekly
allowance.

In addition to sexual intimidation and financial
imprisonment, part of the People’s Temple program
of eontrol included erosion of the family structure.
Children were encouraged to inform on parents and
Vice versa. Spouses reported on their mate’s
infractions of temple rules. Parents were
commanded to make up written “confessions” of
sexual abuse inflicted on their own children.
Youngsters recited prepared speeches about their
mothers or fathers who did not belong to the temple.
On many occasions Jones ordered followers to
tivorce husbands or wives who would not take his
Oiders, or who refused to willingly hand over the
ﬁ'l_m:ily’s money.

Incredibly, very little of this kind of damning
Wformation could get to the public. Disenfranchised
ilt members, fearing for their lives, seldom made a

88. Those of us who did speak up were invariably

L8t with excuses from government authorities and

Bolice: insufficient evidence. Jones’s friendly
*elations with local media and politicians helped
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squelch unfavorable reports.

From my home in Portland, Oregon, I watched 8

and waited and prayed.

nine

Jones Has His Pick

Information which came to me from sources in
San Francisco indicated that a South American
People’s Temple commune was being planned.
People were being shipped to Guyana. I s]lamme.d
fown the telephone receiver and rushed into the
bedroom of my Portland, Oregon, home.

I'm going down there to get my mother and
Sister,” T told Vicki as I packed.

She begged and pleaded but there was no
opping me.

QI‘)Ipdoﬁ)’t care what it takes,” I told her. “I'll go tothe
Dolice. the district attorney, the newspapers, the TV
statior;s. I'll raise a ruckus. I'll get something going: 1
timed and looked full into Vicki’s face. “If they ship
Mom and Carol to South America I'll never get them
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back.”
My wife helped me load the car with the box

letters and papers and notes I had collected abou

Jones. She begged me not to go one more time ang|
then kissed me goodbye with a look of fear ;[{:
loneliness in her eyes. - 4
The Human Freedom Center in Berkeley had
been established by ex-Jones family members. Thei
little brochure reads, “Dedicated to helping péople -

assume personal responsibility for their own lives.”

The ex-members at the center lived in fear. Oned
these, Jeannie Myrtle, had been a part of the Jones
inner circle. : :

E arrived at her house exhausted and curious.

Come on in,” she said. I followed her into the
kitchen and sat down to some coffee. On the counter
were a couple of guns.

“I'm so glad I'm out,” she said excitedly, “but he
sent my children to South America.” ]’eann,ie. was 50
nervous she couldn’t stay seated. “I want you {0
kn‘ow, Phil, I'm writing a book. I'm going to ;:onsf
this mess. Before they sent her away, my owl
daughter broke into this place try'iﬁg to gel
information on us.” :

“Calm down, Jeannie,” I said. “Please, can you
help me locate my mother and sister? I've heard
about them shipping people to South America, I't}
worried. I want to get them out.”

“I saw your mother at the church services,
Jeannie said. s

esof i
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¥hank God,” I said. “Where does she live now?”

Jeannie Myrtle didn’t know. “Check with Neva
gly. She was a good friend.”

Mr. Myrtle stepped into the kitchen, said hello to
me, and began to brew some more coffee. The
telephone rang and Jeannie ran into the other room
to answer it. I could overhear the conversation for
just a few seconds, then she shut the door.

“Were trying to get our kids out,” Mr. Myrtle
said.
“Can you help me?” I asked. “Ruth and Jeanette
are out. I've got to get to Carol and mom.”

“We've contacted a private investigator,” Myrtle
said. “He’s going to help us get our children. You can
contact the district attorney’s office here in San
Francisco. They're trying to get something going.
There have been charges of poll-tampering,
jury-tampering and murder.”

“Tell me about the murders,” I said while I satup.

“There’s nothing,” he said. “It’s all just hearsay.
No concrete evidence. The poll-tampering has the
best chance. Everybody knows Jones can deliver the
Votes. We're trying to prove that some of these
Boliticians actually purchased them.”

Myrtle’s hand shook slightly as he held his coffee
QUp. It was obvious the Myrtles were frightened.

Jeannie returned to the kitchen. “Oh, Phil, it’s
bad; jt’s bad!” She was too excited to sit down. “Jones

s bragging about his sexual capabilities. He tells
dll the council that he should bless them by having sex
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with their wives and they all say Yes, Jim, yes, Jim’*
“That’s sick, Jeannie.” .
She went on to describe an instance when Jongg

used sex as a form of punishment fg
insubordination.

I looked at her skeptically.

“I was present, Phill” she shouted at me. “And§

l‘le’s al\:vays saying to the men in front of their wives,

Now I'm the greatest stud here, and they all say, Yes
Jim.” He's telling them not to have sex with each
other—just his picture. And all girls eighteen or over
are his if he chooses—"~

Okay, okay,” I stopped her. “I've heard all that
garbage.”

A man is beaten until his tormentor is exhausted,
then another man will take over and the beating
continues. Jim just loves it.”

I've heard, Jeannie. I've heard. Calm down,” ]
said.

“Did you hear about your own mother?”
I grabbed the chair with my hands until my
}fnuck]es turned white but I asked very calmly;
What happened?”

“Your mother has been giving Jim a rough time.

“Go on,” I urged.

“Jones told a big group, Tm tired of this woma®
and her complaints. Mr. Silvers, you take care d
Penney duPont. You have sex with her every night
and make her submit to you, and give me a rep.Ort
once a week. Make her submit!” he shouted.”
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Outwardly I remained calm. Inside, though, Iwas

' furious, even hysterical. I gripped the chair tightly,
“ind Carol?”

Sehe's fine right now,” Jeannie said. “She’s one of
the most brainwashed in the whole church. She
Always helped fix the food. Now she’s a courier.
ghe's one of Jones’s favorites.” ;

Tt hurt so badly and so deeply that I wanted to get
away to be alone but I knew I needed all the
iformation 1 could get. “Carol’s a beautiful woman
now, isn’t she?”

“Yes, she is, and Phil,” Jeannie warned, “Jones
has made it clear he has his pick of the women in the
church.”

“God,” 1 prayed, “Carol hasn't had a chance.”

“You've heard about the suicide pact?” she asked.

“g o friends have been telling me,” I said.
“What does it all mean?”

Jeannie shrugged, “They just had one in the
council meeting. Everybody drank the substance;
everybody thought it was poison. Grace Stoen went
erazy and Jim called her a traitor. He told us it was
JUst a test to see who was truly loyal. Now they're
having regular suicide drills with everybody.”

Jeannie’s flow of information had momentarily
stopped. Then she gave one more parting piece of
advice, “Phil, if they know you're here looking for
Your mother and sister, they'll ship them to Guyana. =

I nodded, “That’s the chance 1 have to take. If 1
don’t get them out now, th ey1l end up there anyway
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some day.”

The district attorney’s office was in a large
building in downtown San Francisco. I had to 20
through a metal detector, then up an elevator, and
into a plush office. They gave me one of the district
attorney's investigators.

“They're shipping my mother and sister to
Guyana,” I told them. “Can you help me? Why can't
you do anything about this Jones guy?”

“All right, Mr. Kerns,” he said. “You give us all
the information you have and then we will see what
we can do about your mother and sister.”

“Look,” I said. “I want them out of that temple.
They've been kidnapped.”

“First you're going to answer my questions or you
get nothing from us,” he snapped.

Some other investigators came in. “What do you
know about the murders?” one of them asked. T was
suspicious—maybe even paranoid. _

“I don’t have much time,” I said. “You guys aren't
going to help me. I've got to get moving or I'm going
to lose my sister.”

The D.A. slammed his fist on the desk. “I don't
have much time either, Mr. Kerns! Now you
cooperate with us and we'll cooperate with you.”

I started to walk out.

“"What do you know about the murders, Kerns?”

Now I was getting just a little frightened. The
rumors of Jones and the D.A.’s office haunted me:
Why were their questions zeroed in on the murders?
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8 Had they found out I had been studying the issue

the last few years? Why not questions on poll-
fampering, or beatings or real estate fraud?

I told them a little about the Buckley boy and Bob
Houston. I shrugged as I talked as if it were all
hearsay and third-hand, though some was not.

“Mr. Kerns, you aren’t supposed to go around
looking for things,” the D.A. said. “You aren't an
investigator!”

“Good!” I laughed angrily. “You go talk to temple
members and see how far you get.”

“Where can we contact you, Mr. Kerns?” he
asked.

“Look, we made a deal,” I answered him. T told
¥ou what I know. What about your part of the
bargain? Get my mother back.”

“T'm sorry we can’t go in,” he answered with a
Smile. “We have to furnish probable cause that a
Grime is going to be committed. You can’t furnish
that, so we can’t furnish your mother and sister.”

“He’s trying to ship them to Guyana!” I shouted.

The district attorney smiled. “What do you want
e to do about it?”

I stalked down the hall with a man following me.
He stood by the elevator but didn’t go down with
e, [ got to the lobby, a little uncertain and
Cnfused. The man who had followed me came
huffing and puffing down a large nearby corridor. He

d evidently taken the stairway. I stepped into the
®lephone booth and faked a call in order to have
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time to think.

A TV crew stood nearby. I w
Maybe the district attca;.‘?_lf.‘:\_r"f; office was up tg
something. I walked over to one of the TV newsn,

5 frightened,

and spilled my whole story. He smiled, quite taken
aback, then even broke into laughter. I'm sure |
couldn’t follow all that I told him but my urgency anc
fear was communicated realistically enough.

£

By o SN E:
Listen,” he said. “You need an attornev. Ther

one right downtown here who's the best, His
is Marvin Lewis. If you can get over there you'll
safe.” : o
_ Okay, I thought. Let’s see what they're going to
do now. I walked out. The man from u;.'.,\st'aj.‘-:‘-:'s didn't
follow me but, outside, an unmarked car with a small
antenna on the back pulled up. I walked a half block
with the car following slowly.
This can’t be, I thought. This is crazy; this can't
Fb&; I'm just a young man, I don’t know anything,
3 y tollowing me around? I took off down
an alleyway, hearing the squeal of tires behind me. |
ran into the back of a store, took my coat off, folded it
over my arm and went out onto the front street.
Pcifh:eips with different lights and in a crowd they
would not spot me, I'hoped. One thing was for sure,
I was not going to my car and let them get ahold of
my license number. d ;
Within seconds, the unmarked car showed up.
The car slowed, then stopped at the corner,
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another car took over. I walked a few blocks and
frned a couple of corners to sati sfy myself thatit was
Hot all imaginary. Then I became furious. What an
isult to my integrity! What a waste of money! How
Stupid! They should be following Jim Jones.

I walked up to the curb and waved the car to a
stop. “Sir, I'm Phil Kerns. Why are you guys
following me?” 1 inquired. “What's your name?”

He laughed and identified himself as a police
Sergeant. “We aren’t following you. We're on duty.”

“What's that?” I asked, pointing to the hearing aid
he was wearing.

“That’s a radio, son,” he smiled.

I stalked off, crossed the street and went into a
barber shop. “Listen, I don’t want a haircut,” I said.
“But I'll pay if you'll let me stay in here awhile.”

The man looked a little worried. I guess my
8pproach was stupid. We talked for a couple of
Minutes. I explained that someone was following
Me. He seemed nervous.

I left, walking briefly down the street.
Predictably, the unmarked car wheeled around and
tollowed slowly behind. When I reached the corner
Isaw a bus approaching on the opposite side of the
@venue. 1 waited until it stopped. People were
boarding. T raced across into a crowd and boarded
the bus. When I got to my seat and looked back, the
Unmarked car was still cruising slowly up the street.
Ih my banal, repetitious, cops-and-robbers TV
¥ocabulary, I had “given them the slip.”

169




PEQPLE'S TEMPLE—PEOPLE'S TOMB

bus dropped me off miles away. I stc
: just testing to see il
that I was now

Ehf i
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1 in a big bu
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1an affidavit that sheis crazy, " I'said. °S
noc W enciodad 5 =
ned to kill my sister Jeanette. Can we
court order?”

1

Itsp le,” he said, “but very unlikely. /
present time I'm defending the right of son
Moonie children who are being kidnapped by th

SRR e
parents.” He laughed, “This is ironic; you are tr

to get your parent out.” He paused thoughtfully.

must decline,” he said. “I'd love to, but I feel this
might be a conflict for me.”

The private detective's office was my next stop-
His name was Mazzore. Neva Sly, my mother’s old
fr'iend, was with him. Mazzore was angry. He
blasted me immediately, “We can’t have you
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$nooping around, Kerns! You're going to ruin
everything. I'm representing everybody who wants
to get their relatives out. I've got to call all the shots.
Idon't want you involved.”
Bwell Mr. Mazzore. That's tough,” 1 said. “It's
my mother and sister and I am involved!”

He shouted right back in his intimidating style. 1

Rave clients who pay 85,000 for me. I'm charging all

of you one dollar apiece.”

I calmed down. “You'd only charge me one
dollar?”

“That's right, Kerns,” he answered.

“Why?”

“Because I want to see it happen,” he said
indignantly. “T'm trying to geta lot of people out of
Guyana and the temple here in San Francisco.”

“How many families do you represent?” I asked.

“Several,” he said. Then he stormed at me again.
] don’t answer your questions. You answer mine!”

1 slapped a dollar bill on the desk and told him
éverything.

“Now go back to Oregon,” Mazzore demanded.
"Get out of here!”

I drove down to the temple that evening. 1 found
Some little black kids and called them into a little
gircle. “T'm an investis ator.” T said. I pulled out a
little picture of my mother. “I'm looking for this
Woman.

“I ain’t seen her,” one said.

you guys want a job?” I asked.
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“Yeah! How much?” they hollered.

“Five bucks apiece,” I said.

“Yea! Yeal Okay!” They went crazy.

“And ten bucks to the one who finds her!” |
offered.

Those little kids were all over the temple that
night. In and out of little rooms they went, reporting
back from hour to hour, but they had no luck.

“Sorry, mister,” one of the little boys said.

By early morning I had another idea. I ascended
the stairs of a slum apartment and found a door with
lights coming into the hallway from the transom
above. “Are you awake in there?” I shouted.

A black woman answered,

“This is an emergency,” I said. “I need another
change of clothes. An old coat, rags, anything.” She
opened the door and scowled angrily. “I’ll pay you,
I said.

She looked me up and down and then broke into
laughter. “Come on in,” she said. “It ain’t none of
my business but it sure sounds dumb!”

I left the apartment looking like a wreck, I bought
a bottle of wine, spilled it all over my ¢lothes and
staggered down to the People’s Temple.

For two hours T sat near the gates, ignori ng the
Jeers of the guards. T was just a wino, but my eyes
checked out everybody that came into the outside
courtyard. At three in the morning I spotted a kind
old black woman, a friend of my mother.

“"Hey,” I shouted. “Remember me?”
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ﬁme Jooked around nervously and then walked to

3 M'-_@te. “Phil, what's happened to you?”

&please,” I begged. “T've come all the way from
Oregon. I just want to see my mother. Is she all

.. ﬁ@]t?”

“Be quiet,” she cautioned. “She’s okay. She works

Lot a hospital ‘as a nurse’s aide. She was just here

}re_sterday.”

“Which hospital?” I asked. . :

The woman looked around and shrugged, “1 don’t
know. ”

MWhat about Carol?” I asked eagerly.

#Blook.” The black woman s,mi]ed
sympathetically. “1 can't stay. They 11 be
suspicious.

II:'tfazhed through the fence and stroked her hand
lovingly. “Thank you. Thank you.” .

The adrenaline started flowing. 1 was so excited. I
taced away to the astonishment of the guards who
had thought I was a drunk.

There was a telephone booth at a nearby
festaurant. Armed with handfuls of change, I began
t0 call. I contacted every hospitalin the city. I t:aiked
8 nurses and bluffed my way into having a few of
them open their personnel offices. “It’s life and
death! 1t's life and death!” In most cases, the
Personnel offices were closed and so I had to call
8very floor of the hospital to see if the nurses had any
Tecords of new personnel. It took hours. :

I begged and pleaded. I waited long minutes on
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hold. I was cut off dozens of times. My fingers were
cold and numb. This will be the call, I'd say to God. |
know this will be the call, and then thirty minuteg
later I would still be dropping dimes into the
telephone.

At sunrise, I slumped in the booth, totally
exhausted and weeping. Please, God; please, God.
Let me find her outside of that fence. Let me talk to
her five minutes. Let me hold her one more time,

After a cup of coffee at the restaurant and another
pocketful of change, I would hit the telephone
booth again. When there were no more phone calls
to make I drove to several of the hospitals. I talked
my way into the hearts of nurses who would run all
over the place trying to find a record with my
mother’s name on it. After I checked all the
hospitals, I tried convalescent centers.

That morning I slept a couple of hours in my car,
parked at the back of a gasoline station. When I
returned to the Myrtles for more information,
Jeannie greeted me furiously. “You blew it! You
blew it! They saw you at the People’s Temple. You
were supposed to have cooperated with the private
investigator. Mazzore told you to get out of town!

rable. T just

“Jeannie,” I slhamped on her kitch
want my mother and sister.”
“T've got news for you,” she

1
irht now
.
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fod, no!”  head in my
hands.

S Once more 1
Bflice. “They've k
W e have no evi
interrupt '
“Listen,
America.
He only smil
“Someday. S

fHiends of my :
address and phone numb
When I returned to
i mind—sleep
Would be ready to go. :
1 stood at the doorway. “Oh, God,”

¢ have you

Vicki’s friend
8he said. Her face was white. W
Been. Phil? I just got a call at work. They're going to
kill you. They say they're going to kill me. This was
Just delivered. She handed me a note. The word
tkill” was on it. : :

“The phone’s been ringing,” she sobbed, “but I'm
8fraid to answer it. I don't want anything to do with
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this Jones thing. You promised not to give out my
address!™ ;

“T didn’t. I didn't,” I said. “Not even to the
Myrtles or my best friends.”

“Well, somebody has been calling the landlady
tool” she said.

“God,” I prayed. “What's happening? How could
they have found out? I only told the district
attorney’s people.” Then I suddenly realized,
“When?” I shouted. “When did they start calling?”

“Just now,” she answered. T just got the call at
work and ran back here. What are we going to do?”

The telephone rang. I answered it. “Get out of
town,” the voice said. “We're going to hurt you!”
Click.

My face turned white. Vicki’s friend rushed over
to me. “Phil, what was it? What's wrong? Oh, God.
Help us, God!”

“Calm down!” I shouted back at her. She sat down
and cried. “That was Jim Jones,” I said. “That was his
voice. He said to get out of town.”

The telephone rang again. Vicki's friend
screamed, “Nol Don’t answer it!”

I picked up the receiver. “Mr. Kerns, if you don't
get out of town, your mother is dead.” This time it
was another voice. “We'll justchop her up into little
pieces!”

“Who is this?” I shouted. Click.

I grabbed the death-threat note, put my coat on
and ran out the door. Vicki’s friend called to me
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s 1 YT = : 2oy 1.5
fown the hallway, “What am I supposed to do?”

lG et vour friends over here to be with you, " 1

said. b oe by

When I entered the distri .

Went right for the investigator I had talked to

ct attorney’s office 1

previously. ~What did you do with my phone

sumber and address!?”

He saw my anger. “Why?” :

Islapped the note down in front of him. “T'vehad a
phone call from Jones.”

“Can you prove that?” he asked.

“1 isten, buddy,” I said. “I'm going to go to some

little new:;};)apﬁr-m Oregon or 1-’&-’951}&1’;;_:;:%:};'; and I._"m
Boing to tell them my whole story. They re not going
£ belicve me but they'll have all the facts :-.u'ui ’ii
anything happens to me, or my wife, or my '_»a-‘iie 8
ffiend, or my mother, or my sister, you re going to
look bad! Bad! Youre the only person who knew
Where I was staying and, another thing, a few days
880 you guys had me tailed!”
' He looked worried and a little concerned.
Mlisten. Mr. Kerns,” he said. “T just laid your
fnformation on that secretary’s desk over there. It
hasn't left this office.”

“Well. I may not be able to prove it to an}-'hf)_dy
else,” 1 said. “But you and I both know that if I'm
telling the truth it means you've got some Jones
People in this office.”

I drove back to my apartment. Vicki’s friends were
all over the place. “These Jones people are
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someone said. I phoned the district attorney’s office
to get police protection for the apartment. The
answer was negative. I telephoned the police. The
answer was no.
Maybe you should move,” I told Vicki’s friend
There’s nowhere to go,” she said. “What can I
do?
4 Well, I'm going to get out of here,” I told her.
There’s no use endangering you.”

I drove to Mazzore’s office. The private detective
was not surprised by my story. “T already know the
People’s Temple has plants in the D.A.’s office.” he
S‘&Id.’ Now get out of town, Mr. Kerns. You're in the
way.

There was one more visit I wanted to make. Neva
Sly had been my mother’s best friend. She was
ﬁ?ri.y—ﬁve years old. She had left the family and was
hiding in fear. There were security doors in her
apartment. After identifying me, she let me in. We
embraced.

‘Have you seen my mother?” I asked.

Yes, "she said. “T saw her at the hospital. But she
won't be going back there.”

Will they send her to Guyana? Is that true,
Neva?”

She nodded. “I'm afraid you shouldn’t have been
snooping around,”

I sighed deeply. Was it all over? Was there
anything left to do? Anything else I could try?
Where’s your husband?” I asked
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#0h, he's already in South America,” she said.
#He's totally brainwashed.”

Iput my head in my hands. “What are we going to
do, Nevar”

“I'm scared to death,” she said. “They are
dangerous. Watch out, Phil. You know about the
suicide pact?”

I nodded.

“Well, they ve also got hit squads to mop up all the
defectors,” Neva said. “My husband is a member of
that group. They mean business. And, Phil,” she
paused, “don’t talk to Mazzore any more. You
remember the private investigator?”

“What's happened?” I asked.

“Well,” she hesitated. “We have some friends at
the temple who say he’s been in touch with them.
He may have double-crossed us.”

"“Neva,” I said as I stood up, “there’s nobody,
nobody in the whole San Francisco area we can
trust. I'm going to Sacramentol”

I felt fantastic as I drove out of the Bay area even
though I knew I had failed. My mother and sister
Were in Jones’s hands. The whole nightmare was
Unbelievable. But when the scenery changed it
Seemed as if the whole affair were only imaginary.

Maybe Jones was still the good man I first thought
hie was. “People will try to smear him,” Marcie had
once told me. I knew Ruth was wrong about the
Money. Jones did not have to work himself to death.
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Something else drove him. Maybe it was loy

Maybe I was not followed at all in San Fr;mj“‘&
Maybe the unmarked cars were doing som etlsj&o.
else. Maybe the district attorney’s office was (‘i:ng
Maybe Mazzore's actions wc;“e misunders.to.f:g.
Maybe the so-called murders were pt;rfe-c.tl‘
explainable. Maybe Jeannie Mrytle’s ac:crusation};
were exaggerated. Maybe a trip fobuyana would be
a great experience for mom and Carol. Maﬂw 1f
some Christmas years from now we would -11.} r;:t
together and talk about how ridiculous and : Hd
we all were. : -

_Then I began to notice a car in my rear-view
mirror. I turned and circled back on the freeway two
or t.hree times. The car was definitely fo]]owins;; me.
Inside was a black man. Paranoid or not, that man
and that car were real. :

There was one last place to try. I stormed into the
governor s offices with all the documentation I could
carry. They turned me over to one of the governor’s
aides. : i

You know all about the Jim Jones thing?” I asked.
5 H(—‘ leaned forward, listening intently to rm tale.

\“v‘e re getting a lot of reports,” he admitted.

You know the governor has been connected to
Jones publicly,” I said. “He spoke at his church. You
knf)w what it looks like? It looks like he’s just tl.‘vi ng
to jump on the bandwagon and pick up votes ']11111(*-;
can deliver votes.” . .

“Now just a minute,” the aide shouted.
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BeWait! Wait!” I said. “Tknow Brown would never,

ever go along with this stuff I'm telling you. But if

Im telling the truth, it's going to be embarrassing for
the governor. All of us, all the relatives and friends,

e willing to testify that Brown was ignorant and

fanocent of all this Jones stuff. He didn’t know about
it.” :

“Right,” the aide said. “Thank you. Now, what do -
you want?”

“wWe want help,” I told him. “We want this
madman stopped from hauling people off to Guyana.
We want an inquiry into this. I want my mother and
Sister back. Listen, if anything goes wrong it will
Jook bad for the governor, Okay? L like the governor.
He's a neat guy but this isn't politics or style—this is
Jife and death and corruption!”

“Hold it! Hold it, Kerns.” He stood up. “You get
over to the state attorney general's office. I'll make
Some calls. We're willing to listen to your story.”

I spent several hours at the California state
attorney gerneral's office. I gave my story to several
investigators. They rushed in and out, checking
things as we went along. “All right, Mr. Kerns,” a
Woman in the offide concluded. “We're going to look
into this matter and we can promise you that nothing
is going to happen to your mother and sister, nor to
you either. Now, you get back to Portland and let us
handle this.”

I had a California state patrol escort to the Oregon
border. When one patrol car pulled off the freeway,
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an(__}t.her pulled on, passed by and waved
;i;ml}lmgl .A‘t last, T thought, the California sun
S(,a }-hs iining. It felt good. Somebody believed m‘iS
trc‘)‘m;‘e] ; oldyt\;-’as going to do something. It was my la{:'lt

Y, my last hope. God bless Jerry Br od ble:

1 ve. G ss Jerry Brown! God bles
[3'11!-‘ ?tate of Cahfon‘na! Tears rolled down my chr:ei:s
E y onel}f years of frustration were over at last At
east that's what I told myself
Portland.

at me,

ast. At
as I coasted home to

ten

Till Death Do Us Part

Three things happened in 1977 which catapulted
our family rumors into the national news and
threatened to blow the Jones story wide open. The
first was a New West magazine article. Marshall
Kilduff. a San Francisco Chronicle reporter who had

Sstubbornly pursued the story, was partly
responsible for the breakthrough, With that kind of
visibility something had to happen.

Other papers began to pick up the investigation.
Jones pulled strings, threatened, organized
letter-writing campaigns, but he couldn’t hold off the
press. He fled to Jonestown, Guyana. I got bad news

¢ from my sources in San Francisco—mom and Carol
were in South America too.

To gain entry into Guyana, Jones had presented
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some sixty “lefters :

e sixty “letters of recommendation”—most f
which were Feportedly 4 R
ich were reportedly simple acknowledement
thank-you letters £ T .
nk-you letters from prominent Ame:

inc ine First Lady F
icluding First Lady Rosalynn Carter. Vi
. sarter, Viee

Prostdent Walter M ho
esident Walter Mondale, the late Senator Hubert
o0 LGOS UDEr

Humphrey, San F i

i mrey, san Francisco Mavor - i

; I Y, 5an Francisco Mayor George Moscone

'r.-ﬂgd a h(_}.‘.‘:t of 0{_{ e Lird | A » SO LG,

ol other well-knovwn political fi
Byl : Wl political nmgures,

. b .{_; 1a, Jones apparently us

powers of persuasion to bend the laws f}ft}‘ﬁ ti
~ YV L5 1 L

roet FEATY O

vast weapons arsenal, operated

: forbi
R s s e e .
mternational communications sv

i fems, captained
st e Ao it : <
: three ocean-going boats which the government
- f e - i e T
allowed to come and go with little or 1 i
s go with little or no checki
I ke indredc a £ I
kept hundreds of thousands of dollars in for
currency at the o 1 .

¢ (m_; at the commune. The government
atlower nes to u Say
Tﬁ,.v L }f‘):i\__-i to use Guyana National Radio
jn»avcs thirty minutes each week to publi ;
onestown's achvities Cit > j
e )\mi activities. Citizens of Guyana are no
normally allowed such privileges i 3

onestown starte . :

Jonestown started out as a model socialistic
commu Jr so we t J oo
s ne. Or so we thought. A dental surgeon

riting in the Guyanese Chronicle stated he had if;;&.'c' r
seen so manv peonle O
L Hs{) 11.&;17,- people of different races working

gether so harmoniously. H i . i

4 SV, : dals g
ek ) ]?].{.‘.}’_)Ydlb(?.d the work that
i i d in a community with its own school
SAW m L
. mill, electricity, roads—all carved out of remote
jungles. : .

Reports slowly i
ports slowly leaking back made i
owly leaking back made it sound more

like a concentrati
1Ke concentration cam ass
ation camp. Passports had been
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i.émﬁscated and no one could get out.

Wood rations were cut and workdays were
increased to eleven hours per day in 120-degree
heat: Only Jones’s family and favorite cohorts got
meat for dinner. Housing arrangements were grim
and crowded. Cultists’ sexual lives were determined
by a special “relationships committee” which had to
approve living arrangements between couples.
Jones's own sexual forays continued unabated.
Beatings became more brutal, and those who
attempted to leave the camp without permission
were put to work on a chain gang or they were
Sonfined for days on end ina cofi n-like “punishment
Box.” Troublesome cultists were imprisoned in the
gamp’s “‘extended care unit,” where they were
Sdministered drugs until they were reduced to
mute, empty-faced automatons. Even children had
%o endure brutal punishment for minor sins.
Especially “bad” youngsters were taken to a camp
well and lowered, hands tied, to the bottom.
Jonestown enforcers, hiding in the well. would pull
the children under the water, release them, then
pull them under again. This would be repeated
Several times, while the terrified youngsters would
ery out, “I'm sorry, father; I'm sorry, father.”

Jones called nightly meetings that frequently
lasted until 3 A.M.. During these sessions he would
rave endlessly about all kinds of subjects. When
dead tired followers were finally allowed to go to
bed, Jones would often sound an alert over the camp
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ig'ud(!‘.’) salcar Fam - and
speaker tem and order his people
commune l
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1 where he would de
another 1 dell

against an infinite

2
Jonestown s

A second n

r event of 1977

w0 County,
attorney

oughout

i : e United
Wik o oand ot nie s -
: hile conducting temple business.
he was close ftc
Tim left the cul
AN 2 i T e T i) 1
: nd did not re . Suddenly he and his wife
began to ope v it b e Y
gan to ope harge that Jim Jones was ho
th America. Jones said the ¢
e n Francisco newspaper reported «
vhat appeared to be an affidavit that was “float
aro o + hadd 2 ] 7 ; o B
;TJML It had been signed by Tim Stoen
‘ebruary Q7D e ] St
February 6, 1972, and witnessed by Marceline M
ones. the cult leader’s wif; Bron o
ét.. “ ].1(_ cult leader’s wife. The affidavit stated that
toen had entreated “my beloved pastor, Jim
Warren Jones, e aciai!(ihr il o &
: > 1 by my wife, Grace Lt

Stoen.” In the affidavit S :
1e atnidavit Stoen explained that he

wanted his child :
1is child to be fathered by the “most

their child i

was his. A §
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' Qdeassionate. honest and courageous human being

the world contains. %

Stoen s lawyer told the newspapers that when Tim
_gigﬁed the affidavit he really was convinced that
Jones was the father. Now he knew different. Jones

‘lawyer Charles Garry said (and most family

members.agreed), “The child is the spitting image of
Jim.” The battle was on.

The third major event of the year was the murder
of Christopher Lewis. He was my black friend, the
She who had once told me thatif 1left the family they

Seouldn’t do anything to me—but he could no longer

Jeave. He spoke of being a good soldier. Jones’s
money and pull had kept Lewis out of prison a long
Bme. Lewis had been useful to the cult for a wide
variety of odd jobs. He had hinted about these dark
assignments when he had told me he was better off
“pimping and being on drugs” than he was working
for Jones.

Finally, Lewis was to be sentenced for one of his
brimes. Timothy Stoen predicted Lewis was about to
fell all and trade information about People’s Temple
for a lighter sentence.

On December 10, 1977, before Lewis had a
ehance to answer questions, before his sentencing,
he was shot dead. Two men had chased him down a
street in Hunters Point, California. Lewis had run
onto the front porch at 14 47 Pal hanging on the

1

door for hel

p. They would not let him in. His
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assailants had never been found. Thi s was murder.
not suicide, not a confused coroner’s report. Thig
was murder. The Jones controversy was simmering,

The People’s Temple fought back. Jim Jones

began to pull in his numerous IOU’s. In spite of
signed affidavits of eyewitnesses charging sexual
abuse and beatings, in spite of the pleas of concerned
relatives, San Francisco District Attorney Joe
Freitas said he found “absolutely nothing” that
would make him prosecute Jones.

A temple publication mentioned the Chris Lewis
murder: “Tt was inferred that Chris was a hired
bodyguard for Jim Jones. That is an outrageous lie!
The temple has never hired anyone, and Chris never
worked for us in this or any other capacity.”

It went on to say, “If the authors of the news
article on Chris Lewis concluded that he was a part
of us, then a lot of questions should be raised,
because the night of his death a threatening phone
call came to the temple saying, ‘There will be more.
Tonight was the first.”

"It was undoubtedly these lies that said he was a
temple bodyguard that got him shot,” the
propaganda said. “We don’t.believe this was a
gangland murder. We believe the conspirators were
responsible. There are those who would sacrifice
anyone if it served their purpose. We had to talk to
some of his friends outside the church to keep them

from taking revenge. This murder we will not
fr}rget.”

\defectors were homocidal,
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Thls was typical Jones hype. Turn the accusations

around. Jones attempted to convince San Francisco

e’ le
g ing body of People’s Temp

o : jealous criminal
dements he had given his life to help but who had
‘ow turned on him. o
m;";’Vr{:[l)angancla hype was no longer enough. Birdy

€ S er w too
‘Maribelle, the nursing home manager who knew
»

much, found the windows of her home sm;s.hiz(i;r;
Kathy Hunter, a former temple member W Lcll -
areporter for a local newspaper, was pmie e
floor of her home by two black a:;sgﬂ}z:g:s(»l\ntﬁ 55 i
m her throat, covere ' >
!\:‘f(-}l]ll?;)l:ei?\atsd then fled into the night. ]()ne_!}i—sﬁ,:g .
térror tactics had begun. Former membc‘};\? ) o
heard Jones prophesy their deaths now shiverec
fealrxll Jonestown, Guyana, gun battles WE? ts:zligjzg 112
the jungles and communards were .told ; a (:.t };ut
had sent assassination squads to wipe them ou
Jones’s little army would protect t}}::m o
Suicide drills were stepped up. “Woulc ..}_‘u.u o
for me?” Jones often asked. In .San Fram,lz‘»(?izca
Wwhole group was son‘wt]mes u;rg.?lw .
alphabetically to pledge their complete loyalty
deg)dr;: day in Guyana, Jones filled a big‘ W.u “’1t1:1
Kool-Aid and ordered all residentsl to tf!.l(e dlf.l;p iﬁ :
drink. The so-called “white mg‘ht ha(.]j m-‘ Y
arrived. They were told to go out of the pavilion an
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lie down to die. A couple of women screamed and
toppled over. Soon dozens went outside to die. It
was a false alarm. There was no poison in the drink
Everyone suddenly realized it was only anothey
drill, but the residents had to be prepared. Jones’s
enemies were “closing in.”

“People’s Temple is no stranger to persecution,”
one of their flyers said. “As a progressive group and
outspoken against social and racial injustice, we have

always known what it is to live in the shadow of
threats, violence, and death. Our children have
been harassed in their schools. Our pets have been
tortured and left mutilated on our doorsteps.”

In an atmosphere “of hate whipped up by the
press, a man called the temple numerous times
saying he would shoot everyone who stepped out of
the building. “We had to call for police protection,
the publication stated.

In 1978, one of Jones’s nurses, Joyce Parks,
escorted two Jonestown residents to Caracas.
Venezuela, for surgery. Once in Caracas, Joyce fled,
leaving her husband and baby behind. Joyce was too
fearful to tell her own husband of the planned
escape. Bugs and eavesdropping devices were
thought to be everywhere. “Dale is strong. I thought
he would figure a way to get out. We were
frightened,” she explained. “Jim had us believing
there was a CIA agent behind every banana tree.”
The residents of Jonestown were now cut off from
the outside world. All forms of communication were
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International Airport 1hc\‘]oncs 11}".‘;':
its ugliness. Everything that had
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le to Guyan
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The anony1
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sxploded in all ‘ g e
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191




PEOPLE’S TEMPI E—PEOPLE’S TOMB

residents of the “peaceful” Jonestown COmmuypg
and that at least five people were dead, inc-llldjné
Ryan himself,

While I sat at my desk in Portland, Oregon,
begging for someone tg believe me, the Guyanesg

government moved troops into the Port Kaitumg

area. The dead Americans in Ryan’s group werel}

identified as NBC cameraman Robert Brown, NB(
television reporter Don Harris, and San Francise
Examiner photographer Gregory  Parks,
Representative Leg J. Byan, Democrat from
California, was identified as the fifth ambush victim,

The targets had been eleven members of Ryan’s
original group and some sixteen Jonestown defectors
who requested safe passage back to the United
States. Mark Lane and Charles Garry, attorneys for
People’s Temple, accompanied Ryan to the
Jonestown settlement but stayed behind when the
group departed for Port Kaituma where a Guyana
Airways charter flight was waiting to take them back
to civilization. About a dozen gunmen took part in
the massacre while Guyanese soldiers at the airport
reportedly looked on without attempting to stop the
killers.

Upon receiving word that Ryan had been killed
1
but

that most of the dsfectors had esc-aped
execution, Jones called his people together to
participate in a mass suicide-communion which they

had practiced many times before as a test of their

loyalty to “Dad Jones.” There was electrici ty in the
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Bl rehearsals were over.

) P En
. s sounded his final shrieking
B 50, when Jones sounded his final ]

loudspeaker,

e
ATY \!"J ‘{’
empie., =

petsonality, no life, apart from 1 eople’s

1 . - a “-: 1p
{ reral hours with an individual,
Hike to have sex for several hours with 2

girl friend. “In the

3 o
i onalities are destroyed and they
Process their personalities are destroy

T

become jUbt })i:uil\-;lr(id:lfu}:j’];ti;}(‘b flj}d 1]1 s f{).{](‘l‘\-","{d?"g

i ~vone has to die,” Jones to e
frmflE ¥I?Z}t;1r<.)rte-li..kc- chair in the main 111('.@11‘1‘13?’,]2:(1{4
‘."flfyou love me as muchas I }{)\EF: you, we 1}1{1 :_s aihl ;
orbe destroyed from the outside.  He or .r_f.rc.;‘:m
thie babics and children be given the ?U}i’)ﬁ)l:l.}.nn.jl_r.h

A tape recording of the 11_1{;1'1'1:_‘%11t is ‘ 1’:1(;;\,
S€reaming babies and the shouts of ]<)1c]<;d 2 ;;;?“. =
0htrol your children! Control your chi .1 frll ?.Lr\lp_;
Wway de‘ep down the throat! Put it d.ee.ti). 1:(11
@¥idently feared the babies might \-"Ol'ﬂ]‘{' %.ﬁle .1,\,151\.: .
@hd live. Some babies were grabbed fi {?;‘li i’ij:{l]
Mothers and presented to camp nurses \-\-' 10 uih(J;
Bypodermic needles to shoot streams of poison into
infants’ mouths. : A
th% :)?]fiﬂ]t;!e'stcwn disciples -‘.;v.uilqe:] \_\f‘i“lllgh;‘?fl.!fﬂ:;
Stainless steel vat of poison. They drank a mixture of

R e 3. f"i’"}]‘

Kool-Aid and cyanide, concocted FIJ).- camp ;.o_ \,1

/ ' isted, but were forced
Eawrence Schanct. Some resisted, but were fc

= LR C RS R
Sl s B
10 drink. The ritual communion-suicide which they
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had practiced countless times was being carried
with insane determination.

It was taking too long, Jones decided. He stepped B

down from the platform which held his throne ang
swept through the crowd shouting, “Hurry, hurry,
hurry!” A few frightened disciples managed to slip
past the guards and into the jungle. Many children
were already dead, and now the five-minute death
potion was gripping the adults.

“Don't tell the children they are dying,” Jones
intoned. “Don’t tell them it's painful. To die in
revolutionary suicide is to live forever! We must die
with dignity! We must all diel”

At least one devout cultist thought he could see
the real reason behind the suicides. “We'll all die
tonight,” he said calmly, “but father will raise us
from the dead tomorrow.”

Three who escaped, a Jonestown resident named
Odell Rhodes and attorneys Lane and Garry, said
that Jones harangued his followers with a final
sermon about “the dignity of death” and said they
would all meet soon in “another place.” The bizarre
diatribe ended when Jones, chanting “Mother,

‘mother, mother,” put a pistol to his head and fired.
Survivors of the Port Kaituma airstrip slaughter,
eight of whom were wounded, remained huddled
near the edge of the runway, awaiting what they felt
was the certain return of the murderers who earlier
attacked them with automatic rifles and shotguns.
The wounded were finally moved to a small army
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: o Four armed soldiers,
s .nd of the runway. Four:
out 'tﬁﬂt'at the L'ﬂd

iled to intervene during the carnage,
o icti he rest of the
Wnarded” the wounded victims, The re |

2 ok shelter at a nearby bar, the Rum House,

group to

Und recalled the events Jeading up to that day's

tragedy.
ally had been denied entry into
Jonestown, but the previous Friday J?lzes‘haacl
relented, and now he welcomed the vm(;t;zs :
enthusiastically as he had previously shg nne elit;;
“Reporters were escorted arounc} the C}m{lnj‘in 1
and were impressed by the cleanhne.ss of t 1(,- ‘mial
and the apparent contentment of its 1’3].\1 tgﬁ; :
populace. That evening they were en‘.reirta.nm me;ﬁ;
highly-talented band and deluged with clom . ir.l
8bout how happy folks were to be living
]O?Ttigwl‘llla;rd to say why commune memberz
presented such an Eden-like picture when R}yan :ill:t
his investigative team first arrived at the sa_ett E’Il;;.l ;
Some may have been too frightened to say an.ytl n{g
but 2 more sobering explanation is Fha‘c the? cu hihs
by and large, no longer saw an?-'thmg 31?1‘{1551 z,ndere
character of Jonestown or their demonic htf.aa
Whatever “Dad” Jones said was true, and whatever
he said had to be done. It just .had to be doI?e. .
A trip to a bar in Port Kaltl:lri:la thgt ev (i::mr]}(g

introduced the group to a different outloo .
however. Local Guyanese said there were guns,

Ryan’s group initi
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plenty o.f them, in “pacifist” Jonestown. and the
mysterious  cult leader rnaiilt'ij n fl‘;t 9
iltliotglgun-“‘ielding security team which i;e {'lel‘]b |
i ‘,: :;.e G:,:le TPHE ;ll‘;,w ' jones[oz:vn citizens who trjede;g:
i d i OT].dIld confined to a sm
OX Tor days at a time,
revealed that eve
had handed him
and the despe
Jonestown.”

: Tl‘l‘e following day, as the group prepared to leave
tonc,.stown, oth(.ers came forward to say they wanted

o get {l)ut. Evidently fearful of retribution. they
waited till the last minute to approach Ryan : d i
others. -
Wh‘/‘l’ash-in_gton Post correspondent Charles Krause,
jnt;‘:il;r‘:;v}iz(‘ll Ithe.airport bloodbath, said that in
inc '1 - = Friday and Saturday Jones becamé
e l(}} ]t"I'E?.Tlt .at ti.mes, and responded to accusations
) ‘_m rII.ICI casing rage, despondency, and

esperation. He hated violence, hated power. hated
money, he , s

: Newsman Don Harris alsg
ning thata young man at the colony
a slate containing four si gnatures
rate plea: “Please help me get out{f

insisted. * % i
sted. “They” were pressing in from

every side with lies 2 i
o :, side \«.\*‘]th lies and assassination plans. There
as a conspiracy against him and People’s Temple.

I might as well die,
shot me dead. Now
for assassination.

h(,e said. “T wish somebody had
o we re substituting media smear
s more people were gatheri
Sl o) : ere gathering t0
f;:vc Jones said they could g0 ahead and leave; the
“B er L})lc.nple: the less responsibility he would have:
ut they will try to destroy us. They always lie
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leave.”
klarge amounts of pills, and claimed that
including

| hen they

_'éﬁ_'-,gorts of diseases were killing him,
canﬁer (A San Francisco physician, Dr. Carlton
{Goudlet, later confirmed that Jones was seriously ill
ind was to enter a hospital for tests following Ryan’s
Wit to the commune. He said no diagnosis had been
made prior to the cult leader’s death, however.)

Tensions increased, and there were at least two
incidents of family members trying to forcibly
Hissuade relatives from leaving. Jonestown loyalists
itied to put a good face on the situation, hugging
defectors as they boarded a truck bound for Port
Kaituma. Jones reportedly offered $5,000 for travel
expenses.

Suddenly, members of the group heard shouting
Oming from the settlement’s main meeting place.
Don Sly, Neva's husband and the man she feared so
fiich, took a knife and lunged at Congressman
Ryan. Attorneys Charles Garry and Mark Lane
iitervened, and the attacker was cut during the
Seuffle. Ryan hurried to the truck, his shirt front
$plattered with blood. As quickly as possible, the
efupees boarded the truck and rolled out of the
©mpound.

Once at the airport, Ryan and his assistant, Jackie
SPeier, hurriedly checked people onto the two
Waiting planes. Ryan searched the people as they
EOarded, for there were rumors that one of the

fefectors” might be aplant. Larry Leyton, who had
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exhibited somewhat suspicious behavior sin

group’s departure, was searched twice.

Dale Parks, the husband of the nurse who had
escaped through Caracas several months before’ w&
worried. He warned the congressman. g

Parks was right. Jones had allegedly convinced
L'eyton to join the party, wait till the p]ar'm was in ihe
air, then murder the pilot and assure the comﬁlc*e
destruction of all on board. Meanwhile, at t};e
Jonestown camp, Jones prophesied to his people: he
had had a vision, Ryan’s plane would crash. E

There was a problem at Port Kaituma—there
were too many defectors. Leyton would have to fall
back on a second contingency:.

Some of the group noticed that a People’s Temple
tractor and trailer rig was advancing towar(j the
airplanes. They sensed trouble as the men on the
tractor gestured ominously for a group- of Guyanese
bystanders to step aside. '.

Then came the first shot, followed quickly by
dozens more. Those not already in the planes ;im-';?
for cover under the aircraft or in the dense jungle
growth beside the runway. The death squad passed
through to finish off the wounded. They ;:tppeare;(j to
have no pattern for their executions:, but would
shoot some and simply leave others for dead.

. Inside one of the planes, Patricia Parks. Dale’s
sister-in-law, lay dead. Dale wrestled with Larry
.Leyton for possession of a .38 revolver. Two otherrs
in the plane were wounded. Parks wrenched the gl..lil

ce the
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Ry from Leyton and tried to shoot him with it, but
Bihe pistol failed to fire. Parks and Leyton were
separated during the confusion surrounding the
ambush, but Leyton returned to the plane when the
shooting ended. Guyanese authorities took him into
aistody and charged him with murder.

Finally, about thirteen hours later, 100 Guyanese
ffoops arrived from Georgetown, 150 miles away.
fhe survivors were airlifted to Georgetown, and
then on to Andrews Air Force Base near
Washington.

In the days that followed, it seemed that all -
America’s attention focused on the remote jungle
“Eden” of Jim Jones. Evening news broadcasts
devoted half the air time to coverage of the tragedy,
and night after night a shocked nation watched and
listened in near disbelief. The truth about
Jonestown, as it turned out, was even worse than
garly rumors had indicated.

Initial estimates of the mass suicide toll proved to
beinadequate. Soon the body count climbed to over
400. Meanwhile, reports of a 200-member hit
Squad, programmed to kill People’s Temple
defectors and high-ranking politicians, were
€manating from the Human Freedom Center in
Berkeley. Attorney Mark Lane, who escaped the
Jonestown carnage with Charles Garry, contended
that People’s Temple was in the second phase of a
ur-phase assassination plot.

Stage one was the Jonestown suicide pact. Stage
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two was the disavowal of wrongdoing by Surviyipg
cult Ieadership, with condemnation of the
Jonestown debacle and, if necessary,
himself. Stage three was to be
disenfranchised members of People’s Temple. The
final stage would be the execution of public officialg
Lane said a formerly high-ranking cult leader hag
given him this information just before Ryan’s
fact-finding group left for Guyana.

Grace Stoen who, with her husband Tim, had
been trying to get their six-year-old son out of
Jonestown for several months, said that the
“mastermind” behind the assassination squad wasa
thirty-year-old woman masochist who inhabited a
six-foot by four-foot closet in the People’s Temple
headquarters in San Francisco. Files which had
been kept on temple defectors have disappeared,
according to Stoen, along with the woman wh om she
described as a “frail, five-foot-seven loner.” Loyal
temple members in San Francisco vehemently
denied that any such death squads existed.
Members described themselves as “practical
Christians.”

In Guyana, the grim task of removing and
identifying hundreds of suicide victims continued:
Among the first bodies identified were Jones and
another alleged mistress, Marie Katsaris. Rumors
that the maniacal leader had substituted a stand-in
double and fledina special getaway boat were laid t0
rest when authorities positively identified the

of Joneg
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borpse s fingerprints as those of Rev. James Warren

nes. !
lg;]scu found at the death site were about 800 U.S.

passports belonging to Jonmestown cultists,
approxlmﬁtel} forty automatic weapons and

housands of rounds of ammunition, plus gold,
jewelry, and currency valued at around one million
Wollars. Several thousand dollars worth of uncashed

Soeial Security checks, “donated” to Jonestown by
senior citizens of the settlement, were also locaFed.
Still, there was the nagging question: if the

Jonestown population was really 1,200 as Jones

daimed, where were the remaining survl:\.-'ors? Aft?r
several days, only a few had emerged from jungle

hiiding places. Authorities speculated that some had

Been taken in by friendly Indian tribes in the area,
ﬂﬂlers, perhaps, had been lost in the jungle. ‘
Then came the unexpected and nightmarish
$olution. As U.S. and Guyanese troops labored to
téar Jonestown of the bloated, decaying bodies,
tiey discovered under the top layer of corpses }-’e‘t
@other group of victims. These, explained a U.S.
80vernment spokesman, were the shells of the
¥oung children who had received, the p(;:isml first
#d, consequently, were the first to die. Adult
Odies on top had concealed the smaller corpses
Om searchers. The body count, they said, could go
@ high as seven or eight hundred.
One week following the Jonestown death orgy,
8. Army burial teams loaded the last of the
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corpses on a helicopter.
The final count: 912 dead.

The exhausted men broke into applause
slapped one another on the

Among the dead was the baby of Dale and Joves
Parks. Lying next to Jones was a child which 5{);ne
said was the son of Tim and Grace Stoen. Jones had
claimed the boy was his and in the end he had hig

At Dover Air Force Base, Delaware. the
excruciating task of identifying cnftists'
anrecognizable remains continued as shipment aftet
shipment of aluminum caskets arrived. The cost of
the recovery operation was expected to reach nine
million dollars,

In Georgetown, Guyana, an estimated
eighty-four cult members (thirty-nine who fled into
the jungle during the mass suicide, forty-five who
were in Georgetown at the time of the tragedy)
waited to be airlifted to Charleston Air Force Basein
South Carolina. Five others were being held in
connection with the Port Kaitum :
related killings.

Larry Leyton, the alleged “pla
been ordere

ang
back. Th eir job was over

i,

4 massacre L-'l]ld

nt” who may have
d to bring down the plane carrying Ryan
and the Jonestown defectors afte :
was arrested at Port K
the ambush.

Michael Prokes. a former Modesto, California

r it was airborne
artuma immediately following

television reporter who had acted in a public
relations capacity for Jones, and Tim Carter, from
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$0irden City, Idaho, were arrested by Guyana police

fhthe jungle. They reportedly were carr},-’ing about
$18100,000 in cash and were armed. Carter’s brother,
Michael, was also apprehended.

A fifth man, Charles Beikman of Indianapolis,
Indiana, was arrested on suspicion of killing a sect
member and her three children in Georgetown after
the mass suicide in Jonestown had ended.

Prokes and the two Carter brothers were later
teleased. However, American officials said that
giminal charges might possibly be filed against
some of the ninety or so surviving cult members.
dhey did not specify what charges might be filed, or
against whom.

tProkes and the Carters revealed yet another
Bizarre twist to the complex Jonestown
glotesquerie. Jones's alleged mistress, Marie
Katsaris, gave them a heavy suitcase and two
h&ndguns and told them to deliver the case to “the
fmbassy.” The trio fled the scene of the suicide
filial, assuming that the suitcase was to be handed
O¥Er to the American embassy in Georgetown.

en they opened the case, however, they found
®proximately $500,000 and a note to the Soviet
fbassy. They stuffed about $100,000 in their
B0ckets and buried the remainder. Prokes said they
Wrestled their way through the jungle and turned
€mselves in to police at Port Kaituma. They later
®furned with authorities to Jonestown where they
€lped identify bodies and directed police to the
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buried money.

Then came the discovery of a Jonestow
document which revealed that the paranoid god::f
Jonestown was making plans to move his cyjy
followers to Cuba, Russia, or some other plag
where he would be safe from imagined oppressor:
and assassins. Leaders of the commune had met with
an official of the Soviet consulate at least twice, and
the official allegedly indicated that a mass exjodus
from Guyana to the USSR could be arranged for
]o%ncstown residents. The cash-filled suitcase
evidently was part of a contingency plan to hasten
the exodus once final approval came from Soviet
authorities,

. In the months that followed the meetings, Jones
instituted mandatory study of the Russian larlguage
in the settlement, and his sermons made frequent
reference to the possibili ty of moving the colony toa
Communist country. : :
Jones, whose mental and physical health began
deteriorating rapidly in the final year before c;}16'
mass suicide, moved from a mo'derate socialist
philosophy to radical Marxism. Already acutely
fearful of threats, mostly imagined, against his
person and his movement, Jones may have ordered
the mass suicide after realizing that Ryan’s death
meant the end of his “revolutionary” vision to flee to
Russia—"“the promised land” (as Jones called it). It

could also have meant the end of any revolutionary
schemes. ¢
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A sealed note found on the cult commander’s
body, apparently written by a follower just prior to

the ritual suicide, gave additional credence to this
theory. “Dad,” the note said, “I see-no way out—I

agree with your decision—I fear only that without
you the world may not make it to communism. For
my part I am more than tired of this wretched,
merciless planet and the hell it holds for so many
masses of beautiful people—thank you for the
ONLY life I've known.”

Held in Georgetown under house arrest, Prokes
and the Carters were unwelcome among the other
Jonestown refugees in the same hotel. Because
Prokes had served as the cult’s public information
officer and was frequently involved in private
conferences with Jones, survivors speculated that
the three were members of a death squad organized
to kill disloyal followers who refused to commit
suicide.

The trio professed to be every bit as scared as the
others, and Prokes insisted that although he was the
cult's media representative he was not privy to
inside information. Jones mistrusted him, he said,
and although he was free to move in and out of
Jonestown as he pleased, the cult leader may have
suspected the former television reporter of being an
outside agent.

Prokes said he knew nothing about rumors of
“mass suicide practice” except that he knew they
had taken place when he was not present. He also
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; thorities and confessed to the killings. There f\?as
w reason to link White to the death squad thI‘.:f:‘-S.,
'mlice said, for White had never had any connection
PO e S0 3

disclaimed knowledge of weapons arsenals and a
storeroom containing potassium cyanide and othey
drugs which had been uncovered by Guyanese 4h People’s Temple. j : e
searchers. He praised the original ideals of the cult, 8 mBut some temple-watchers refused to belac,\”? 1.1..1
which he said espoused social justice more than e 11 find a connection there somewhere,” saic
religion. When confronted with survivors’ stories i
about macabre forms of punishment used in
Jonestown, Prokes said he never saw any of those
things going on. As for his own future, he said he
would never follow another leader, but felt a need to
“help people.”

Jonestown escapees claimed Prokes was Jones’s
right-hand man, and “heir apparent” to the cult
chieftain’s throne.

Tim and Mike Carter said simply that they were
“scared as hell,” and wanted to go home.

1t seemed that news from the Guyana tragedy was
finally petering out. Then came the sudden,
shocking deaths of San Francisco Mayor George
Moscone, who had in 1976 appointed Jones to the
city’s housing authority and was perhaps closer to
him than any other political figure had been, and
Supervisor Harvey Milk, a declared homosexual
who carried the political banner for the city’s gay
community.

It was initially feared that the pre-programmed
People’s Temple death “angels” had begun their
carnage. Thirty-five minutes after the shooting
deaths of Moscone and Milk, however, a former
supervisor named Dan White turned himself in to

“ 1oh of a coincidence.”
e “It's too much of a coincid

on
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epilogue

Mysteries That Remain

In the aftermath of Jonestown several mysteries
remained. A few of these have been cleared up.
People’s Temple attorney Charles Garry told me -
that Private Detective Mazzore had indeed been
employed by the temple. Our fears in this bizarre
story had too often proved to be true.

One mystery 'yet unsolved is the Soviet-Cuban
connection. What was Jones's long-range plan for
* Guyana? Was Jones planning to fulfill his boast to
become a national leader, a head of state? Some
temple members believe so. Was Jones planning to
use his commune as a base for Cuban-sponsored
guerilla warfare in nearby Venezuela? Or perhaps he
was planning to carve his own statehood from land
disputed by Venezuela and Guyana? Were the
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Sovie Jub:
iet and Cuban governments exploiting Joness &
=1 25 5

{2 b -c : agi i
jf:;gle:th };;v :;.lnr.ou?dg;mg him, hoping to provide ap
nt which would be emb: i ]
e arrassing to the Uniteq
A- e Do A H
fouﬂs‘ja] i;dtched as this all sounds, consider the
- ving facts which are in the public domain. Ev
the Chinese are involved T
1. Like Hitle ‘
> r, Jones had anno i
' ! unced his
intin?.o_ns long before he carried them out. Jones
0(;}1] nis prophecies and ideas very seriously an&
T s : A :
I-]I-lit] t"..s.sly made sure they were fulﬁ_l]ed.)Like
: elt;ll?eop]c. tended to make excuses for Jones and
r32011 ized his more outrageous claims o
Ieade](?nesa .thought of himself as a future world
t};at Vr an ‘:pcr}uraged his entourage to propagate
at view. We were told that : o5
. A ‘ 1at one day Jones would
ta]lg with presidents and kings as an 'eciluql i
: 'For years the Cubans have been trying to
exi)mt their revolution to South America :
. Jones wa arxi iy
withJ f;"" W'i‘; a Mdl‘X_lSt who had numerous contacts
officials of both the Soviet and Cuban
(V . ; L= =
E;Pgm;]ne?é& .Cu]t members were told that if the
ev'i.{wu;m;h ansﬁ, arrangements had been made to
evacuate them all to Cuba or the Soviet Uni :
e . : or the Soviet Union, In
b &bf few months of Jonestown, children were
eing taught the Russian language |
di;).l ]togesbto“!fn \}&-‘as founded in an area which was
sputed by both the Guyanes :
e, yanese and Venezuelan

6. The People’s Republic of China had agreed to
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a hydraulic plant near Jonestown. This project
had been hotly protested by V enezuela who finally
sereed to it, provided that the power generated
Would be shared with them as well as Guyana.

% Crates of arms were shipped from San
Francisco to Jonestown. Large amounts of foreign
eurrencies and gold were kept on the compound.

8. Jones often took commendations from
American political leaders and turned them into
apparent endorsements in the eyes of foreign
Jeaders. It gave him credibility with the Guyanese.
It may have impressed the Soviets.

9. ‘A Russian-speaking emissary had visited Jones
just weeks before the suicide.

10. The Soviets reacted to the suicides
immediately. While our own state department was
confused and stunned, the Soviets responded
quickly and clearly, divorcing themselves entirely
“from the American Marxist. Russians used it as an
example of American insanity.

11. Two temple members were sent out by Jones
prior to the mass suicide. They were to deliver a
suitcase to the Soviet embassy in Georgetown.
Inside was $500,000, some documents, and
weapons.

CONCLUSIONS: Very combustible elements
were present—the Chinese, the Russians, the
Cubans, the Venezuelans and the Guyanese. Was
Jones, in his egomania, planning to work one force
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against the other and come away with something of
his own? Did the Soviets lead him to believe they
would provide military assistance, recognition, and
an umbrella if he should declare statehood?

Another mystery involves money. Jones oftep
warned associates that governments and courts can
freeze bank accounts. One large source of cash was
found in Jonestown. It included millions of dollars,
Are there others? Two of Jones’s men were found
leaving Jonestown with half a million dollars. Did
anyone get out who has not been found?

A former business manager of People’s Temple
has warned that cash is probably available. An
investigation is being conducted into the removal of
eight million dollars from Swiss bank accounts.

Consider the cave where money and supplies
were kept in case of nuclear war. Bonnie Thielmann
says the cave was cleaned out but other sources say it
was only moved.

Then there is the mystery of murder. Were any of
the mysterious deaths within the family legend
actually murder? As this book goes to press a grand
jury hearing is taking place. Based upon my
information to the FBI, Faith Kice and Linda
Sweeney, former Jones mistresses, have been taken
into protective custody and are telling all.
Indictments for murder may be forthcoming. But

what can be proved? Were the deaths coi ncidental?
If the events in Guyana finally cause inquiry into
these deaths are there persons living who can be
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a1 'P
I' "EWiﬁattE;Ji;"e be further murders gs'Nevf% S?y’ alzi(i
G-ﬂ';'.érs warned? Is there a post-suicide hit sqlfa
Are assassinations of San Fran cisco'M ayor 1\-’.[05(,0;1(2
2 City Commissioner Harvey Milk rel:ated t()_tl(:-
; aI}d s incident? What was the relationship bet\\-efa-.n
| I?ifFrancisco District Attorney Joe Freitas and Jim
fﬂie,fz&ler mystery surrounl_ds fhe .death gf"]oc?is‘
Was he planning a getaway? Was 'he rr}llurh(-,reor U);
another temple member who, seeing the . ‘orr ol
the suicides, decided that Jones should n otlsu ;Vl\t EL
Perhaps Jones had sent the money suppy‘ Er :
Russian embassy to arrange for his own de:pa"r 0{1‘ :1 1
Finally there is the most baffling mystery :
: id it happen?
qulfng;d(]}tugiﬁ;s tragedy there havc been allllgry7
demands that American authorities do somet ti-n%:
immediately to stop the growth of Cll!!.S. Thele :'[u‘s ice
Department and Federal Bureau of Invcstzgdtjm}
have received many such re.ques‘rs.fmm mtlm l‘:l-ns:](;
Gongress as well as concerned private in b ug Q
but both departments said any such mvestlgfltwn.
ut bot P e e
Wwould violate freedom of religion guarantees ir
itution. . .
mr‘f’i’%ﬂg cha] minds began t‘r}drjg to asc:e;'t"ain ;hl:
fonsequences of cult investigations, Ax.nerlcat ].0
Confronted head-on with figures that .Sald’l.lp 0 L
Percent of Americans may be im-*olw.:(] in ‘frmges“,l : t;
Whose doctrines involve everything from Satar
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:V tican newspaper, L’ Osservatore Bomano,
Va W ;

worship to UFO idolatry. Up to 5,000 new cults na

have been organized in the last decade, and scholay$

estimate the number of adherents at be
twenty and twenty-six million.

Our American Constitution has never been tested
as it has in recent years. The concept of a free pressis
colliding with the promise of a fair trial and now the
pendulum may be swinging away from freedom f
religion. I hope not. It was through Christ that I
became free from the hold of People’s Temple.

Psychologists and theologians are answering
theories about why people get drawn into cults, and
are also making some statistical observations.

The most susceptible age group for cults at the
present time is the 18-24 range. The groups usually
appeal to individuals with a need for absolute
answers and externally imposed disciplines. They
normally rely on intensive indoctrination in
secluded settings to retain new recruits. Almost all
are characterized by a fanatical commitment among
its followers, and the requirement of absolute loyalty
to a specific, powerful leader.

Some blamed a mechanistic, unconcerned
society. Others cited the breakdown of the family
and lack of moral and ethical guidelines within the
society. At least one expert said the main villain was
the jungle, which isolated Jones’s followers from the
rest of the world and made them lose a proper
perspective of their actions and life style.

But perhaps the most practical advice came from

t\\’&en
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i 7 ic sarly
referred to a warning that was voiced nearly

000 years ago:

e Christs and false prophets shall nSC»)f
band shall shew signs and wonders, to sedli(cc, 1t
B were possible, even the elect. Bu;1 t;ﬁi }q
Mheed: behold, 1 have foretold you a gs.

(Mark 13:22, 23)

For fals

Wherefore if they shall say unto you, Behf}lc.lj
he is in the desert; go not forth: b.ehold, hailst];
thebsecret chambers; believe it not. (Matt.

94.96)
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PETITION ENTREATING SE RY OF
VANCE TO OTECT THE HUMAR RIGHTS OF UNITED

STATES CITIZENWS IN Y JONESTOWE", GUYANA

T HONDRABLE CYRUS VANCE, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE UNITED

Parents and T
and adults under the control of Rew.

Jones at “Jonestown', Ho wost District, Guysna,

America

May 10, 1978
We, the undersigned 57 petition
parents and relatives of the E'.-err_-inafter—r’icsign;—.[n:’n [nE
2ens mow residing in the Cooperacive Repub

@Berica. We respectfully entreat to attend to the following

facts:

1. Mare than 1,000 United States ci s, including our

Telatives, are mow living in G

Elicampment DA "Jonestown', whose leacer ig Jim &, also a

®itizen of the United States.

7. We have evidence that Jonestown has turned into a "'con-

Bentration camp" in which the rights of its residents under the

# s. constitution, the United Nations C ter, the Guyana Con=
Stitution, and the Guyana Penal Code are being seriously and Sys-

1y violated by Jim Jomes .
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document s entitled, “accusation ef Human Rights VYiclations
es Against Our Children and Relatives

sad conclusion include the following: e i ol i
by ev. ames Warren Jomn

a. The stationing of . i - Am
ti ] ards aroun nest i
E g & around Jonestown to prevene at the FPeoples Temple Jungle Encampment in Guyana, South Amer-

anyone leaving the e i
-4 neampment Wi 1
ampment without Jomes' permission; jea."

b. The confiscation by Jor 3
ion by Jones of all passports and monies 5 On April 12, 1978 we sent . aforesaid
Folivwi = the 3

to prevent anyon
Lo prevent anyone from buying = irli icl
suying an airline ticket home and from Mecusation to cach of the

i e L e
g eleazed st lidyeheil Intesnational Sirport £ Stat
L TpOT uyana; iy aLate:

Cyrus Vance, Saprefary of State;

L if that NIk
ant that na resident of Jonestown be per- e
mitted to leave t} i
ve the encampment excep s = o
pt on business for Jones, and Warren Christopher, Deputy Secretary of State;
Douglas Bennet, Assistant Secretary of State
Congressional Relacions;

t TLLY e 5
hen ocnly in the compa ¥ others require (=] ¥y and rep
ny of ot d to spy and

back ta Jones;

Patricia Derian, Assistant Secretary of Hrate

Human Rights;

d. The e RN ) Holg !
prohibition of long distance telephone calls to 4 :2‘1:
the United Stat = (L,
o 5 tes and all other forms b
i s . Hon, Hedding Garter AIL, Assistant Secretary of
State for Public Affairs, and

e. The censoring of all incoming and outgoing mail;
£. The prohibiticn of znyone leaving Jones' or -I . Hony 5% Dobrenchuk, Lllhic-f of 1'.gé.‘||c“_‘r an.{ip .
Peoples Temple, under ¢ S S SRS R S Protec crvices Division for Departiment of State.
< ple, under threat of death. : 6. We are he & today a document entitied,
Thezse 2 Facts & : ?
! ]'”*" ML e e nted by eye-witness ac- UPETITION ENTREATING PRIME 1 £5 BURNHAM TO STOP REV
I e e b :
:-) t IL_“"‘”“-Z?C atfidavits of Yulanda Crawford and Ste- JAMES WARREN JONES FROM FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS
e ‘h‘.‘tser‘s SELATRe Rt U Sl iy e e pecen OF OUR RELATIVES IN GUYANA." We ask that you read it carefully,
cen advised - t = 4 z
Hatod DRt Ul ion to verify. particularly the gquotations from Peop Temple on & "deeision
; ‘ft Jones has installed batbed-wire fences and has also instal to die, and a "una Lo on the line.
ed a closed-circuit iHom v
. Cb‘Ld circuit television system for internal surveillance:) We ask that you then transmit ugh official State
. On April 12, 1978 we served on Peoples Temple officiasls Department channels te the Honorable Forbes Burnham.

in Sa ‘ranci

1 San Francisco a decument which cited, by Article and Section
i ! ti and Section

number, the particul rovision

£ L ular provisions of the Universal Declaration NOW, THEREFORE, WE RESPECTFULLY:ask that you. HONC

of Human Rights {(guarant 3 i 5 : I

eiiarantecd by Article 55 of the [nited Nations CYRUS VANCE, in your capacity as SECRETARY OF STATE FUR 7

Charter) and of the Guya o i i H
1 uyarna Constitution being violated This UNITED STATES, take the following action to pr
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and leg
Guyana, before
1. Immediatel ransmi
tely transmit to the Honorable Forbes Burnham

enclosed perition
petition dated May 10

Honarabie John R, Burke, Unit
sador to Guyana, to lsunch a continu
acement of
the legal rights
there.
3. Officiall e
cially reguest on behalf of 1
Loon half cf the United States G
2 ates Govern-
tabke the sctio
take the action Tequested in our

aforesaid itd
oresaid petition addres to him

4. Dfficially
111y request all internationsa i
1 intetnational agencies concerned

stigate end momitor
Caorrr
Cross, Amnesty In
‘nia 95482 (telephone 707-

rake the actien herein requested.

CTFULLY SUBMITTED,

Pet

Forbes Burnham)

PEOFLES 'IEMPLE——PEOPLE’S TOMEB

Jim Jones,
Pastor
March 14, 1578

RERS OF CONG RESS!

Yiect of haramsment by saveral
At st which B

TO ALL U5 SENATORS AND MEM

We at
of the 11.5.
exhausied.

e refused

o g
-_114..:;& 2 5. 5 A v 3 = a1 ihey would =ee o
Fpeierbim, g 5 5
2 ¥ i
o o om b .
hee?
ghts by cut
& Arerv of varipis gover
chould have been.
pt. and even tl

Tow, however, WE 528 1
ays to cut off our

vis part of 1
irely supportive of 1S, po
Jed nations, It sE

and bBe a credit
Jd sesk ta

g 1 ately garned
mbittered malcontents. We
< 8 months working 10 de
lopted and ushampered. This proje
of Fr in promoting 2 pomtive
in & very 12

many of the populace have more of @ Jeft le

cunt of 1ax dollass we have saved th
and sleEring some from inevitable lives of crime
eds of thousands, WMore importantly than th
for destruction, 11 seems cruel
: ¥ semeni inlo &0
v pecple carmol jally harressad =nd b
wAthout seeking altes that have been prese:aled. 1 cemsay W
out hesitation that we are devored to a decision chat il is better even 10 i
be constantly harrassed from one continent 1o the next. I hope you £t lo
this matter and protect the right of cver 1,000 prople frem the U5 1o By

Ty such 1ac tves

223
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AFFIDAVIT OF YOLANDA D. A. CRRWFORD SHi

THE ACHINGS AND PRACTICES OF REV, JAM

WARREN JONES IN G IH AME

A, Crawford, certify as follows:
wWas in Guyana, South America as a member of Peoples

Temple from April 1, 1977 un June 29, 1877,

Warren Jones ({("Jim Jones"), the leader
in Gy

T 1 2 : |
which mes witnessed the following statements and

P,

by him,

2. Jim Jones said that the United States is the !

‘most ewvil

nation in the worlad far ' O ind
i rild; refe; J to 2l and industrial

stic pics". He said he would rat r have
live in the United Stat

ior to June ople would be comint

LOT & temporary period of time. In June Jim

7 e e D e R
Jones stated that the pecple he br 5 over from the United Stz

will be staying in Cuyana "permanently®

4. Jim Jones said that acbody will be permitted to leave

Jonestown and that he was going to keep guards stationed around

Jonestown to keep anybody from leaving. He said that he had

qu and that if anyone tries to leave they will be killed (“cffed")

and their bodies will be left ip the jungle and "we can say that

B e F e :
we don't know what happen te you." He also said, "I can get a

Ha e ars hard
hit man for dallars. It's not hard for me to get a hit man

anywhere."

EXHIBIT B

PEOPLE'S TEMPLE—PEOPLE’S TOMB

ates, Jim Jones 4 the

aver to hirs also saw

renple menb:

Smmunition being packed in =nt to Guyana

Bdiressed to Peoples Temple from San Franei ST heard Jim

Jomes Say . e e

preparad
e i ss caid that black pecple and their sympat

; e T
Were going that "the Ku

Flux Klan is
and cities back the streets, a
d, Los Angeles is being des
& should turn in their pass
énd all their money to is to visit any local

Gliyanese people auiehe e e

femple members,
to send
1 incoming mail was fi
read before being shown to the
£

1 Iay my body down for th

fance” and askec to make the same promise, which they did
by a show h d also asked 1 teo commit th
€i1) anyone attempting to hurt

8, Jim Jones ordered all F us to break our ties with familie:
HE £2id that our highest and only loyalty should be "the cause”,
8nd that the only reason for staying in touch with our families
WaE to collect inheritances when "they d to keep
them pacified "so as not to ma trouble for the cause".
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e i
10.

prevent "treason'. i -echn was to have everyone resore to

him {er his two or three most trusted leaders) all suspicious

talk or behavior of others,
11. - Jim Joneg ordered pecple punished when they broke
rules. The punishments included fogd-deprivation, sleep-depri=-

vation, hard labor, and eating South American hot peppers. I say
a teenager, Tommy Bogue, being forced to esat hot peppers at a

public meeting.
12. So far as I know, only one person {Leon Bro

of B50 or more residents has dared to leave Jonestown since my

mother, husband and I left on June 29, 1977. Before Jim Jones

allowed me to leave, I was forced to promise him I would never

and that if I did I would los

“protection” Furthermore,

Jones ordered me to —incri

including a statement 5t the gover:
that I had plotted =z vernment, that I was
the PPP ve Party), which L sition party
Guyana, and tha d come to Guyana to help the FPP. Jim
reason for signing those papers was to discredit
ided to leave the movement "and ta Also,
before leaving for Guyana, I was ordered to fabricate a story

and sign it stating that I killed somecne and threw the body in

the ocean. I was told that if I ever caussd Jim Jones trouble,

he would give that statement to the police., He further intimi
me and others inthe congregation by saving, "I, (Jim Jones) have

Mafia connections, and they will stand with me all the way."

‘Marshal

PEOPLES T EMPLE——PE()PLE’S TOMB

L3

wha wroke ©
nimt. We all kmew
ethe anggls hare baken care af him
e anggl Agea
wou you Cross
ple o would do yow 2
eople whi

Jim Jopes-

14 Jim Jones ordered &

1] her brother in

ple

the United Sta : . e
L 3 5 told her everything she was L

4 her side and tod s
torceful enonah..  He ordel
- ates to stop orit joazing
pe to tell

hiaare -

e regaticn when ne

and Teligion
weed Teligion

stated he

3 cwld
ipng he could
pg of Jim Jones stating he
stances ©f Jim.d

¥ of being hoMoRE:
Ly sccusing them of besed

<exual deviates.

the forsgcing is true

pril 10, 18728.
A\
(4 /ﬁ:"}\ .
ol g B
= Vi ;j\

at 3
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PETITION EN’ AR
ATING PRIME MINISTER FORBES BURNHAM

TO STOP i S WARRE
BREV. JAMES WARREN JOWES FROM FURTHER V
T ¢ Al L9
LATIONS OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS OF OUR RELATI
I R RELATIV

GUYANA
TO: HONDES R, i M
ONORABLE FTORBES BURNHAM, PRIME MIM REZERE
: 2 - ME MI R OF THE CO
TIVE REPUBLIC OF GUYANA. SOUTH AMERICA
From: 'Concerned Relati o :
led Relatives": Parents and relatives of
a a Ve o =
Ten a dults
o and adults under the control of Rev. J
I ev. James W
Jones at “Jonestown”, Northwese Di

Date: May 10, 1978

i =] . 1
We, the undersigned 57 petitioner TE e grief- ken
signed P ONers, & he gri

B ¥ crief-stric
parents and relatives of the herein fer-de L & A
t relatives t W
o hereinaft Slpgnated persc
- £ d d
ivi in your country We respectfully entreat vy to atten
L at you to attend
to the following facts
1 n Ine % mes Warrer IMES Jim Jones
5 u 1
inJ 977 Rev. James W en Jon {
teft the United State r Guyana as he h i ot (‘[. e :
h i £, b
4 otates for Guyvans as he wag abou T
b o be exp
in.the press ¥ i & Ey. E h IEen taking :
for fraud, brutalic o child P
; Lt i and tak
erties by false pretenses & has et lvlr e o
h 1 4 i
pretenses. Jim Jones h EVET d
has nev turn i
United States to answer these charges
b charges:,
2 . Since JTies has ed more than 1
nee June 1977 Jim Jones has induc s h 1
9 duce thar
United States “lZzens ECOTEe permarer sldents of Guyana
1 Stdt ci to becom 2} Lt re
E I s
at his i1 & S Ao e e = meTt ; ',.. 11e
5 ngle encampment leased frém vour governmen e call
FE s % = :
is encampment “Jonestown

3 Jim Jones at thi mer t S T T AT - t
im J¢ a s
5 t this mom
t Is flagrantly and syst

TOMB

'aﬂ}‘. earrying out the following acts and abuses on all Jonestown
,_.ég..],dents. including our relatives:
: 4. Startions guards around Jonestown and threatens the
‘reeidents with death if they attempt to leave:

h, Confiscates their passports and moRey;

¢, Employs physical intimidation and psychalogical co=
erciom as part of & mind-programming campaign aimed at destroy-
ing family ties, diserediting belief in god, and causing con-
tempt for the United States of America, as well as for all other

Wation states, ineluding Guyana;
d. Deprives them of their rightsto privacy, free speech

and freedom of movement by:

freedom of association,

(1) Prohibiting telephone calls;

{2) Prohibiting {ndividual contacts with all ''out-
siders’, including Guyanese:

(3) Censoring all fneoming and outgoing mail;
(&) Extorting silence from relatives in the U.5
by threats to stop all communicatiom;

(5) Preventing oul children from seeing us when
we travel to Guyana (five of us have tried).

4. | The foregoing acts are documented in the "hccusation
8f Human Rights violations by Rev. James Warren Jones Against
Bur Children and Relatives 2t the Peoples Temple Jungle Encamp-
m.Ent in Guyana, South America’, a copy of which is atrached.
Bhese acts of Jim Jones ére a clear violation of the Guyanese
Constitution and of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,
8s guoted in the aforesald Acgusation. The-physical intimida-
tion is a violation of the penal code of Guyana.
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n

S 0niApeil 11 1978 se served the aforegaid Accusation
on Peoples Temple officials in San Francisco. The Accusation
set forth a number of demands for relief, inecluding a demand
that Jones permit and encourage our relatives to return to the
United States for a one-wesk visit home at our eXpense, return
fare being guaranteed

6. On April 12, 1978 we sent two copies of this Accusation
to you as Prime Minister of CGuyana. One copy was sent via the
Guyanese Embassy in Washington, D. C., and the other directly
to Georgetown, Guvana., In our cover letter we asked you, as
"the one person in the world with power' over Jones, to take
action to stop his viclations of human rights. We have received
no response from you.

7. Omn April 17, 1978 Jim Jones responded to our demands
for relief by staging a press conference in the office of his
attorney in San Francisco, wherein our relatives in Jonestown
read scripts over a radio-phone network praising "the integrity,
honesty, and bravery" of Jim Jones and falsely denouncing us as
child molesters, sexual deviates, dope addicts, and terrorists,
as well as manifesting other symptoms of mind-programming. (In
order to show the falsity of these charges, Steven Katsaris
May 2, 1978 voluntarily submitted himself to a professional poly-
graph examination. The Teport, dated May 3 and attached hereto,
concludes: "It is the opinion of the examiner, based on Kat-

saris’' polygraph charts, that he is telling the truch_ ")

|8 chilling

PEOPLE'S TEMPLE—PEOFPLE'S TOMB

g, On April 18, 1978 Jones intimated once again a threat

as to be incomprehensible to the average decent per-

A i . larify the follow-
o In our Accusation we had demanded Jones ¢ v

o septence in a March 14, 1978 letter on Peoples Temple station-
ing

£ ¥ b ers of Congress':
ﬁy'addresaed tps all U, §. Senators and Memb 2

on that we are

it is hetter even
one

Ul can say without hesi;ati
devored to a decision that
to die than be constently harrassed from
continent to the next.

On April 18 Jones issued a Press Release on Peoples Temple sta-

tipnery with the following "elarification” (page 4)
1 1 i - 2. .'11
likewise, affirm that before we wi
the interminable plotting
f this politically mnt1v?ted
i ill ist ively urting
conspiracy, we will resasn‘actlvely: P .
our fivesyan the line, if it comes to thaLi
This has been the unanimous vote of the col-
lective community here in Guyana.

"And we,
submit quietly te
and persecution o

9 On April 26, 1978 we served an advance version of this
Petition on the Honorable Joseph D'Olivera, Honorary Consul for

the Cooperative Republic of Guyana, Los Angeles, California.

10. We respectfully submit to you, My, Prime Minister, that
the foregoing evidence shows that Jonestown, Guyana has taken on
the characteristics of & “eoncentration camp, and that you, as
the leader of Guyana, would do well to analyze the mentality of
%= 1cader so as to anticipate its potential for causing extreme
reputation in the international community.

that you, HONORABLE

damape to Guyana's

NoW, THEREFORE, WE RESPECTFULLY ask
FORBES BURNHAM, in your capacity as FRIME MINISTER OF GUYANA,
Eike the following action to protect the human and legal rights

Bf our relatives in Guyana before it is tao late:
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S

1. Immediately order the Minister of Home Affairs and the
Commissioner of Police to launch an ongoing investipation inro
Jones' violations of the Guyanese Penal Code and Constitution.

2. Immedistely order "Bishop Jim Jomes' (as he prese
himself to you)' to cease and desist from the unlawful acre item-
ized in the attached Accusation, with particular orders for him
ta:

Remove all puards stationed avound Jonestown;

Return to our relatives their passports and mon

Permit them to mix with the local Guyanese as indi-
viduals;

Permit them to make telephone calls to us in private
at our expense when in Georgetown;

Permit them to receive all mail indiwvidually addres-
sed to them, and to read the same in private;

Permit them to mail letters they write in private
without being opened by Jones or his staff.

3. Immediately order Jones to permit and encourage our
relatives to return to the United States for a one-week home
visit at our expense, so as to test whether or not they are
being held against their will, upon our guarantee of return
fare should they choose to return.

4. Tmmediately order Jones to abide by the lawful orders
of courts in the United States with respeet to the custody of
our relatives.

5. If Jim Jones refuses to abide by wour orders, expel
him from Guyana so that Jonestown can become a democratic so-

ciety in accordance with the Guyana Constitution,

pHone 07-462-8721) of your willingness

PEOPLE’S TEMPI JE—PEOPLE’S TOMB

g : is, Trinity
b Notify our spokesman, Steven A, Katsar
[, . > i » (tele-
1, 915 West Church Srreet, Ukiah, California 95482
ol , :
- to protect the hurman

snd legal rights of our relatives.

RESPECTFULLY 5 UBMITTED,
CONCERNED RELATIVES
f Petitioners

(Summarized Listing ©
Attached)
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HARMAN & SHAH&EN

; HiMAN RIGHTS ABUSES BY J JONES
associates, Inc. ol e R LT

CORFORAT IR
Meburs. Amancan Folygraph At

May 10, 137
. Caltarmia Aociation of Faligiagh Fasm ¥

1A
5 JONESTOWN, GUYARR
¥ RELATIVES IN JONES
7 LI 0F PETITIONERS WL
STMMARY LISTING

Reletionship
age Petitioners to Forbes Burnhal Peritioner
4 % elative at e - AV
e of a i
d | \srd agner (San Franc iecol
CONFIDENTIAL REFORT: e a7 Daashie
. leagner, 5 ;
MBI, Timothy Gliver Stoen '3 Rarris, Liane
Attorney At Law
L0 Montgomery Strast
San Francises, California

Don Pomta (ki
3. Ponts, Dot Cynthia Beaw i
o May 2, 1978, Steven A. Katsaris volontars eOliver, ¥
Polygraph exanination. fhe maln issue under invelved all A wer & Beverly Oliver
of dmxual molestation made mgainat him by nis deughtar, Maria Eatsaris, Macis oward D1iver
iz prabently with the Pacple’s Tanple Church in Gupana, During Mr, katsaris’ & Oliver, Br: For e CIE
Attempts to get his daushter away from tnis chucch, the allegatlons of sesost ) Stewen A HeEsaRSs
molestation wers nade by same of the officials of the People’s Tewple Chugch. b. Farsaris, Marid
Ho spacific, pablic statessnts slong this line ware made by Marla Katseris. ?
Ancng oEher charges made against Katsaris by the Peaple's Temple Church was the ¥, Rozynko, Michs
Seatement that he vas invlved with a right-wing congressman in a conspiracy to
destroy People’s Temple Church.

Ly cams to this office for a

Beverly

Sandy Rezymka Mills (33 1and)
Sreve Mills (Oakland)

LR {Same)
During Mr, Katsaris® pre-test {nterview, he maintained he has never made et Sandy 24
any saxual sdvances whatsosver toward his daughter, Maria, fe alse insinted 8. Rozynko, Joyo Steve Mills
that he has never baen involved in any cumspiracy with a conqressman to destroy

People's Temple Church.

- ! Tis M  Ro ka Mills
Steve Mills & Sandy Rozymka M
8. Rogynko, Chris

Mother
ko Milla Mother=in-Llaw
Son
There were no significant

Son
el i

i e of
raflectad in Mr. Katsaris' polygraph charts when he ansvwered "Ho" to
ing test questicns;

Lk Grace Stoet
@0, Stoen, Jehn VietoT Timothy 0. P
4 L 5 Franciseod G
the follow- ¥ Heva Jean AR . i
Bl. 81y, Mark A. Husbano
Heva Je
"Did you ever make any sexusl advances toward Marias Xaesacis?® 1%, 51y, Donald E

"Did you ever try to have smrual intercourse with your daughter, Maria?"

13, Houston, Pat
"Did you ever sexuslly fondle any pert of Marin's body?t

3 Robert & B
“bid you sver plan with any congressman to destroy People’s Temple Charch?™ 14 o n, * e
S Eutn het
It is the opinion of the examiner, based on Katsaris' polygraph charts, 35 Rerns, Carol Fhil Kerns
Hiat he is telling the truth on the above-listed questipes, Mother
kal
Yours very truly, = < 5 B Re Daughte
16. Kerns, Ellen -
H & SHAHEEN AS5 S, INC.

/. ) B i
Harman

18, Lopez,

GHegh

Barbara
o by thic ayarer al B
e 1 3wy cer

- Frances
Berds
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Name of Relacive at
_Jonestown

22. Griffich, Mary H.
23. Cobb, John
24, Cobb, Brenda
25, Cobb, Sandra

26. Cobh, Joel

27, Cobb, Christine

28, Browm, Ava
28 Brown, John (Jones)

.30. Touchette, Gharles

Joyce

31. Touchette,

32. Touchetre, Al

33, Tauchette, Michael

3%4. Touchette, Michelle

35. Swinmey, Clewve

36. Swinney, Helen

37. Swinney, Tim

36, Berry, Diana

39, Griffirh, Marrian
&0. Griffith, Emmett Jt.
41, Griffirh, Amonde
4%, Rice, Thomas D_

%3, Kiee, Thomas D., II

&4, Chaikin, Eugene

HUMAN RIGHTS ABUSES BY JIM JOMES (CONTINUED)

hge

Petitioners to Forbes Burnham
and Cyrus Vance

Relationsh:

Roge Davig (San Franciseo}
Carnella Trues (San Francisco)
Louige Blanchard {San Francisco)
James Cobb, Jr. (Sas Francisco)
James Cabbk, Jr.

James Cobh, Jr.

James Cobb, Jr,

Jdames Cobb, Jr.
Jamee Cobb, Jr.
James Cobb, Jr.

Mickey Touchette (San Francisca)
Marvin Bwinney (South Carolina)

Mickey Teuchecte
Marvin Swinmey

Mickey Touchette
Marvin Swinney

Mickey Teuchette
Marvin Swinney

Mickey Touchette
HMarvin Swinney

Mickey Touchette
Marvin Swinney

Touchette
n Swinney

Mickey Touchette
Marvin Swinney

Carnella Truss (San Francisce)
Carnella Truss

Carnella Truss

Carnelia Truss

Wayne Pietila (Petaluma)}
Wayne Pletila

Raphael Chaikin {Mewport Beach)

Eo Petitions

Aunt

Mocher

Sister
Brather
Sisrer

Slster
Brother
Mother

Sister
Bracher-in-law

Father
Brocher-in-law

Mother
Sister

Brother
Hephew

Brother
Nephew

5i 3
Hiece

Grandfacher
Father

Grandmother
Mother

Encle
Brothez

Daughter
Sisrer
Brother
Sigter
Step-father
Half-brother

Brother

PEOPLE'S TEMPLE—PEOPLE'S TOMB

Hame of Relative at

Jepestom

45, Chaikin, Phyllis
46, Chaikin, Gail
47 Chaikin, David

%8, Farrell, Barbara

49, Flewers, Rebecca

(. Tupper. Larcy. dr.
51, TuppeT. Ruth

Si. Tupper, Hary

53, Tupper. Tim {Jones)
54 Tupper, Janet

55, Bates, Christine

56, Parks, Jerry

§7. Parks, Patricia
58. Parks, Dale
59 Parks, Brenda
B0. Parks, Tracy

81, Lacy, Georgia

62, Bripgs, Donna
B3, Licon, Tony

64, Edwards, James

65, fdwards, Irene

66, Ponta, Lois

HUMAN RIGHTS ABUSES BY

Age

40 Raphael Chaikin
16 Raphael Chaikin

13 Raphael Chaikin

JIM JOHES {CONTINUED)

pgritioners to Forbes Burnham
gnd Cyrus Vance

Ay
44 Lena May Pietila (Fecaluma)
i Elzx:cd Leo Holt (k‘a;_l‘fj.e.ld)

24 Lena May Pletils
Elwood Les Holc

10 Laurence Tupper (Chico)

21 Laurence Tuppe:
17 Laurence Tupper
20 Laurence Tupper
14 Laurence Tupper

73 Henry W. Haynes

{Los Angeles)

Mcs, Henry Haynes (Los Angeles)

Parks

472 Dennis H. Parks

27 pennis H. Parks

FParks

17 Denmis -H.
11 Dennis H. Parks

68 Phillip I

Frank Lacy (8an F

15 Phillip Laey

13 Phillip Lacy

Ophe
Wilhel

(WMciah)

acy (San Luis Obispe}

cigcal

¥l

Elnora James (Berkeley)

galvin Johnson
Mary Evans

56 Modenia Belton

Mildred Womack {Daly
{San Franciseo)

Edna Smich

51 Cynthia Beam

(Sen Franelscol

{Berkeley)

(Concord)
ciey)

Relationship
te Petitionar

Siatar-in-law
Hiece
Nephew

Mothes
Sister

Sleter
Hisce

Son
Daughter
Daughcer
Som
Daughter

Slagter
&ister-in-law

Erother
Sigter-in-law
Hephew

Higce

Niece

Mother
Yife

Half-sister
Half-brother

Uncle

Brother

ister

Mother
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HUMAK RIGHTS ABUSES BY JIM JONES (CONTINUED)
Bame of Relarive at Feritioners to Forbes Burnh,
Jonestown and Cyrus Vance
67, Parks, Joyee Jack Arnold Besm (Vent Sister
68. Beam, Elesnor Jack Arnald Baam ‘Sierer
- Besm, Eheaviana 33 Jack Arnold Beam Mother
. Beam, Jack 3 Jack Arnold Beam Father
idenbach, Rocky 5 Sam .Hrnic'ontac'h (Fremont)
. Breidenbach, Wealey 13 Sam Breidenbach
. Melanie San Breidenbach Sister

Sneed, Eloise i gl Medlock {Loz 3 I Sister
Wade Medlock (Loz Ange

3. Williama, Syola i Wade & Mabel Medlock
- Johnaon, Clara Mabel Hedlosk
. Johneson, Tommy 2 Mabel Medlock
. Jobnson, JoAnn 9 Mabel Hedlock
- Johnson, Joyce € Mabel Medlock
Johnsen, Janice 7 Mabel Medlock
. King, rlette [ Leye srham (1 3 +) .Mother

- Duncsn, Regins ati 1 Hieoe

ESTOWN BY JONES IR V.

Age

ACCUSATION OF HUMAN RICHTS VICLA
JAMES WARREN JONES AGATHST OUR CHILDEEN AND
RELATIVES AT THE FPEQOF

MENT 1IN GUYANA, SOUTH AMERICA

REN JONES
) : gy Y
From: Farconts d relatives of ©
control at “Jonestown', N
1 o ramna
Republic of Guyana

by e e TR

1. INTRODUCTION
rief-stricken parents and
We, the undersigned,. are the grief-stricken paren

i ign rsons you arranged
B elatives of the hereinafter-designated persons you ar £ed

nsported to Guyana, South America, at a jungle encs

ment you call "Joneste & advised thers are no tele-
3 -avs mow Have [or
pho or exit fyom Jonestown, and that you now have naTe
nes or exit from Jom
+h -
1 there.
Fhan 1,000 1.5,
to pass since you left the
We have to T
41thoush certain of us knew it
lnited though cer
3 wait group protest, others
would do n od to walt ETOUL
of v ere willing to wait you would in feet
fundamental nity of our children
undamentad Y
th

bers in Jonesto Sadly, your conduct over the
bers in Jones SR

2

shown such a flagrant dcruel

we have mo choleé as responsible people but
ation and to demand the immediate

aus abuses.
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II. SUMMARY OF VIOLATIONS

We hereby accuse you, Jim Jones, of the following acts
violating the human rights of our family members:

1. Making the following threat calculated to cause alarm
for the lives of our relatives: "I can say without hesitation
that we are devoted to a decision that it is better even to die
than to be constantly harrassed from one contiment to the next

2. Employing physical intimidation and psychological coer-
cion as part of a mind-programming campaign aimed at destroying
family ties, discrediting belief in God, and causing cont
for the United States of America.

3. Prohibiting our relatives from leaving Guyana by con-
fiscating their passports and money and by stat ioning guards
around Jonestown to prevent anyone escaping.

4. Depriving them of their right to privacy, free speech,

and freedom of association by:

a. Prohibiting telephone calls;
b. Prohibiting individual contacts with “outside
Censoring all incoming and outgoing mail;

- Extorting silence from relatives in the U.5. by
threats to stop all communication;

Preventing our children from seeing us when we
travel to Guyana.

The aforesaid conduct by you is a violation of the human
rights of our loved ones as guaranteed by Artiele 55 of the Uni-
ted Nations Charter, and as defimed by the Universal Declaration
of Human Rights (adepted by the U. N General Assembly on Decem-

ber 10, 1948). It is also a violation of their constitutional
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-titution of the United States,

pights

4 as guaranteed by the C ion of the Cooperative Republic
an! hions

of Guyans (adopted May 26, 1966).

III. THREAT OF DECISION TO LIE
On March 14, 1978 you, Jim Jomes, caused to be written on
Peoples Temple stationery 2 letter "ta all U.S. Senaters and Mem-
leoples Temple stationer

v aemplaining of alleged "bureaucratic harras-
hers of Conmgress” complaining of alleg

4 5 i oL ; :
Sment” and ending with this chilling threat

"I1]t is equally evident that people cannot L”f._-
ever be continually harrassed t 1ered by
such tactics withe

have been presented. Lt

tion that we are devoted to a decision

iz berter even to die than to be consta

rassed from onme continent to the next,

A copy of your letter is attached as Exhibit A.

We know how exact you are in choosing your words, and
fhere iz little doubt that this letter was dictated by you per-
'Dl.‘tall}r since it has been your policy over the years to dictate
@ll letters sent to governmental officials on Temple stationery.
¥our letter seeks to mask, by the use of irrelevant ideclogical
thetoric, its real purpose, which is to divert the attention of

i ohts
1.5 Covernmental agencies towards your abuses of human rights

By putting them on the defensive.
The "1,000 U.S. citizens" you claim to have brought to Guy-

e : ision
&na include our beloved relatives who are devoted to a decis

T t if you
that it is better even to die. We frankly do not know 1L ¥

1d a 1 allow
Have become so corrupted by power that you would actually al

ision" € i shet pur letter is simply
@ collective "decision"” to die, or whether ¥
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a bluff designed to eter investipations int Ur practi 5
2 B inves

i d d 2 on Loy ]

E o Practices

ere 1s supporti evidence for r concern in e affidav
Th 5 supporting evid ek o ATk n i th LE:
: avit
of Yoland rawfor Ltache ere 48 1ol » Which show
a fo , dttach I L B xh LB hich gh
£ il d g E b J. Ehowsg

that you 2} 1 ¥ s ed in il at you Ld
¥! have publicly star 2d in Guyana that vou would Tath
! er

have your people dead thar InE In f wtates, and
3 le d t living in the United Sta

that you have solici
a salicited people ta 1
3 ople to lay down thei i
T live
s s for your

You certai
ainly h e :
¥ have been successful in making us fearfyl
nE arfuyl

45 to your intentions.

We t 1ve
e hereby give you the opportunity now to publicly di
repudi-

ate our intewpretation of you threat ou ref n
i 12 your
rea If you us ¥
e to de

P i =E L te we demand that W immedi-
the apparent mea ing o ur letter d
¥ & yo

ately answer the following questions:

1. When you refer to & decisior at i -4 =Lter even to
Ie il o)
¥ T t that it is better even

die than t ;
1 0 be constantly harrassed”, has this "decision" al d
: : 1 sion" already
been made or is i
e t to be made in th
d e future? If i
ra? made, when and

where? ere our relatives con £ any ¥ S5en ¥
h T W isulted? Did anybod dissent? B

what moral or lega just icat could U possi ma uch
gal i ation
£i (o] ¥o o v
F bl ke s

a decision on behalf of minor children?

2. When you O s
you say you are “‘devoted” to this decision does

that mean it is i 7
L irreversible? If irrew -
; rreversible, at what i 7ill
s point will

the allege rassment e potten s rreat to ma leath
ged “harrassment have go 1 850 great as to k
r make deat
etter''? Would it be an nternation Hum. Ri Cor sion
b L1 I na 4l Human ghts Tl s
sl E510

investigatlion, Or an on-prem investigation of wour tions
n,; fl On-premises Ve
4 5
B gperatio
by the U - b e 3 g ¥ v B 4] at
Government? Who beside: ou will decide when that
1 5 Ty 3

point "to die' is reached?
We know L i
your psychological coercion of the residents of Jones-

AT : : P 1 : 3 i
own to be so "totalitarian'” that nobod ther in ts
& 5 hody CE, cluding adul
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R

IS ossibly make such a decision to die freely and voluntarily.
P 4 X

fhe evidence is that our relatives are in fact hostages, and we

wgby serve nmotice that should any harm tefall them, we will hold
you and Peoples Temple church responsible and will employ every

igg'nl and diplomatic resource to bring you to justice.

IV. MIND-PROGRAMMING AND INTIMIDATION

The affidavit of Steven A. Katsaris, attached hereto as Ex-

hibit C, is a personal account of his experiences in CGuyana. It

teveals the terrifying effect of your mind-programning on his
daughter, a bright 24-year old, which has caused her to deny be-

lief in God, to renounce family ties, and to manifest symptoms of

sleep-deprivation and a serious personality change.
Yolanda Crawford's affidavit (Exhibit B) is an eye-witness

8ccount of your activities in ‘Guyana by someome present with you.

The affidavit shows that you, Jim Jones, preach there the follow-

ing doctrines: a) that you are God and there is no other God,

b) that the United States is the
€} that allegiance to your cause must replace family loyalty and

"most evil™ mation in the world,

that parents should be handled at a distance for the sole purposes

8f collecting inheritances for the csuse and of getting them not

£o cause trouble.

The evidence also shows that you have instituted the follow-

ing practices in Guyana: a) 8 centralized chain of command whereby

811 decisions of significance are to be made by you and once made,

Must be followed by Temple members under threat of punishment;

b) the stationing of gusrds around Jonestown to prevent persons
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from escaping; -and c n 15€ depradln, UN1S r ex-
Yom escapllg; d ¢) the u hm
ol iing
deg P ents (fo X

ample, eating hot PpeETS sleep-deprivaci od- rivation
5 g hot pepp rs), sleeg vation, food dep
P i io

ard labor, and other ve techni - I use mind-
labor, ar v} coeral: 3
h d h echniques co  f
1iqu ed in
nd

programming.

The evidence also shows that you, Jim Jopes, confiscate the
pas?pcrts and monies of people upon their arrival in Guyana T
hibit individual contacts with "outsiders", censor incn;nir‘ : p;o_
: ; I E 1g an
outgoing mail, prohibit telephone calls by Temple members iher in
Georgetown, and require Temple members to travel in groups };sﬂ
Crawford's affidavir also shows that you have publicly threaren;d
that anyone who tries to leave the "cause" will be killed |

Thg.s. aforesaid conduct by you is a wanton violation of the
human rights of our loved ones. It is also a viclation of their
constitutional ripghts. he physical intimidation is a wviolation
of the penal codes of the United States and the Cooperative Re uk

puo-

lic of Gu

V. THE HUMAN RIGHTS BEING VIOLATED

We hereby bring ¢ our attenti i I rticular
1 o you = o1 m Jone he parti
. ¥ g, 2 P cula
provisiens which gua t . Tigt 5 ¥ -]
it uarantee human rights and constitutiona ght
B 15 . 1 rig
that you are violating:
onfiscati =t
1. Confiscation of Fassports. Your systematic confiscation
of passports ar = £5 = mbers nt \‘r
fp ports and all of the monies of mple members upo
; i upon thei
arrival in Guyana i for € rpos B hem i
¥ is for the purpose of preventing them from leav
ing av d THRLNE J 5 1 ¢ o ating
ing and returning to the Uni ted Scate X
C E: 5. ou are thereby viol

Article 13 Jecti e i
e . “Section 2 of the Universal Declaration of Human Ri £
it gn -8,
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dhich reads:

#gyeryone has the rig
his own, and to relfurn

any country, including
countyy.”
your conduct is alsp a violation of Article 14 (1) of the Consti-
eion of the Copperative Republic of Guyana, which reads:
"Ho person shall be deprived of his freedom af movement,
that is to say. the Tight to mMOWe freely througheut
"

Guyana, . .-the * ght to leave Guyana. . .

2 m‘cii_tjig_'fegg‘_ You systamaticelly tell all
Tgp'ple members upen their arrival in Georgetown, Guyana that they
ate not permitted, under threat of punishment, to make any tele-
phone calls to family membeTs in the United States OF elsewhere,
your purpose being toO prevent negative jnformation being imparted
%o relatives in the U. S. your additional purpose is to overcome
the bonds of family which might induce 2 Temple member Lo wish to
Teturn to his home in the U, 8. This conduct is a violation of

Article 19 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. which

States:

s the right to freedom of opinion and
this right includes freedom to hold opin-
interference and to seek, receive and im-
stion and idesas through any media and re-

"

"Everyone ha
expression;
ions withow!
part inform
gardless of frontiers.

This conduct is alsc 2 violation of Article 12 (1) of the Guyana

Donstitution, which reads: .

"Except with his own consent, 1o person ghall be hin-
dered in the enjoyment of his freedom of expression,
that is to say, freedom to hold opinions wi yout inter-
ference, freedom to communicate ideas and in

without interference and freedom from interferenc

his cnrrespondance,"
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3. Prohibiting Contacts With Outsiders

You systematic ]]')‘
require tha i E Wt 10 OmEET -
1 t all Temple members, while in Georgeto not con
i h b TRtn §

cate or visit with " ] o
t outsiders” and not leave the communal head

quarters (41 Lamaha Gardens) umless in association w ther Tem
bl “ion with oth =

ple members. You follow
gy ow the same policy i
policy in Jonestown, éenforoing

your edicts with W
guards. Your PUrpose is to prevent anyone "‘o:ing
&

to the U, 5. Embassy and causing them to ask questions how you
treat people. Your additional purpose is to discourage Temple
members from being exposed to other religions orx philosophi;:s
and from viewing their lives independent of communal obligatir')r\s
Your conduct is a violation of Article 20, Section 2 of the ‘Jn*-—-

versal Declaration of Human Rights, which states;

w
No
one may be compelled to beleng to an association.”

It i
is also a viclation of Article 1B of the same Declaration

which states:

"Eve i

angeg??eig:? t:e right to freedom of thought, conscien

religiongo* I.;F‘It,iei;? ‘r;g:t includes freedom to ::hang; he:}.sce
i L oK = ] , end freedom, either al i

mmity with others and in public or priv:t:netgrm;:iggnst

his religionm {
-0t belief in i s
ocbservance." teaching, practice, worship and

e : :
our conduct is also a violation of Article 13 (1) of the Guyana
Constitution, which reads:
“Except with his own conse
: nt, no i
in the enjoyment of his freedom Dgezz:i—zlmg]{;liﬁgea:;g:?;?d

tion, that is to sa hi .
: , his
s dbcd et wirk 0Ehe¥ pcrso:s_%‘}:t to assemble freely and

4. Censoring Mail. You systematically require that all of
fe'i : <
the incoming mail and all of the outgoing mail of Temple members

be ce
nsored by your staff. Your purpose is to discourage negative
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being "leaked" to people in the U. §. and to prevent

j;igntmtion
fgets about the "outside” world reaching Temple m

embers which are

st variance with your "party 1ine". This is shown by the affidavit

of Ms. Crawford with respeet to the Ku Klux Klan marching in the

streets. Because mail is the only means of contaet available to
qur loved ones once they are transported to Jonestown, you have
thereby effectively cut off all free expression and correspondance.

feur conduct is a violation of the right of our relatives to pri-

vacy, family, and correspondance under Article 12 of the Universal
Declaration of Human Rights, which states:

“Ho one shall be gubjected to arbitrary interference
with his privacy, family, home, or correspondance B
Everyone has the right to the protection of the law
apainst such interference.”

¥our censoring of mail 1s also a wiolation of Article 12 (1) of

the Guyana Constitution, which is quoted above.

5. Extorting Silence From Relatives. You systematically re-

Guire that Temple members who write to their family members in the
s (hrcaten in their letters that they will stop all further
fommunication if any criticism is made of you or Peoples Temple.

For example, Donna Ponts is a l5-year old girl taken to Guyana in

J‘ily 1977 without her father's knowledge and in violation of a

Gourt order reguiring her to remain in California unless he gave

Permission. Attached hereto as Exhibit D is a letter from Domnna

to her grandmother which starts out gaying: ''Grandma, Hi! How are

¥ou doing? I hope you and everyone else are doing good". It ends

48 follows:
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NI am s v ot he ha
b slice you d10-Twii] ooc Be weroig vor o arics,
Those of us who receive letters from our relatives in Jonestown
ind them standavdized and unresponsive, as if written by ma :
But since it is all we have, these letters are very prec-iour- to
You have placed us in the agonizing dilemma of watching helplecsly
while the rights of our relatives are violated or losing all cr; .

tact. We hawve chosen

: n, however, not to yield to your extortion,
which is a violation of Article 12 of cha. Universal Declaration
of Human Rights, quoted above, and of Article 13 (1) of the Guyana
Constitution, also quoted above, )

6, Prohibiting Our Children From Seeing Us. Five of th
- S e Al

parents wha have signed this accusation have travelled from San
Francisco some 5,000 miles in order to see their children since
you took them to Guyana. The evidence is clear that you have in-
stituted a most pernicious campaign to discredit us in our child-
i i
ren s eyes, as can be concluded from the following éxperiences;

a. Steven A. Katsaris.

On September 26, 1977 Steven A.
Katsaris arrived in Guyana and attempted to meet with his daughter,
Maria. She was prohibited from meeting with him, duress being em-
ployed by you to force her to lie to the U. S. Embassy that she
did not wish to see her father because "he had molested" her :
H}-. Katsaris had with him a letter from Maria inviting him and
saying, "I love you & miss you." On November 3, 1977 Mr. Katsaris
returned te Guyana to see his daughter, after first obtaining a

romise o is E
P f assistance from the Guyanese Ambassador to the United

1achines,

ug.

"Oliver (age 17) and Bruce Howard 0liver

two weeks."
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states . After days of waiting, Maria was allowed to see her

er but only in the presence of three other Temple members.

jvation and a behavicr pattern

Waria gave evidence of sleep depr

extremely hostile and different from that ever manifested before.

for the details of these two visits, refer to Exhibic C.

b. Howard and Bev rly Oliver. On Degember 19, 1977 Howard

&nd Beverly Oliver, together with their attorney Roger Holmes,

atrived in Guyana in order to see their two sons, William §.

(age 20). In July 1977

Both boys had told their parents they were going to Guyana "for

The Olivers had 2 court order from a California Sup-

erior Court for the return of William. They also had in thelr

possession letters from pach son saying "I love you". After

fpending eight days without success trying to see their sons,

they were told that “Jim Jones had a council meeting” and the

Mecision was that it was best that we did not see or talk to

our sons." ttached as Exhibit E is & handwritten account of

Beverly E. Oliver, together with a copy of a letter from each son.
c. Timothy and Grace Steen. On January 4, 1978 Timothy and

Brace Stoen arrived in Guyana in connection with habeas corpus

‘Proceedings commenced the preceding August. Although they had

8 California Superior Court order which ordered you to deliver

their six-year old child, John Yictor Stoen, to them, you refused

to let either parent even See their child. The evidence also

thows that you have falsely accused Grace as being ‘unfit" (see

Batsaris affidavit) and that on January 18, 1978 three Temple




PEOPLE'S TEMPLE—PEOPLE'S TOMB

~12-

members surrounded Timothy at Timehri Airport in Guyana and
threatened his and Grare's lives if they did not drop legal
proceedings (see Crime Report made to Guyanz Commissioner of
Police Lloyd Barker on January 18, 1978) .

The aforesaid conduct on your part constitutes a violation
of Article 12 (1) of the Guyana Constitution, guoted above, and
Article 12 of the Universal Declaration of Human Ripghts, which

states as

"No one shall be subjecred to arbitrary interfererice
with his... family,... ."

VI. DEMANDS FOR RELIEF

We hereby demand that you, Jim Jones, immediately cease and
desist from the aforesaid conduct and that you do the following
additional acts immediately:

1. Publiely answer our questions regarding your threat of a
collective "declsion...to die", and publicly promise U, §. Secre-
tary of State Cyrus Vance and Guyana Prime Minister Forbes Burnham
that you will never encourage or solicit the death of any person
at Jonestown, whether individually or collectively, for any reasen
whatsoever;

2. Remove all puards physically preventing our relatives from
leaving Jonestown; :

3. Return all passports and money tsken from cur relatives to
them for their permanent possession;

4. Permit and encourage our relatives a one-week visit home,
at our expense. (Because our relatives have been in Guyana for

months (and some, for years) and because it is our belief that the¥

S encouraping our relatives to

3 be el

W kiow the full FPecples Temple story and have been preju
do e ¥ e T

d against tk r families, we demand you demonstrate in prac-
dieced 2 ns I m i
iee your contention that they are their own agents by permirting
tice ontentio : ;
wisit their famllies in the e
f it} E 1tee th we wi rovide them with
for one week, with our guars ntee that we will p

i sith ir retu at the
round trip fare and not interfere with their return

111 igit 1ld they se.
$nd of the family visit should they SO choose.)

5. Permit our relatives to write letters to whomever they

Wish, uncensored and in private.

S - e
i el: i 7 a atters sent to them in p
6. Permit our Telatives to Te ad 1

Wate and without censorship.

he eot i e United States
7. Abide by the orders of the courts in th

Which .you have heretofore ignored.

ithi hree days vour radio-phone network
8. Notrify us within three days on yo

our 111 acceptance ai ala iance with the demands by con-
1 = jance with these TLATT
of your full cepta and compl 4

A L ; S¢hool, 915 West Church
Bacting: Steven A. Kats

Btrect  Ukiah, California
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STEVEN A. KATSARIS

AFFIDAYIT
AN ACCOUNT OF SOME OF MY EXPERIENCES WITH PECPLE'S TEMPLE CHURCH

WHEN I ATTEMPTED TO VISIT MY DAUGHTER IN GUYANA.

In July, 1977 my daughter Maria called me from San Francisco to tell
me she would be going to the People's Temple Agricultural Mission in
Guyana and would be there several weéks. She also informed me that
an article highly prejudicial to People's Temple Church was about
be published in the New West magazine and asked if I would send a

egram to the publisher in support of the Church's work. I did so

ing in the telegram that I believed they were working with people that
b P I

our social system had largely neglected. Shortly after the first art-

icle appeared.?n New West magazine my daughter called me from George-

town to inform me that the atticle was untrue, politically motivated

and that I should have no comcern about her activities in the Church.
She also told me that she wanted to stay several more weeks in Guyan#

if that was agreeable with me.

At that time a number of articles appeared in newspapers concerning
the experiences of some members of the Church. I became increasingly
concerned about my daughter when I read that members had been subjected
to various types of psvchological and physical coercien. In several
phone calls with my daughier 1 was assured that she was well and told
her that in several months T would be visiting Washington D.C. on per®’
onal business and was considering going on to Guyana afterward to sef

her. 5She appeared enthusiastic and receptive to this idea
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H'ﬂgughtel"s letters continued to be pesitive mentioning that she

sissed me, was concerned about my health, and asked me to send down

some mosquito netting and other things that she needed. Early in

sggt'enber 1977 1 contacted the Church offices in San Francisco and

ysked them to inform Maria on their radio phone that I would be arriv-

fig in Georgetown on September 26. Several days passed and I received

i telephone call from People's Temple Church telling me that radic com-

mmicetion had not been faverable and they were unahble to contact my

dsighter. I told them to keep trying since there still was adequate

Hge before T would be leaving for South America. Several days later

i 3:00 in the morning I Teceived a telephone call from an unidentified
rson who told me that she was part of the group of people who had

left People's Temple Church. The purpose of her phone call was to dis-

liifage me from going to Guyana. GShe said it would probably put my

BSighter in a difficult position. The caller hung up before I could

Bk any questions. The following night again at approximately 3:00 A.M.

[ feceived another phone call., "Again the unidentified caller cautioned

¥ about going to Guyana and in more forceful terms told pe that it

fight not be safe for me to do so. The following night I received

#i0ther telephone call at approximately 4:00 in the morning. This

Bie the caller was a man who told me I should think carefully about

W decision to go to Guyana and mentioned that since T lived alone on

fTanch in an isolated area my home could be burned down.

h@ next night on September 14 I received a radio phone call from my

d"‘-&hter Maria. She told me she had learned of my plans to visit her

fn Buyana and asked that 1 delay my trip until December when a group
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of prominent clergy would be visiting their agricultural project.
The radio phene call was prolenged with many pauses and interruptiens
but the essence of the conversation was a series of obstacles present-

After 1

ed to me by my daughter to discourage me from visiting. told

her that T did not wish to travel with a group of clergy in December

and that 1 would be going down September 26 she told me that the gove

ernment of Guyana discouraged visitors due to the “tremendous harras-

sment’ that Jim Jones had been subjected to. She mentioned that he

had been shot at in the jungle. 1 told my daughter that both she and

Jim Jones knew that T would not harrass them, that I had supported
her membership in the Church and that I would go to the Guyanese Em-

bassy in Washington and ask for clearance to travel to Guyana. After

a pause, Maria told me that it was the policy of the Church not to pers

mit visitors to the project. This seemed extremely strange to me since

I had letters from my daughter indicating that there were dally yisitors

to the project. (S5ee attached copy.] I then offered to meet Maria i

GeoTgetown. She told me she would not be in Guyana but would be in

Venezuela during the time of my intended wisit. I supggested meetini

her in Venezuela but she said she could not see me there since she woulé

only be in that country several days and wanted to spend that time with

her fiance. Her fiance's e reportedly was Larry who was the medical

anothel

officer for the agricultural preject. I have since learned that

arent Sherwin Harris has been told that his daughter in Guyana ig mar
£

ried to the same doctor. [ interpret this ploy as a rather crude at-

tempt to assure parents that their children in the Church are well

married or about to be married to fine professional people. The

phone call was extremely strange and caused me preat anxiety 'becaus

PEOPLE’S TEMPLE—~_PEOPLE’S TOMB

4id mot sound like my daughter was free to speak for herself and cer-
tainly her choice of words did not appear natural. The long pauses

in the conversation made me suspect she was being coached. When I

finally told her that I was upset and frightened and that I would use

wery legal and diplomatic means to see her she replied that she would

Wt see me even if I did come to Guyana.

mé fpllowing day I sent a telegram to Rev. Jim Jones telling him of

fif copcern and asking for his reply. (Copy attached.) No reply was

gfer forthcoming.

Siortly afterwards I left for Washington D.C. where I contacted John

Witheny, Military Advisor to Vice President Mondale, and Frank Tuminia

9§ the Guyancse Desk of the State Department. I told them of my con-

Bérn and solicited their help. I also went to the Guyanese Embassy
Bl was assured that 1 could travel to Guyana. When I arrived in
ifbrgetown 1 first went 1o the United States Embassy and made contact

With Mr. Richard McCoy. He showed me a handwritten transcript that was

#8livered to the Embassy by People's Temple Church member Paula Adams.
in

e message claimed to be from my daughter and had been received

g’“l’getnwu via radio phone. It stated that Maria was happy, she was
fenty- four years old, engaged to be married and kad had a traumatic
McCoy stated that

Bhildhood and did not wish to see her father. Mr.

Bula Adams volunteered background information on me saying that T
Fas 4 child molester and had sexually abused my daughter and offered
that 5= a reason that Maria did not want to see me. After an unsucces-

8yl attempt to make contact with my daughter in the interior 1 returned
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—ihe

to Washington D.C. and telated my concern to the State Department
1T,

Senator Hubert Humphrey's office, Senator Cranston's office, Congress
b s IETESSs

man Phillip Burton's office, Congressman Lawson's office, the Vice
5 o i £ y
President's office, and the International Human Rights Commission's

affice.

After my return te California I contacted and persenally interviewed
as many former members of People's Temple Church as would speak th
me. To my dismay I learned that my daughter had been received into
the innermost governing body of People's Temple Church and held a pes:
ition of influence and intimate knowledge of the workings of the move-
ment. I further learned from former members that she was responsible
for large amounts of money and while din San Francisco would on occasion
have upwards of $200,000.00 in cash and checks in her room at the Tem-
ple. 1 ascertained from people who had firsthand knowledge that Maria
had been required to sign an undated suicide nete that could be used
to explain her disappearance should she ever attempt to leave the Churck
In addition to this she had signed statements incriminating herself

and her family of various imagined bizarre misdeeds. I was further
told by a former member of the Church that she and Maria had been Te-
quired to sign statements that the Childrcn's. Residential Treatm
Center that I direct was invelved in a gigantic welfare fraud, that it
was staffed by child molesters and homesexuals, that I myself was a
child molester, and had sexually abused one of the girls in the progral
and that the children in our care were being abused. I was also told
that my daughter's life could be in jeopardy if People's Temple Church

thought that she was about to defect. In view of the threatening
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1 have received, this appeared to be definite pos-

W calls that

4ty. After speaking with Mr. Robert Chilamidos an investigator

i
iqrfﬁie Srate of California, with Mr. James Hubert investigator for

fflnited States Treasury Department, and Mrs. Jan Tespool #n investi-

ator. for the Mendocino County Sheriff's Department T lived in constant

fiety for my daughter's safety. 1 was convinced that People's Temple

fiirch was using their humanitarian efforts and social welfare activi-

fie to cover for their ultimate goal which is the establishment of

bildl socialism (facism?) with Jim Jones as their leader and that they

bild stop at nothing including calumny, character assassination, black-

§il, threats of violence and even murder to achieve their goal. In

-ﬁ'ly November 1 made another trip to Washington D.C. where I convinced

[iancse Ambassador Lawrence Mann to arrange a meeting between my daugh-

8 and me. He went to Georgetown and while there called me and told

Ethat Rev. Jores had agreed to the meeting and assured him that he

Wited the members of his Church to have the closest possible relations

i8R their families. ‘I was told to come tO Georgetown which 1 did the

llowing day. Ambassador Mann met me at my hotel in Georgetown, told

b that Maria would be in the following day and that he had arranged

0%ake Maria, Mr. McCoy from the United States Embassy and me to dinner

Bhis puests. After the dianer he and Mr. McCoy would depart and

[ and 1 could have the opportunity to speak privately. Maria did

B arrive as planned and the Ambassador phoned me explaining that the
llircl, was having difficulties getting her to Georgetown from the inter-

s,

firday of that week the

The following day I was given the same story. And finally by

Ambassador called and told me that Maria would
At

®arriving at 4:00 p.m. 6:00 p.m. that day the Ambassador again
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called, appeared somewhat irritated and said he had been informed by
the Church's offices in Geergetown that Maria had arrived but was nat
feeling well and could not go to dinner. I immediately called the

Church offices and asked to speak with my daughter. I was told to
wait and after & considerable delay was told that Maria was not there
and had gone out to dinmer. I asked that she call me at my hotel when
she returned and was assured that she would. I did not receive a teles
phone call on Saturday night. However, at 7:15 Sunday morning 1 was
informed by a representative of People's Temple Church that Maria
would meet with me in 45 minutes. Ambassador Mann and Mr. McCoy were
at the meeting when Maria arrived with four other persons, two men --
one who identified himself as an attorney representing the Church -- 21
two women. Maria appeared agitated, could not leok me in the eye, and
did not return my embrace which appeared unusuzl and even ominous to
me. She looked as if she had not slept well or had been de;;ri\-ed of
sleep over a long period of time and her gemeral attitude was one of
suspicion, hositility and parancia. She accused me of causing trouble
for the Guyanese povernment and stated that because of my efforts Guyal
had been black listed by the International Human Rights Commission. 5h
stated further that the Church had bcnﬁ informed by the United States
government that I was a member of a conspiracy against the Church and
was associated with a Tight wing congressman who intended to destroy
the Church. She accused me of lying to her about my health. When I
pointed to Paula Adams, one of the women who accompanied her to the
meeting, and asked if she knew that this woman had gone to Mr. McCoy
and told him that I had abused my daughter sexually, Maria refused to

discuss the subject. When I told her that I had information that she

PEOPLE’'S TEMPI JE—PEOPLE'S TOMB

;as'igﬂed an undated suicide note, she demanded to know the source

lf-.ﬂ'l" information. 1 told her that was not the important issue and

H{] that she could alleviate my anxiety by simply telling me it was

ot truc. She replied that cince 1 would not reveal the source of

not discuss that subject, In the course

L Snformation she would

if the conversation with Maria [ told her that before leaving for

ipana 1 had spoken with Grace Stoen who wanted me to convey her love

mdi' goncern to her son John. Maria told me that Grace was an unfit

Wther and she had abused her child and that Maria was naw the mother

Wfohn. She also told me in a tone that T did not helieve possible

ffon my daughter that 1f Grace made any attempt to get her child back

E._kould be sorry. My daughter's affect and the manner in which she

ke convey

@S extremely

ed to me the tone of & serious threat. The entire meeting

painful for me and depressing. I managed to tell my

‘i_l’-l‘.-:hter that if she ever wanted to Teturn home & ticket would be wait-

g for her at the Embassy. when 1 told her of my pelief in God and

Jae somehow things would work out, she and another woman from the

Uireh were quick to point out to me that ‘they do not believe in God.

Ifter 1he meeting I went to the airpert to catch a flight to New York

McCoy. In our

fty. At the airport I received a message to call Mr.

l“ephune conversation he told me that both he and Ambassador Mann

¥e dicturbed by the meeting and believed that something strange was

hhpening since he could see no reason why the Church should take that

Wit udc toward me. He told me that he would write to me, but to this

lite 1 have received mo communication from him. After arriving in New

8Tk City 1 proceeded to Washington D.C. where I spent numeTous days
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e

€ i o n Je i
contacting as many people in the government as I thought would help

me. Most were sympathetic but were gquick to point out that since my

daughter is 24 years of age and since it appears that che is in Guvana
Vana

voluntarily there is little they could do to help me, apres rosyy 8
.

e et

=
T
F
3
.

Sapaant

Since November I have received no communication from Maria a have
not attempted to make contgct with her since I believe this might be
interpreted either as an attempt on my part to get her out of the
Church or as a sipgn that Maria is waivering. and is about to defect

and might place her life in jeopardy.
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Cimothy Qliver Droen

March 16, 1978

Ross E. Case
ton Drive
California 95482

Re: Trinidad Insurance companiles
Dear Ross:

Thank you for sending me the photocopies of the yellow
pages of the Trinidad & Tobago telephone company per-
taining to insurance companies.

I have reviewed each company but am unable to remember
which particular one is handling the Jonestown account.

I hope you are well and happy. Please give my warm
regards to my friends in Ukiah. I will come up for one
of your Thursday evening meetings as soon as my schedule
allows. Right now I am extremely busy fighting to get
back my son. 1 will let you know when 1 can come.

Kindest personal regards.
Sincerely,

-

Timothy Oliver Stoen
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MENDOCINO COUNTY
OPFICIAL RECORDS

16976

RECORDED AT REQUEST 0F
Recording requested by: 1 .

People's Temple of the Disciplea
of Christ, & Non-profit Corporation 2 ?ﬁ; nz 46
h
When recorded mail to: B § 1 ssfH'68
Financial Secretary
People's Temple of the Disciples EN,
of Christ Mﬁéf £y

P. 0. Box 214 L
Redwood Valley, California 95470 e el i

ADS
LTI e

LN Sy

Mall tax statements to the Affix IRS §
return addresg above

QUITCLAIM DEED

THOMAS DAVID KICE and WANDA FAYE KICE, husband and wife, do
remise, release and quitclaim to Peopla's Temple of the Disciples of
Christ, & non-profit corporation, their right, tirle and interest in
the property in the County of Mendocino, State of California,
described as:

BEGINNING at the Northwest corner of that parcel of land conveyed to
C.A. Jenkins et ux, by deed recorded May 17, 1954 in Book 370 of
Official Records, page 454, Mendocino County Recordas, said Northwest
corner being on the Easterly line of the County Road in the Northeast
quarter of the Southeast quarter of Section 7, Township 17 North, Range
12 West, Mount Diable Meridian; thence from said peint of beginning
Northerly along the Easterly line of sald County Road & distance of 208
feet to the Southerly line of that parcel of land conveyed to Frank M.
Dunnebeck and wife by deed recorded January 16, 1958 in Book 476 of
Official Records, at page 332, Mendocino County Records; thence Easterly
along sald Southerly line a distance of 1050 feet to an angle point in
said Southerly line; thence South along said Scutherly liné a distsnce
of 208 feet, more or less, to the North line of C.A.Jenkins as first
above mentioned; thence Westerly along the North line of said C.a.Jenkins,
8 distance of 1050 feet, more or less to the polnt of beginning. Being
a portion of the Northeast guarter of the Southeast quarter of Section

7 and of Lot 12 of Section 3, Township 17 Neorth, Range 12 West, Mount
Diablo Meridian, according to the oft’gcial plat of the survey of said
land on file in the Bureau of Land Management,approved June 17,1879.

TOGETHER with all the right of the grantors as set forth in that Grant
of Eagsement executed by Frank S. Dunnebeck, et al on the 21st day of
November, 1966,recorded on the 23rd day of November, 1966, in Liber
729ar page 200 Official Records of Mandocine County, California, and
TOCETHER with an easement for the purpose of ingress and egress over the
presently existing road on the lands of Grantors as described in that
certain Deed of Trust executed by Grantors and recorded in Vol.459,
Official Records, at page 93, Mendocino County Records.

Dated: May 4, 1968, : i

Dated: May £, 1968.
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MENDOCIND COUNTY
WFFICIAL RECORDS

"STATE OF CALIFORNIA )

a4,
COUNTY OF MENDOCINO
On May é » 1968, before me, the undersigned
Notary Public, personally appeared Thomas David Kice and
Wanda Faye Kice, known to me to be the persons whose names

are subscribed to this instrument and acknowledged that

Z’g’m@' //Zf%r

0. Stoen
Hotary Publ for the State of Californis

Mmﬁ‘f"“r

0. STOEN |
TMOTHY C carons

they executed ic.
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PEOPLE’S TEMPLE—PEOFPLE'S TOMB

COMMENTS ABOUT JONESTOWN, Gl ANA FROM ON-SITE VISITS

4, Chief Medical gfficer of the Ministry of Health, Guyana: "Impressive.

9, Charge p'Affaires, new assistant to U.H. Ambassador Andrew Young: "1
am impressed.”

4, Officer in Charge of Guyana, Jamaica, and Trinidad & Tobago, U.S.
Tepartment of State: "impressive work."

Minister of Forelpn Affaizs, Guyana: "Peace and love in action.”
5. Minister of Education, Guyana: ''Very impressive.”
§, Regional Development Officer; North West Region, Guyanas "Yery progressive.”

]li‘ Chief Dfficial ip the Ministry of Education, Guyana: "Wery much impressed
With everything, thaoks."

"B, Head Dental Instructor, University of Guyana: 'Excel lent community project.”

89, Rritish High Commizdoner ln Guyana: "4 most impressive start and I wish
you all success.”

0. Chancellor of the University of Guyana: "Impressive.’

11. Minister of Agriculture, Guyana: "Yery interesting, keep it up."
12. Minister of Works and Transportation, Guyana: "Yery impressed with
progress since 1 visited one year ago.”

13. Permanent Secretary of Ministry of Works and Transportation: A wonderful
experience, 4 model village community te be emulated.”

14. Assistant Director General of National Service of Guyana: "Excailent."

35 United States Consulate in Guysna: "y yery pleasant day in a very pleasant
atmosphere.’

16. & writer from one of the largest news agencies in the world: "It's very.

very impressive. Thank you for thnis opportunity and best wishes."

17. Regicnal Minister, North West Regicon, Guyana: "Keep up the good work."
18, Thirty-five teachers from the McKenzie District: "Fantastic, beyond
one's imagination, miraculous, beautiful, a true example of socialist living."
"Amazing, lmpressive." >

19, Head and one of the original founders of the Marco Medical Net: "Incred-
ihle, fantastic.”
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P.0. Box 15023
San Francisco, CA 94115

The "Concermne 25" is e1a a
d Relatives" is an elaborate hoax. The Charges about 5 i i i b i
time we have been trying to explain that what the public is
our organization's commumity are all wiei i i
o ¥ are L wicious lies and part of a
seeing is a deliberate fromt for a poli tically-motivated conspiracy
right-wing McCarthy-1like attack on Rev. Jim Jones and our i
: to destroy the organization and Rev. Jones. They have attempted
conpgregation We are o 4 L ey
gregation. We are here to expose what Tim Stoen, the main =
to bribe and coerce people and to dencunce Rev. Jones; they have
organizer and ring i s * i i
g, ringleader of these efforts, is really up to. He il
\ i attempted te cut off senior members' old age pensions and Social
has been in contact with an aerial rec : i :
: th i rzconnalseance outfit and is
: Security; to ransack shipments of vital supplies; and now plan to
secretly plotting with others in the
. #ith others din the proup to actually land
send in mercenmaries. These are just a few highlights of what is
mercendaries on the project We hawve fini i
I - 23 ve definite evidence in hand and
nce 1in « 1 na
: behind the smokescreen of lies and pilous pronouncements of this
are investigating this further.
conspitacy led by Mr. Stoen.

Another member of thls group who ls supposedly so "concerned” about Recent visitors to the project have called it a utopia. The statement

g

Human tights” actually told us only vesterday that Tin Stes Tk of a doctur who heads a medical network of nearly a thousand doctors
¥ ¥y that Tim Stoen could Y

L thi o s E ¥ 5 " 3 1
drop things on the project and he might even be planning to do it" was: "1t's mind-boggling to ses how you have rved out of the

¢ that looks just like one 1o the U.S, and with all

jungle a commun

The groups that is asdembled hers is staging this pseudo-event
the public utilities". When the Foreign Minister of Guyana visited

cover up these outrageous plans to wiolate laws and e
project he called it a stunning example of cooperation and love.

15t innocent pecple. The high-sounding complaints about
The Chalrman of the Guyana Livestock Corperation, a veterinarian wha

o e O i £
tights violations sre a subterfuge. If anyone is violating

has traveled and studied in many countries, said: "The community
t and his® lunatie
is the purest form of cooperative liwving I have ever seen'’. Dr.

Concer:
De Costa, a dentist from India, who founded = dental school which he

yutside source
: heads in Guyana, said the health care is fantastic. As an example,
he said he found only two cavities after examining eighty children.
He sald that is unheard of.

As many as 30 visitors, gueste from Guyana and from around the world,
visit the community everyday. All are impressed, he comment of one
government Minister sums up Itha feelings of many: '"A model wvillage

community to be emulated the world over".
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DON'T MISS
THESE LOGOS
BESTSELLERS ON CULTS

[ A506-6 ANGELS OF LIGHT-Freeman ....Pocket $1.95
[11102-4 CHALLENGING COUNTERFEIT
Pocket $1.95
] P276-6 CHILD OF SATAN, CHILD OF GOD
-Atkins Pocket $1.95
00 P096-8 SATAN-SELLER-Warnke Pocket $1.95
01 P195-8 THEY FOLLOWED THE PIPER
-Huliquist ' Trade Paper $2.95
O P313-7 TWO BE ONE-Steed Trade Paper $2.95

OTHER BESTSELLERS YOU'LL WANT TO READ

{1 Ho41-4 KINGDOM OF DARKNESS
Hardcover $3.95
0O L101-6 RUN BABY RUN-Cruz Pocket $1.95
[ A515-7 SPIRITUAL WARFARE
Pocket $1.25
0] P244-4 SUPERNATURAL SUPERPOWERS
-Dearing Trade Paper $2.95

Buy these at your local bookstore or use this
coupon:

L.L.F. BOOKS, Box 292, Watchung, N.J. 07061

Please send me the books | have check above. | am enclosing
$ . (Please add 45¢ to cover postage and handling.)
Send check or money order—no cash or C.0.D’’s please.

Mr./Mrs./Miss

Address_.

City i _ State/Zip

Please allow four weeks for delivery. Prices subject 1o change.






